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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Statements
expressing expectations regarding our future and projections relating to products, sales, revenues, and earnings are typical of
such statements and are made under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements about our plans, objectives, representations, and contentions and are not historical
facts and typically are identified by use of terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and similar words, although some forward-looking statements are
expressed differently.

All forward-looking statements are subject to the risks and uncertainties inherent in predicting the future. You should be aware
that although the forward-looking statements included herein represent management’s current judgment and expectations, our
actual results may differ materially from those projected, stated, or implied in these forward-looking statements as a result of
many factors including, but not limited to, (1) our business, financial condition and results of operations could continue to be
adversely affected by an ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and related global economic conditions; (2) our future financial
performance depends upon increased consumer acceptance, growth of sales of our products, and operational execution of our
strategic initiatives; (3) our business and our results of operations could be materially adversely affected as a result of general
and economic conditions; (4) we face intense competition in the worldwide gemstone and jewelry industry; (5) a failure of our
information technology infrastructure or a failure to protect confidential information of our customers and our network against
security breaches could adversely impact our business and operations; (6) we are subject to certain risks due to our international
operations, distribution channels and vendors; (7) our business and our results of operations could be materially adversely
affected as a result of our inability to fulfill orders on a timely basis; (8) we are currently dependent on a limited number of
distributor and retail partners in our Traditional segment for the sale of our products; (9) we may experience quality control
challenges from time to time that can result in lost revenue and harm to our brands and reputation; (10) seasonality of our
business may adversely affect our net sales and operating income; (11) our operations could be disrupted by natural disasters;
(12) sales of moissanite and lab grown diamond jewelry could be dependent upon the pricing of precious metals, which is beyond
our control; (13) our current customers may potentially perceive us as a competitor in the finished jewelry business; (14) we
depend  on an exclusive supply agreement, or the Supply Agreement, with Cree, Inc., or Cree, for substantially all of our silicon
carbide, or SiC, crystals, the raw materials we use to produce moissanite jewels; if our supply of high-quality SiC crystals is
interrupted, our business may be materially harmed; (15) if the e-commerce opportunity changes dramatically or if e-commerce
technology or providers change their models, our results of operations may be adversely affected; (16) governmental regulation
and oversight might adversely impact our operations; (17) the execution of our business plans could significantly impact our
liquidity; (18) the financial difficulties or insolvency of one or more of our major customers or their lack of willingness and
ability to market our products could adversely affect results; (19) negative or inaccurate information on social media could
adversely impact our brand and reputation; (20) we rely on assumptions, estimates, and data to calculate certain of our key
metrics and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business; (21) we
may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm the value of our products and brands and
adversely affect our business; (22) if we fail to evaluate, implement, and integrate strategic acquisition or disposition
opportunities successfully, our business may suffer; (23) our loan, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program, or the PPP
Loan, under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, as administered by the U.S. Small
Business Administration, or the SBA, was forgiven in full and may be subject to review for compliance with applicable SBA
requirements for six years from the date the loan was forgiven; (24) some anti-takeover provisions of our charter documents may
delay or prevent a takeover of our company; and (25) our failure to maintain compliance with The Nasdaq Stock Market’s
continued listing requirements could result in the delisting of our common stock, in addition to the other risks and uncertainties
described in more detail in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date they are made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise such statements to reflect new
circumstances or unanticipated events as they occur except as required by the federal securities laws, and you are urged to
review and consider disclosures that we make in the reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
that discuss other factors relevant to our business.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Our Mission

At Charles & Colvard, Ltd., our mission is to redefine the definition of real within the jewelry industry and for consumers
everywhere. We believe fine jewelry can be accessible, beautiful, and conscientious.

About Charles & Colvard

Charles & Colvard, Ltd., a North Carolina corporation founded in 1995 (which may be referred to as Charles & Colvard, we, us,
or our), is a globally recognized fine jewelry company specializing in lab created gemstones. We manufacture, market, and
distribute Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® (which we refer to as moissanite or moissanite jewels) and in September
2020, we announced our expansion into the lab grown diamond market with the launch of Caydia®, an exclusive brand of
premium lab grown diamonds. We offer gemstones and finished jewelry featuring our proprietary moissanite jewels and premium
lab grown diamonds for sale in the worldwide fine jewelry market. Charles & Colvard is the original source of created
moissanite, and in 2015, we debuted Forever One™, our premium moissanite gemstone brand. As an e-commerce and multi-
channel destination for fine jewelry featuring lab grown gemstones, we believe that the addition of lab grown diamonds is a
natural progression for the Charles & Colvard brand.

One of our unique differentiators, moissanite – The World’s Most Brilliant Gem® – is core to our ambition to create a movement
around environmentally and socially responsible fine jewelry. We believe that we are leading the way in delivering the premium
moissanite brand through technological advances in gemstone manufacturing, cutting, polishing, and setting. By coupling what
we believe to be unprecedented moissanite jewels with responsibly sourced precious metals, we are delivering a uniquely
positioned product line for the conscientious consumer. Our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are hand selected by our Gemological
Institute of America, or GIA, certified gemologists to meet Charles & Colvard’s uncompromising standards and validated by
independent third-party experts. Our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are available currently in E, F, and G color grades (based on
the GIA’s color grading scale) with a minimum clarity in accordance with the GIA’s VS1 clarity classification along with
excellent polish and symmetry. All of our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are set with mostly recycled precious metals.

Our strategy is to build a globally revered brand of lab created gemstones and finished jewelry that appeal to a wide consumer
audience. We believe this strategy leverages our advantages of being the original and leading worldwide source of Charles &
Colvard Created Moissanite® and offering a curated assortment of jewelry featuring Caydia® lab grown diamonds, which
together we believe offers an ideal combination of quality and value. We also believe a direct relationship with consumers is
important to this strategy, which entails delivering tailored educational content, engaging in dialogue with our audience, and
positioning our brand to meet the demands of today’s discerning consumer.

We believe our expanding application of an omni-channel sales strategy across the jewelry trade and to the end consumer with
accessible lab created gemstones and value branded finished jewelry featuring Charles & Colvard moissanite and lab grown
diamonds positions our goods at the many touchpoints where consumers are when they are making their buying decisions –
thereby creating greater exposure for our brand and increasing consumer demand.

We sell loose moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry set with these gems through two operating segments:
our Online Channels segment, which encompasses our digital properties components, comprised of our charlesandcolvard.com
and moissaniteoutlet.com websites, e-commerce outlets, including marketplaces, drop-ship customers, and other pure-play,
exclusively e-commerce customers; and our Traditional segment, which consists of domestic and international distributors and
retail customers.

We report segment information based on the “management” approach. This segment reporting approach designates the internal
reporting used by management for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the source of our operating and
reportable segments. For more information about our operating segments, see Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our Market Opportunity

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have witnessed a shift in e-commerce shopping, and we have seen this change in
consumer behavior continue through June 2021. According to an Adobe Digital Economy Index Report, from Adobe Analytics,
as of the quarter ended March 31, 2021, global e-commerce and online retail spending in the U.S. have surged over the past year,
with year-over-year growth of 39% and 49%, respectively. We believe that there is evidence to suggest that many brick-and-
mortar retail stores have migrated sales to online platforms this past year. In their same Adobe Digital Economy Index Report, as
of March 31, 2021, Adobe Analytics is projecting that global e-commerce sales are on pace to hit $4.2 trillion for calendar year-
end 2021.

By 2025, the value of the worldwide fashion jewelry market is expected to drive approximately $300 billion in worldwide sales
according to a November 2020 report from Statista, a global provider of retail market and consumer driven data. We continue to
believe that the convergence of the online jewelry consumer, coupled with the emergence of lab-created gemstones, is a solution
for the ethically minded consumer that continues to present what we believe is a sizeable opportunity for the Charles & Colvard
brand.

Our Strategic Outlook

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to present business challenges in 2021 and we expect those challenges to continue into our
fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, or Fiscal 2022. The full extent of and the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
operational and financial performance remains uncertain and continues to depend on many factors outside of our control,
including, without limitation: the timing, extent, trajectory and duration of the pandemic; the development and availability of
effective treatments and the long-term impacts of the global vaccine rollout; the imposition of protective public safety measures;
and the impact of the pandemic on the global economy and demand for consumer products. Due to the potentially significant
impact on our operations as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, including governmental responses to prevent further outbreak of
the virus, coupled with the severity of its evolving variants, current period results are not necessarily indicative of expected
performance for our full Fiscal 2022. We anticipate that the COVID-19 pandemic could continue to have an adverse impact on
our business, results of operations, and financial condition during Fiscal 2022.

Additional risks to the Company related to the COVID-19 pandemic are included in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” A detailed
description of the actions we have taken, and are taking, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic is included in Part II, Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Our strategic focus for Fiscal 2022 is centered on the continued expansion of Charles & Colvard’s brand on a global scale and to
increase the size of our business through top-line growth. As lab-created gemstones are being embraced by emerging generations,
we believe our ability to establish moissanite and the Charles & Colvard brand directly with consumers is key to our future
success and ability to fuel our growth. We will execute on our key strategies with a continued commitment to spending
judiciously and generating sustainable earnings improvement.

Our key strategic goals for Fiscal 2022 are as follows:

• Expansion of Brand Presence. We plan to continue focusing on conversion-based advertising campaigns by way of capitalizing on our existing
digital platform and transactional website, charlesandcolvard.com. We believe that we also have the ability to utilize new technological
functionality to engage our social media audience on Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube, among others, by showcasing our products in real time
through available existing online video streaming and live stream broadcasting platforms. In furtherance of our brand presence, we expect to
continue our quest to reach all customers where they shop. To accomplish this, we plan to explore opportunities to develop retail showrooms in
order to display and showcase the styles in our exclusive Signature Collection, which will allow those consumers – who want to see, touch, and
feel our jewelry in person – an opportunity to engage with our products. We believe these initiatives are the natural progression of our
omnichannel marketing strategy and that these programs will continue to expand our brand presence, increase customer engagement, expand our
product offerings, and bolster our top-line growth. We believe that the expansion of our brand presence is a key factor in achieving our overall
success in Fiscal 2022.
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• Enhanced Customer Engagement. We plan to further develop and expand our existing content production capabilities by building a broadcast
studio in our Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, headquarters. We expect a new studio will provide the setting for live streaming capability
on our website as well as other social media broadcast channels. We believe a key element of accomplishing this goal during Fiscal 2022 is our
arrangement with and the implementation of Bambuser, a leading live streaming global platform with innovative hosting and broadcasting
capabilities. This innovative technology will allow us to host live shows and broadcast events for special initiatives and introducing new product
collections. We’re excited to join Bambuser’s list of brands such as LVMH, a leading global luxury products group that includes its Louis
Vuitton®, Moët & Chandon©, and Hennessy® family of brands. In addition, Bambuser’s list of participating associates also includes such well-
known consumer brands as Clarins®, Samsung©, and Adidas®. We expect this relationship to add a new sales channel opportunity for our direct-
to-consumer business and encourage personal interaction with our online customer base, while also providing a platform to explore and engage
celebrity and social media influencers. 

• Product Development. We intend to explore product development opportunities during Fiscal 2022 to bring forward new product offerings that
align with our exclusive brand and core values, just as we did in our fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, or Fiscal 2021, with Caydia®, our premium
brand of lab grown diamonds. We plan to develop and move forward with new proprietary product offerings, styles, and collections as well as an
increased breadth of product categories to further meet the needs of existing and new customers. We expect to also continue focusing on the use of
recycled metals and employing sustainable practices in order to serve today’s environmentally aware and conscientious consumer.

• Disciplined Growth. We remain aware of the ongoing challenges and economic uncertainties facing the U.S. and global economies as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic. However, we intend to continue developing and expanding our technological capabilities to make informed data-driven
decisions across all areas of our business and marketing platforms. Consistent with the planned expansion of the Charles & Colvard brand, we also
intend to continue exploring strategic alliance relationships with businesses in the retail and fine jewelry industry where we believe that we would
be able to capitalize on existing market synergies and likeminded product brands to help us achieve desired market growth. In the meantime, we
plan to continue building an organic growth strategy through a dedication to our existing core product market and providing ongoing exemplary
customer service. We will continue to engage with our shareholder base to help create value for our shareholders. To accomplish our long-term
strategy for growth, we intend to continue focusing on disciplined growth opportunities that are both complementary and accretive in pursuit of
our plans for long-term shareholder value and growth.

Distributing to the Online Channels Segment

Driven by continuously updated knowledge of our audience, through e-commerce and web analytics as well as research through
social media and customer service channels, we proactively engage our consumers through a multi-channel digital marketing
strategy. Our goal is to continue growing our direct relationship with the consumer, which we believe will drive interest across all
of our selling channels.

Our approach for marketing directly to the consumer in our Online Channels segment includes the following types of
communication channels: (i) organic social media; (ii) paid advertising (including, but not limited to, search engine marketing,
display ads, video ads, and social media advertising); (iii) email; (iv) public relations; (v) product and style influencers; (vi)
digital content creators; and (vii) our own website. In addition, our marketing approach comprises the following types of content
types: (i) photography; (ii) videos; (iii) interactive immersive experiences (including but not limited to, online personal concierge
shopping assistance and streaming live broadcast events and video shopping opportunities); and (iv) user-generated content.

Equally as important to us as marketing to our direct consumer audience is encouraging our customers to move through the
process of engaging with our brand – and eventually converting them into a lifetime Charles & Colvard customer. Throughout
our marketing tactics, we employ calls to action that drive the consumer to the many virtual and actual locations where they can
view our products, initiate, and complete their purchases. We utilize a centralized distribution and fulfillment facility in Research
Triangle Park, North Carolina, to fulfill Online Channels segment orders.
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Following are our principal online transactional channels:

• charlesandcolvard.com. We believe that we continue to enhance our primary transactional website to optimize the platform for the online mobile
consumer – whether shopping on a computer at home or a mobile device – and to improve our customers’ experiences. Programs such as free
shipping, a 60-day returns policy, and an enhanced and personalized shopping experience have been and will continue to be improved and rolled
out over time. With data collected through web analytics, and through user surveys that reveal how consumers use the site, we are in a continual
state of optimizing the buying experience – making it easier for shoppers to browse, sort, and compare. Where possible, we utilize these data to
inform the selection of new, innovative technologies to further enhance our users’ experience, including technologies provided by such partners as
Amazon Pay, Affirm, Inc., and PayPal Holdings, Inc., or PayPal, for financing purchases, Braintree, a service of PayPal, for ease of transfer, and
Flow Commerce, Inc., or Flow, which is a company that specializes in facilitating cross-border global trade and e-commerce services. Our goal is
to remain continually focused on improving our customers’ experience.

• moissaniteoutlet.com. On March 16, 2021, we launched our secondary direct-to-consumer website, moissaniteoutlet.com, which is a product
disposition channel that we believe complements our global positioning and dominance in the moissanite gemstone market. Our website,
moissaniteoutlet.com, is an e-commerce shopping destination that caters to the opportunistic and bargain-seeking consumer base for our
moissanite products. We believe this new online property allows us to monetize substantially all our raw material and finished goods inventory,
thus minimizing product shrinkage and waste. As a unique online shopping destination with a very different product offering strategy, we believe
moissaniteoutlet.com rounds out our product offerings with quality discounted jewelry products allowing us to serve a broader range of
demographics and consumers. Our product assortment on moissaniteoutlet.com includes moissanite rings, earrings, pendants, and bracelets, as
well as jewelry set with colored moissanite, and other lab created colored gemstones. From time to time, we plan to continue featuring daily
pricing deals and flash product sales on moissaniteoutlet.com to encourage consumers to take advantage of favorable pricing opportunities.

• Cross-Border Trade. Through the ongoing application of cross-border trade, or CBT, technology, such as building our relationship with Flow, we
believe CBT continues being a significant opportunity in Fiscal 2022 and beyond. We believe that Flow’s technological platform helps such global
enterprises create a positive and localized shopping experience for their international customers while helping to provide a complete and accurate
record of CBT transactions for the enterprise.

• Marketplaces. We continue seeing a large majority of buyers start their online shopping experience utilizing a worldwide web search. In fact,
according to jumpshot®, a global content management and digital intelligence firm that tracks marketplace data, more than 50% of those web
searches continue to originate on Amazon. That number continues skewing even higher within the Millennial demographic in that Amazon is the
web search brand Millennials continue to identify as most relevant based on a finding by the Pew Research Center, a nonpartisan fact-based think
tank. Therefore, we have made a point to maintain a prominent presence on Amazon, achieving Seller-Fulfilled Prime status, which means we
have the option of fulfilling orders with the same benefits of Amazon Prime. This continues to enable us to be positioned more prominently in
Amazon’s search platform and to take advantage of their negotiated shipping rates and service levels that, in turn, lowers our overall shipping
costs. This status is available by Amazon to only those sellers who have a history of fulfilling orders quickly and maintaining appropriate levels of
stock. Our marketplace relationship with Amazon includes, in addition to domestic websites, international locations, including websites in the
U.K., Europe, Australia, and Japan. We also continue to have a market presence on eBay and a multitude of other specialty marketplaces, allowing
us to meet our customers when and where they want to buy. As the world and its economy is beginning to recover from the pandemic, our goal
remains to continue optimizing our presence on these marketplaces and to continue expanding into new untapped regions and platforms where we
have identified cost-effective opportunities.

• Pure-Play E-tailers. FTI Consulting, a global business advisory firm, continues to project that at least 25% of total retail sales will become e-
commerce centric by 2030. As consumers continue maintaining an online shopping presence and become more digitally savvy, new businesses
have gained traction by tailoring their product, services, and experiences to specific consumer preferences. We believe that these pure-play e-
tailers offer unique opportunities for Charles & Colvard to feature our gemstones and connect with their loyal audiences.
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• Drop Ship Retail. In an effort to expand their product offerings and assortments, many retailers utilize direct fulfillment from their vendors to their
consumers, or drop-ship, as it enables them to offer a more robust assortment online without having to physically take ownership of the goods in
their warehouse. These retailers often seek socially and environmentally responsible brands to serve the demand for conscientious product
selection from their audiences. Since we began direct-to-consumer drop-shipping products in 2013, we have refined our digital information
technology and operations capabilities to support these partnering arrangements in multiple ways, including fully integrated electronic data
interchange, or EDI, solutions for inventory management, order processing, and invoicing. Operationally, we continue maintaining in-stock rates
and leveraging our centralized distribution and fulfillment facility to meet partner service-level agreements, or SLAs, for shipments and returns.
We plan to continue seeking new and strategic alliance relationships as well as optimizing existing arrangements throughout Fiscal 2022 and
beyond.

Distributing to the Traditional Segment

The Traditional segment is our legacy segment – represented by such outlets as manufacturers, distributors, and brick-and-mortar
retailers. Going forward, these market channels remain important avenues for Charles & Colvard to drive product to market and
be present in the many places the consumer takes his or her shopping journey.

Our approach for marketing to customers and strategic partners within our Traditional segment includes the following types of
communication channels: (i) trade advertising; (ii) industry associations; (iii) trade shows; and (iv) cooperative advertising.

We utilize a centralized distribution and fulfillment facility in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, to fill bulk orders to
manufacturer, distributor, and retail customers.

• Retail. In order to create awareness and exposure for our gemstones, jewelry, and brands, we sell loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry
featuring moissanite at wholesale prices to nationally recognized and emerging retail customers through a broad range of channels including
jewelry chains and department stores. Wholesale orders are received by way of purchase orders and fulfilled from our centralized fulfillment
center. In many cases, we have placed loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry inventory in stores on a consignment basis. Under this
consignment model, in accordance with our revenue recognition accounting policy, we recognize the revenue for these transactions after the retail
partner has sold an item to a consumer or other contractual conditions are met. In other cases, a retailer purchases the goods, or a portion of the
goods, under what we call an asset purchase model. Under our asset model, we recognize the sale and related revenue upon transfer of the goods
to the retailer. Due to the maturity of certain retail relationships, we have migrated select brick-and mortar partners to a blended asset and
consignment model account structure, which affords us more favorable customer payment terms that result in more favorable cash flow. We will
continue to evolve our retail channel strategy as we optimize our methods and partnering arrangements.

• Domestic Manufacturers and Distributors. In order to service the vast number of independent jewelers, jewelry stores, and smaller jewelry chains,
we sell our loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry to domestic wholesale distributors and finished jewelry manufacturers at distributor
prices, that in turn resell the loose jewels or finished jewelry at a markup to independent jewelers and jewelry stores – whether brick-and-mortar,
online, or both. In limited circumstances, we have placed loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry inventory with select domestic distributors
on a consignment basis. We continue to evaluate our channel strategy for domestic distributors, which may result in a change to our historical
domestic distributor methods and partners.

• International Manufacturers and Distributors. In order to create global awareness and exposure for our lab created gemstones, jewelry, and
brands, we sell loose moissanite and lab created diamond gems, as well as finished jewelry featuring these gemstones, to international wholesale
distributors and finished jewelry manufacturers at distributor prices, that in turn sell the actual loose jewels or set the loose jewels in mountings
and sell the finished jewelry to brick-and-mortar and online retailers. We currently have numerous international wholesale distributors based in
Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, India, Japan, the Netherlands, Singapore, and South Africa. Some of these distributors typically sell into
neighboring countries and the extended geographic regions where they may be located. Additionally, from time to time, we have placed loose
moissanite jewels and finished jewelry inventory with select international distributors on a consignment basis. Notwithstanding the impact of the
ongoing worldwide pandemic, we continue to evaluate our channel strategy for international distributors, which may result in a change to our
historical international distributor methods and strategic partners. A portion of our international sales consists of finished jewels sold
internationally that may be re-imported to U.S. retailers.
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For a discussion of our largest customers for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, see Note 14 to our consolidated
financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Seasonality

Sales in the retail jewelry industry are typically seasonal due to increased consumer purchases during the calendar year-end
holiday season and during other holiday periods such as Valentine’s Day, St. Patrick’s Day, and Mother’s Day. Because
historically we have primarily sold our loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry featuring moissanite, and now more recently
sell gemstones and finished jewelry featuring our premium lab grown diamonds, at wholesale pricing to distributors,
manufacturers, and retailers, our sales to support the holiday season have largely taken place during the third and beginning of the
fourth calendar quarters, depending on the sales channel and the level of advanced planning and production our customers
undertook. However, the effect of seasonality on our business is also impacted by the timing of orders we receive to support new
or expanded distribution and the level of current inventory positions held by our customers. In recent years, we experience a
higher degree of seasonality in the fourth calendar quarter than we have experienced in prior years primarily as a result of the
increased calendar year-end holiday season sales to end consumers through our Online Channels segment. In future periods, as
direct to consumer sales of our finished jewelry featuring both moissanite and lab grown diamonds increase – both in dollars and
as a percentage of total sales – we anticipate a seasonality trend more typical with the retail jewelry industry, and these factors
may significantly affect our results of operations in a given quarter.

Moissanite

Over 120 years ago, Nobel Prize-winning chemist, Henri Moissan, Ph.D., first discovered the extremely rare mineral SiC in a
meteorite crater in Arizona. Over a century after the discovery of SiC, and after years of experimentation, researchers from the
Research Triangle Park in North Carolina developed and patented a thermal growing process for creating pure SiC crystals in a
controlled laboratory environment. This long-sought-after breakthrough made possible the world’s first lab-created moissanite
gemstone – posthumously named after its discoverer. With hardness rivaling any mineral on earth, and optical properties
exceeding all mined and created gemstones, we believe moissanite is a brilliant jewel that is free from environmental and ethical
issues, and capable of disrupting traditional definitions of fine jewelry.

Naturally occurring moissanite is generally very small in size, dark green or black in color, and not a commercially viable source
of gemstone material. Therefore, in order to create high quality moissanite material in desirable colors and across a range of carat
sizes that will appeal to a consumer audience, we expect only lab-grown SiC crystals to provide a sustainable source of
moissanite for gemstones. In addition to carat size, important characteristics of a gemstone are beauty, durability, and rarity. The
beauty of a colorless or near-colorless gemstone is characterized by its color, brilliance, and fire. The brilliance of a gemstone is
measured by its refractive index, or the extent to which, when coupled with the facet design, the gemstone reflects light. The fire
of a gemstone, or the breaking of light rays into spectral colors, is measured by its dispersion. Durability is determined by a
gemstone’s hardness, or resistance to scratching and toughness, or resistance to chipping or cleaving. Rarity is the availability or
perceived availability of a gemstone. Moissanite jewels have a unique combination of brilliance, fire, durability, and rarity.
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The following table compares the physical properties of moissanite jewels with other fine gemstone materials, including lab
grown diamonds:

Description  
Refractive

Index   Dispersion   Hardness (1)  Toughness
Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite®   2.65-2.69    0.104    9.25 – 9.5  Excellent
Diamond (including mined and lab grown diamonds)

  2.42    0.044    10  
Good to
Excellent (2)

Ruby   1.77    0.018    9  Excellent (3)

Sapphire   1.77    0.018    9  Excellent (3)

Emerald   1.58    0.014    7.50  Poor to Good

(1) For purposes of this table, “hardness” is based on the Mohs Scale, which is a relative scale only. Quantitative
comparisons of different gemstone materials cannot be made directly using the Mohs Scale. Moissanite jewels, while
harder than all other known gemstones, are approximately one-half as hard as diamond.
(2) In cleavage direction, toughness is “good”.
(3) Except twinned stones

Sources: Gemological Institute of America, Gem Reference Guide for GIA Colored Stones, Gem Identification and Colored
Stone Grading Courses 32-35, 65-82, 87-90 (1995); Cornelius S. Hurlburt, Jr. & Robert C. Kammerling, Gemology 320-324 (2d
Ed. 1991); Kirk-Othmer, Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology 524-541 (5th Ed. 2004); Institution of Electrical Engineers,
Properties of Silicon Carbide (Gary L. Harris, Ed., 1995); Robert Webster, Gems: Their Sources, Descriptions and Identification,
889-940 (5th Ed. 1994); W. von Muench, Silicon Carbide in Landolt-Börnstein - Numerical Data and Functional Relationships in
Science and Technology, New Series, Group III, Vol. 17C, pp. 403-416 and 585-592 (M. Schultz and H. Weiss, Eds., 1984); Kurt
Nassau, Shane F. McClure, Shane Ellen & James E. Shigley, Synthetic Moissanite: A New Diamond Substitute, Gems &
Gemology, Winter 1997, 260-275; Kurt Nassau. Moissanite: A New Synthetic Gemstone Material, Journal of Gemology, 425-438
(1999); Mindat.org (a project of the Hudson Institute of Technology), “Moissanite” (https://www.mindat.org); and Wikipedia.org,
“Moissanite” (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Moissanite).

Moissanite’s beauty is objectively derived from its refractive index, which is higher than any other gemstone, including diamond.
And its hardness is greater than all minerals, and all known gemstone materials with the exception of diamond. As a result,
moissanite jewels, like diamond, can be cut with sharp, well-defined, and highly polished facets that accentuate their brilliance
and fire. The cutting specifications (facet arrangement and proportions) for moissanite jewels are different than any other
gemstone and designed to maximize the brilliance and fire of the raw material.

We evaluate the finished gems to exacting standards with automated video-imaging equipment using internal and independent
third-party certified gemologists. Due to the rare natural occurrence of moissanite and both the proprietary and technical
limitations in producing mass quantities of gem-grade moissanite, we believe that moissanite is among the rarest of jewels.

Lab Grown Diamond

Lab grown diamond materials have been synthesized since the early 1940s and eventually made their way into industrial
applications during the next decade. Originally, this process was used mainly for producing diamond products used in industrial
applications such as for diamond-tipped drill bits and commercial-grade abrasives as well as products used for unique specialized
surgical equipment within the medical field. In 1955, scientists discovered a way to duplicate the conditions in a laboratory
setting under which diamonds naturally develop. Inside a high-pressure cell, carbon atoms are subjected to intense heat and
pressure, until the atoms grow and crystalize on seed crystals as a man-made diamond. More recently, an advanced technological
method for creating diamonds, known as chemical vapor deposition, or CVD, mimics the method of natural diamond formations.
CVD uses extreme pressure and a heated mixture of methane and hydrogen to produce gemstone quality lab grown diamonds that
are used in the fine jewelry industry. Lab grown diamonds are cut and polished in the same manner as natural diamonds,
producing identically optical, physical, and chemical properties as their mined diamond counterpart. The gemstone physical
properties table set forth above denotes the range of physical attributes that are consistent for both mined and lab grown
diamonds.

8



Table of Contents

Many misconceptions exist surrounding lab grown diamonds. The most-asked question we receive regarding lab gown diamonds
is whether or not lab grown diamonds are considered to be real diamonds. In response to this question, we unequivocally believe
that lab grown diamonds are 100% real. We contend that the main difference between lab grown diamonds and those that are
mined is simply the origin of the diamond itself. The critical characteristics of a diamond, those being its appearance, its chemical
composition, and its physical properties are exactly the same in both a diamond that is mined versus one that is grown in a
laboratory. A lab grown diamond can only be distinguished from natural diamonds using specialized equipment that can detect
the minor differences in trace elements and crystal growth.

Products and Product Development

Moissanite Jewels

Historically, Charles & Colvard primarily sold legacy moissanite jewels including Forever Classic™ and Forever Brilliant®. In
2015, we announced availability of our premier product, the first colorless moissanite jewel, Forever One™, which grades from
colorless (D-E-F) to near-colorless (G-H-I) using the GIA’s color grading scale. Our limited launch was met with enthusiasm
from channel partners and consumers. In response to this demand, we continue to expand our Forever One™ product line with
additional shapes and sizes. Today, we offer Forever One™ in 27 cuts, and a multitude of sizes ranging from melee accent stones
as small as 0.002 carats to gemstones up to 6.13 carats, and our Exotics line of products that are as large as 15.55 carats diamond
equivalent weight, or DEW.

In May 2018, we announced the availability of a new grade of gemstone, Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®. We believe that,
with the exception of our own colorless moissanite jewel, Forever One™, our latest gemstone is a cut above other moissanite on
the market. The distinction between Forever One™ and Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® is made through our applied expertise
throughout the design and manufacturing process summarized below and described in more detail in “Manufacturing and Quality
Assurance”. We believe that due to the discerning approach we take to ensure the quality of Forever One™, it remains far above
any other offering available today. By closely evaluating clarity, color, and cut, we are able to determine which gemstones meet
our exemplary standards for Forever One™, and those that fit within one of the classifications for our multiple grade Moissanite
by Charles & Colvard® gemstones.

Our manufacturing process starts with SiC material primarily manufactured by Cree through its patented process. This
proprietary growing process creates a SiC material that is nearly free of micropipes – a type of inclusion sometimes found in lab-
grown SiC material. However, based on the terms of the amended Supply Agreement with our strategic partner, we are permitted
to purchase certain amounts of SiC materials from third parties under limited conditions. Either way, the SiC material comes to us
as a boule, or a formed mass, that has the atomic structure of a single crystal. After beginning our manufacturing process, each
boule is carefully inspected by our certified gemologists to ensure it meets our minimum standards for Charles & Colvard
Created Moissanite® gemstones, including those for clarity and color grades. The products that meet appropriate minimum
quality standards move forward on the journey to become our Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® gemstones. From this
point, as the product continues to move through our manufacturing process, it is subjected to further processing steps, such as
cutting, faceting, and finishing. At the end of our manufacturing process, it’s the clarity and color designation, coupled with
further inspection by our certified gemologists regarding the quality levels of the cutting, faceting, and finishing processes, that
will ultimately determine if the product becomes one of our premier Forever One™ gemstones or one our multiple grade
Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® gemstones.

Moissanite Finished Jewelry

We began selling finished jewelry featuring moissanite in 2010. Our core designs included stud earrings, solitaire and three-stone
rings, pendants, and bracelets. We are now selling an expanded selection of fashion-oriented, designer-inspired moissanite
jewelry that we offer as an expansion to the core line of jewelry. The primary components of our moissanite finished jewelry are
loose moissanite jewels that we have on hand as part of our finished goods inventory, precious metal settings, and labor to mount
the jewels into the settings.

Source of Moissanite Raw Material

Our moissanite jewels are made from gem-grade SiC crystals. Our primary supplier of SiC crystals is Cree with which we have
certain exclusive supply rights for SiC crystals to be used for gemstone applications. In addition, based on the terms of the
Supply Agreement with Cree, as amended, described below, we are permitted to purchase certain amounts of SiC materials from
third parties under limited conditions. We source the metals used for our finished jewelry, including white, yellow, and rose gold,
platinum, tantalum, and sterling silver, from a number of domestic and international manufacturers located in the U.S., China,
India, Mexico, Hong Kong, Vietnam, or Portugal. In line with our goal of providing socially and ethically sourced products, we
require suppliers to adhere to our stringent supplier guidelines, as well as to certify that their gold and tantalum are coming from
conflict free sources and that all precious metals supplied to us are responsibly sourced.
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Exclusive Supply Agreement with Cree

On December 12, 2014, we entered into an exclusive supply agreement with Cree, or the Supply Agreement, which superseded
and replaced our prior agreement with Cree. Under the Supply Agreement, subject to certain terms and conditions, we agreed to
exclusively purchase from Cree, and Cree agreed to exclusively supply 100% of our required SiC materials in quarterly
installments that must equal or exceed a set minimum order quantity. The initial term of the Supply Agreement was scheduled to
expire on June 24, 2018. Effective June 22, 2018, the Supply Agreement was amended to extend the expiration date to June 25,
2023. The Supply Agreement was also amended to (i) provide us with one option, subject to certain conditions, to unilaterally
extend the term of the Supply Agreement for an additional two-year period following expiration of the initial term; (ii) establish a
process by which Cree may begin producing alternate SiC material based on our specifications that will give us the flexibility to
use the materials in a broader variety of our products; and (iii) permit us to purchase certain amounts of SiC materials from third
parties under limited conditions. On August 26, 2020, the Supply Agreement was further amended, effective June 30, 2020, to
extend the expiration date to June 29, 2025, which may be further extended by mutual written agreement of the parties. The
Supply Agreement was also amended to, among other things, (i) spread our total purchase commitment under the Supply
Agreement in the amount of approximately $52.95 million over the term of the Supply Agreement, as amended; (ii) establish a
process by which Cree has agreed to accept purchase orders in excess of the agreed-upon minimum purchase commitment,
subject to certain conditions; and (iii) permit us to purchase revised amounts of SiC materials from third parties under limited
conditions.

We believe that our Supply Agreement with Cree, which holds the U.S. patent for micropipe-free silicon carbide material and the
related method of manufacture, provides us a superior quality core material above all other moissanite and one that possesses an
unrivaled level of gemstone clarity. We also believe that the terms and conditions contained within the amended Supply
Agreement are overall more favorable when compared with those in the Supply Agreement prior to the amendments. Our total
purchase commitment under the Supply Agreement, as amended, until June 2025 is approximately $52.95 million, of which
approximately $32.85 remains to be purchased as of June 30, 2021.

For more information regarding the second amendment to our Supply Agreement, executed on August 26, 2020, see Note 10 to
our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Lab Grown Diamonds

On September 14, 2020, we announced our expansion into the lab grown diamond product market with the launch of Caydia®, an
exclusive brand of premium lab grown diamonds. Our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are hand selected by our GIA certified
gemologists to meet Charles & Colvard’s standards and validated by independent third-party experts. Our Caydia® lab grown
diamonds are available currently in E, F, and G color grades (based on the GIA’s color grading scale) with a minimum clarity in
accordance with the GIA’s VS1 clarity classification along with excellent cut, polish, and symmetry. All of our Caydia® lab
grown diamonds are set with responsibly sourced precious metals.

Lab Grown Diamond Finished Jewelry

We began offering finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® premium lab grown diamonds in September 2020. In addition to our
core designs that include stud earrings, solitaire and multiple-gemstone rings, pendants, and bracelets, we are also selling a
curated assortment of designer inspired luxury fashion finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® premium lab grown diamonds.
The primary components of our Caydia® lab grown diamond finished jewelry are loose lab grown diamond jewels that we have
either (i) purchased and have on hand from a core select group of lab grown diamond suppliers, manufacturers, and finishers or
(ii) purchase directly from the same select group of lab grown diamond suppliers, manufacturers, and finishers for assembly with
responsibly sourced precious metal settings that includes the cost of labor to mount the lab grown diamond jewels into the
settings.
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Sources of Lab Grown Diamond Raw Material

Our premium lab grown diamonds are made by third-party manufacturers from what we believe is the most technologically
advanced method for laboratory created gemstone quality diamonds used in the fine jewelry industry. We purchase our lab grown
diamonds from established domestic suppliers that comprises a supply chain, which we believe has proven to meet our rigid and
quality certified standards and timelines to meet our inventory supply needs. We source the metals used for finished jewelry set
with our Caydia® lab grown diamonds, including white, yellow, and rose gold, platinum, tantalum, and sterling silver, from a
number of domestic and international manufacturers located in the U.S., China, India, Mexico, Hong Kong, Vietnam, or Portugal.
In line with our goal of providing socially and ethically sourced products, we require suppliers to adhere to our stringent supplier
guidelines, as well as to certify that their gold and tantalum are coming from conflict free sources and that all precious metals
supplied to us are responsibly sourced.

Intellectual Property

We held a number of U.S. product and method patents for moissanite jewels that expired during 2015, under which we had broad,
exclusive rights to manufacture, use, and sell moissanite jewels in the U.S. We held these same patents in 25 foreign jurisdictions,
primarily across Asia and Europe, that expired in 2016, with one remaining in Mexico that expired in Fiscal 2021. In addition, we
have certain trademarks and pending trademark applications that support our moissanite branding strategy. Additionally, we have
certain issued design patents that we believe will differentiate our products in the gemstone and jewelry industry. Since the
expiration of our patents, we have noted new providers of moissanite entering the market. We know how challenging it is to
create high-quality moissanite and anticipate it will take emerging providers significant time and investment to bring meaningful
and competitive products to market. As we experienced ourselves, achieving the capacity to consistently produce a high-quality
moissanite product at mass scale requires a careful balance of SiC-specific faceting skills and a well-tuned global supply chain.
Therefore, in the foreseeable future, we do not anticipate significant direct moissanite competition in our superior quality
gemstone ranges with consistent production volumes.

Our success and our ability to compete successfully depends in part upon our proprietary technology. In addition to our design
patents, we rely on trade secret laws and employee, consultant, and customer confidentiality agreements to protect certain aspects
of our technology. We currently are not subject to any claims that our products or processes infringe on the proprietary rights of
third parties. At the present time, we are also dependent on Cree’s technology for the production of SiC crystals.

Manufacturing and Quality Assurance

Moissanite Jewels

The production of Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® jewels is an elaborate process developed over a number of years of
collaborative research and development, acquired and learned knowledge from scientists, and considerable investment expense.

Following are the key steps involved in the manufacturing processes of our moissanite jewels:

• Growing gem-grade raw SiC crystals;

• Manufacturing rough preforms;

• Faceting and polishing jewels;

• Inspecting, sorting, and grading; and

• Engraving.

Growing Gem-Grade Raw SiC Crystals. SiC crystal growth suitable for gem-grade usage at commercial quantities is proprietary
both in design and in operational methodology. Cree has grown the majority of our SiC crystals in accordance with the terms of
the Supply Agreement. We routinely evaluate the yield and quality of saleable moissanite jewels from SiC crystals. The yield of
saleable jewels from each crystal is one of the most significant factors affecting the volume and cost of moissanite jewels
available for sale. Yield is dependent on the quality of the crystals, and variations in crystal quality can adversely affect our gross
margin percentage.
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Manufacturing Rough Preforms. We have made considerable investment in the design, development, and customization of a
proprietary manufacturing process that includes equipment, software, and procedures to maximize raw material yield. The result
is production of intermediary shapes, called “preforms,” that vary depending upon the size and shape of the desired finished
jewel. Currently, we are not spending research and development funds in connection with these processes. However, when
potential technology aligns with our production business model, we intend to explore and potentially invest in such research and
development resources to improve raw material yield, including studying alternate preform shapes and cutting technologies, due
to the dramatic effect such an improvement could have on our gross margin percentage.

Faceting and Polishing Jewels. Each preform is faceted and polished by our independent third-party gem-cutters to create what
we believe to be our uniquely faceted Revolutionary Cut™ gemstones based on master designs with multiple quality control
measures built into the process. Gem-cutter training is a regimented program involving several months of progressive hands-on
bench training. As we continue to expand the assortment of Forever One™, we will continue the process of certifying additional
cutters to ensure sufficient scalability of our production capabilities to meet anticipated demand for this premium finished jewel.

Inspecting, Sorting, and Grading. Similar to other gemstones, each faceted moissanite jewel greater than 3.5 millimeters in size is
individually graded against established master standards using our specially trained personnel. Additionally, as part of our overall
quality assurance program, a representative sample from each batch of jewels is submitted to an image analyzer to ensure critical
angles and other attributes designed to maximize moissanite’s optical properties are consistently maintained. This phase of
manufacturing is relatively labor-intensive and requires skills not readily available in the general work force. In the future, we
may elect to outsource certain portions of this stage of the manufacturing process to independent third parties that we will require
to adhere to our rigorous quality control and monitoring standards.

Engraving. For moissanite gemstones that are four millimeters and larger in size, with certain exceptions Charles & Colvard laser
inscribes an identifying code on the girdle of each Forever One™ and Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® gemstone that includes
the Charles & Colvard Floret logo. This identifier matches a grading standard and is an important element in protecting the
integrity of Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and ensuring the customer an authentic Charles & Colvard gemstone.

Moissanite Finished Jewelry

Our line of finished jewelry featuring moissanite is developed by a team of industry experts integrating our moissanite jewels into
many forms of jewelry, generally made of precious metals, either designed or purchased by us utilizing a core group of suppliers,
manufacturers, and finishers. In addition to our Limited Lifetime Warranty offered on our moissanite jewels, we provide a
twelve-month Limited Warranty on all finished jewelry featuring our moissanite, and on jewelry designs that do not contain our
moissanite gemstones, such as men’s wedding bands.

All procured finished jewelry components are sourced from our approved suppliers, and each finished jewelry item is jobbed
and/or tracked by stock keeping unit, or SKU, utilizing our enterprise resource planning system. The components of moissanite
finished jewelry comprised in each job are then manufactured into finished jewelry by assemblers either in the U.S. or
internationally in China, India, Mexico, Hong Kong, Vietnam, or Portugal. We are continuously working with our existing
manufacturing partners, as well as identifying new manufacturing partners, to expand our assortments and efficiencies.

All finished jewelry produced by Charles & Colvard undergoes a multi-point inspection process. A representative sampling of
manufactured finished jewelry items undergoes stone and metals testing to ensure that the items for sale are of the quality that we
strive to maintain. Also, in line with our goal of providing socially and ethically sourced products, we require suppliers of our
gold and tantalum to certify that the gold and tantalum is coming from conflict free sources and that all precious metals supplied
to us are responsibly sourced. If required by government ordinance or requested by a customer, we facilitate the inspection of our
finished jewelry by internationally recognized testing facilities to comply with legal requirements and to ensure consumer
confidence.
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Lab Grown Diamonds

To ensure a premium lab grown diamond product standard, the quality assurance process for our purchased Caydia® gemstones,
which are 0.5 Carat Total Weight, or CTW, and above, are individually hand selected by our GIA certified gemologists to meet
our strict and uncompromising quality standards. The product quality and gemstone physical characteristics of each lab grown
diamond we purchase are also validated by independent third-party gemology experts. Each lab grown diamond is accompanied
by an official document that contains a unique prescribed and registered serial number that denotes such certification of
qualification and authenticity.

Lab Grown Diamond Finished Jewelry

Our line of finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® lab grown diamonds is developed by a team of industry experts integrating
our premium lab grown diamonds into many forms of jewelry, generally made of responsibly sourced precious metals, either
designed or purchased by us utilizing a core group of suppliers, manufacturers, and finishers. We provide a twelve-month Limited
Warranty on all finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® lab grown diamonds.

All procured finished jewelry components featuring our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are sourced from our approved suppliers,
and each finished jewelry item is jobbed and/or tracked by stock keeping unit, or SKU, utilizing our enterprise resource planning
system. The components of our Caydia® lab grown diamonds finished jewelry comprised in each job are then manufactured into
finished jewelry by assemblers either in the U.S. or internationally in China, India, Mexico, Hong Kong, Vietnam, or Portugal.
We are continuously working with our existing manufacturing partners, as well as identifying new manufacturing partners, to
expand our assortments and efficiencies.

All finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® lab grown diamonds produced by Charles & Colvard undergoes a multi-point
inspection process. A representative sampling of manufactured finished jewelry items undergoes stone and metals testing to
ensure that the items for sale are of the quality that we strive to maintain. Also, in line with our goal of providing socially and
ethically sourced products, we require suppliers of our gold and tantalum to certify that the gold and tantalum is coming from
conflict free sources and that all precious metals supplied to us are responsibly sourced. If required by government ordinance or
requested by a customer, we facilitate the inspection of our finished jewelry by internationally recognized testing facilities to
comply with legal requirements and to ensure consumer confidence.

Each finished jewelry product we sell, which is set with our Caydia® gemstones, is inspected by our in-house GIA certified
gemologists and quality assurance specialists prior to shipment to the end-consumer from our own fulfillment center in Research
Triangle Park, North Carolina. The registered certificate of authenticity accompanies each Caydia® gemstone or finished jewelry
set with Caydia® lab grown diamonds when shipped to the end consumer. All of our Caydia® lab grown diamonds are set with
mostly recycled precious metals.

Working Capital Practices

Our primary source of working capital is cash on hand and cash generated by our operations. As global and U.S economic
activity continues evolving in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the risk of constraints on our cash and working
capital, including experiencing potential liquidity challenges, remains in the forefront of our working capital management
practices. Despite our cost-saving efforts, many business and operating expenses have remained flat or continued to rise. Cash
flow management will remain crucial for our business in the months ahead and we intend to monitor fluctuations in our revenues
that could impact our ongoing cash flow from operations. We expect to remain proactive in managing our inventory levels given
the uncertainty in the worldwide supply chain, which may also place further demands on our level of working capital. Because
we have quarterly minimum purchase commitments under the Supply Agreement, we may be required to purchase SiC materials
in excess of our immediate needs from time to time, which may result in inventories that are higher than we might otherwise
maintain.

We have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the SEC that allows us to periodically offer and sell,
individually or in any combination, shares of common stock, shares of preferred stock, warrants to purchase shares of common
stock or preferred stock, and units consisting of any combination of the foregoing types of securities, up to a total of $25.00
million, of which all is available. However, we may offer and sell no more than one-third of our public float (which is the
aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates) in any 12-month period.  Our ability to issue
equity securities under the shelf registration statement is subject to market conditions, which may be in turn, subject to, among
other things, the potential disruption and volatility that may be caused by ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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In June 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering of 6,250,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.60 per
share, which, together with the partial exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option for an additional 630,500 shares in
July, resulted in aggregate net proceeds of approximately $9.99 million, net of the underwriting discount and fees and expenses.

Payment terms on trade receivables for our Traditional segment customers are generally between 30 and 90 days, though we may
offer extended terms with specific customers and on significant orders from time to time. We extend credit to our customers
based upon a number of factors, including an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and credit history that is verified
through trade association reference services, the customer’s payment history with us, the customer’s reputation in the trade,
and/or an evaluation of the customer’s opportunity to introduce our moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds or finished
jewelry featuring both moissanite and lab grown diamonds to new or expanded markets.

Our returns policy for consumers on our charlesandcolvard.com and moissaniteoutlet.com websites provides for the return of
purchases for any reason generally within 60 days and 30 days, respectively, of the shipment date. Our returns policy for all other
customers allows for the return of moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry for credit generally within 30
days of shipment if returned for a valid reason. We have established an allowance for returns based on our historical return rate,
which takes into account any contractual return privileges granted to our customers. Periodically, we ship loose gemstones and
finished jewelry goods inventory to Traditional segment customers on consignment terms. Under these terms, the customer
assumes the risk of loss and has an absolute right of return for a specified period that typically ranges from six months to one
year.

Competition

As competitive moissanite and lab grown diamonds expand and grow their global market presence, we believe that it is important
to affirm Charles & Colvard’s leadership position as a provider of the premier worldwide moissanite gemstone as well as an
exclusive brand of premium lab grown diamonds. Moving forward, we believe that we are well positioned to further establish our
presence for both of our product lines in the worldwide emerging markets. We also believe our leadership position in these global
markets is a product of more than 25 years of moissanite innovation and as a purveyor of fine jewelry.

Accordingly, we believe our competitive advantage is bolstered by the following strengths:

• With our Forever One™ gemstones, we believe that we have achieved a level of perfection that is rarely seen in any gemstone – featuring
colorless grades with an innovative cut that we believe reveals optical properties unrivaled by any other jewel. This pinnacle of our legacy
production process is the result of continual improvement and a demonstration of our artisan craftsmanship. Additionally, we believe that with our
Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® gemstones we have brought forward a price-conscious alternative to competitive moissanite that we believe
exceeds the quality of competitive moissanite – specifically in terms of clarity, as well as in cut and polish. The distinction between Forever One™

and Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® is made through our applied expertise throughout the design and manufacturing processes and the
discerning approach we believe we take to ensure the quality of Forever One™ remains above any other offering available today. By closely
evaluating clarity, color, and cut, we are able to determine which gemstones meet our exemplary standards for Forever One™ and those that
should bear the Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® name.

• With our success in developing and promoting Caydia®, our exclusive brand of lab grown diamonds, since September 2020 we believe that we
have been able to demonstrate that we are able to successfully integrate and market these premium gems into fine jewelry finished products.

• With an exclusive SiC crystal Supply Agreement with Cree, which holds the U.S. patent for micropipe-free silicon carbide material and the related
method of manufacture, we believe this core raw material empowers Charles & Colvard at a level that allows us to rise above all other moissanite
products with an unrivaled level of gemstone clarity.
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• With our mature and innovative supply chain, while we have experienced instances of suppliers temporarily closing their operations, delaying
order fulfillment needs or limiting their production as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we utilized alternative supply
arrangements with partners whose businesses were able to successfully navigate the impact of the ongoing pandemic. Accordingly, we believe that
we have remained able to seamlessly manage the complex manufacturing process of our moissanite gemstones, meet the marketing demand and
distribution needs of our lab grown diamond product line, and the varied finished jewelry options featuring both of these lab created gemstones we
deliver to a global audience.

• With management’s vast experience in the worldwide fine jewelry industry, we likewise believe that we have been able to build a creative and
dependable supply chain for our Caydia® product line. We believe this approach that was built on these many years of experience has proven to be
successful as we continue building our brand and expanding this line of fine jewelry set with our exclusive brand of lab grown diamonds.

• With an established direct-to-consumer e-commerce presence on our own mature transactional website, charlesandcolvard.com, coupled with the
roll-out this fiscal year of our secondary transactional website, moissaniteoutlet.com, we believe we are able to leverage established consumer-
driven online communication channels directly with our target audiences. We also believe that we have developed an innovative in-house digital
marketing capacity to support both of our online digital marketing properties.

• With an established global distribution network encompassing our own ability and that of our retail business partners, and notwithstanding the
ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we continue to believe that we have optimized this network for timely delivery of our products from
unique consumer orders to bulk distribution orders.

• With our significant inventory and an established supply chain, we believe we are positioned to meet the just-in-time needs of our distribution
partners. We believe having inventory quantities on the shelf is paramount to meeting the challenging delivery requirements of our customers. As
we continue to balance our response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we expect to effectively manage our inventory levels given the potential
uncertainty in consumer demand and in our supply chain.

With our above strengths outlined, it is also important to note that our future competitive success is reliant, in part, on the
following:

• Our continued success in developing and promoting the Charles & Colvard brands, such as Forever One™, Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®,
and Caydia®, all of which are used in finished fine jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds, resulting in increased interest and
demand for moissanite and lab grown diamond jewelry at the consumer level;

• Our ability to differentiate Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and Caydia® from competing gemstone products, including competitive
moissanite and the rapidly emerging lab-created diamond industry;

• The ongoing ability to operationally execute our digital marketing strategy for our Online Channels segment;

• Our continued ability and the ability of manufacturers, designers, and retail jewelry partners to select jewelry settings that promote and encourage
consumer acceptance of and demand for our jewels and finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds;

• The ability to understand our consumer market segment and effectively sell a compelling value proposition to that market, which leads
successfully to converted customers;

• Our ability to continue our relationship with Cree in order to sustain our supply of high-quality SiC crystals;

• The continued willingness and ability of our jewelry distributors and other jewelry suppliers, manufacturers, and designers to market and promote
Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and Caydia® to the retail jewelry trade;

15



Table of Contents

• The continued willingness of distributors, retailers, and others in our distribution channels to purchase loose Charles & Colvard Created
Moissanite®, and the continued willingness of manufacturers, designers, and retail jewelers to undertake setting of the loose jewels;

• Our continued ability and the ability of jewelry manufacturers and retail jewelers to set loose moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds in
finished jewelry with a high-quality standard of workmanship; and

• Our continued ability and the ability of retail jewelers to effectively market and sell finished jewelry featuring moissanite jewels and lab grown
diamonds to consumers.

Competitive Gemstones and Jewelry

Gemstone materials can be grouped into three types:

• Those found in nature, generally through mining techniques;

• Synthetic gemstones, which have the same chemical composition and essentially the same physical and optical characteristics of natural
gemstones but are created or grown in a laboratory; and

• Simulants, which are similar in appearance to natural gemstones but do not have the same chemical composition, physical properties, or optical
characteristics.

Moissanite is a rare, naturally occurring mineral. Our lab-created gemstones, Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite®, are
considered a synthetic version of the naturally occurring moissanite mineral. Our exclusive brand of premium lab grown
diamonds, Caydia®, are also considered a synthetic version of a natural diamond that is mined.

Our moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds compete with fine gemstones such as ruby, sapphire, emerald, and tanzanite as
well as with mined natural diamonds. We also face competition from synthetic diamonds, synthetic diamond films, and other
sources of moissanite gemstones. Some suppliers of diamonds, including lab grown diamonds, and other fine gemstones, as well
as the suppliers of other synthetic and lab-created gemstones, may have substantially greater financial, technical, manufacturing,
and marketing resources and greater access to distribution channels than we do.

Competing with Other Moissanite Producers

Although we believe that our moissanite jewels have a leadership market position, we are beginning to face competition from
other companies that develop competing SiC material. These products are emerging primarily from Far Eastern countries and are
making their way into the U.S. market. Our ongoing research of the competitive landscape has identified competing moissanite,
primarily in the “E-F” and below color range, according to the GIA’s grading scale. However, we have not yet identified
competing moissanite that exhibits a consistent level of color, cut, clarity and polish that is competitive with the quality of our
Forever One™ gemstone.

We also have not identified competitive sources that have exhibited the ability to supply a consistent and high volume of quality
moissanite substantial enough to address the considerable consumption needs of distributors and retailers that serve the jewelry
trade. Achieving the capacity to consistently produce a high-quality moissanite product at mass scale requires a careful balance of
SiC-specific faceting skills and a well-tuned global supply chain.

However, we are seeing a grade of moissanite material reaching the market that exhibits a lower color rating and/or lesser cut,
clarity and polish standard compared to our Forever One™ gemstone. This inferior product is coming to market at competitive
price points, and we have subsequently been experiencing downward pricing pressures from price-sensitive purchasing channels.
In 2018, we entered this market with a value line of moissanite to compete directly with these lower grade moissanite products.
Our product line, known as Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®, is a competitively priced line of gemstones that is fashioned from
the same core material as our other created moissanite products. Finished gemstones that do not meet our grading standards for
Forever One™ – but do meet our specifications for gemstones worthy of carrying the Charles & Colvard name – are offered to
the market at a value priced option. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, approximately 15% of our revenue was generated
from Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® gemstones and finished jewelry – we believe this percentage of revenue is validating the
market for this value-priced product line.
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Competing with Lab-Grown Diamonds

Lab-created diamond material has been synthesized since the early 1940s and made its way into industrial processes by the
1950s. Common applications such as diamond-tipped drill bits and abrasive processes led the way, followed by uses in solid-state
electronics. In more recent years, lab grown diamonds have become accepted as a form of gemstone with companies such as
Diamond Foundry, Pure Grown Diamonds and Lab Diamonds Direct gaining notoriety in the market.

Consumer demand is driving the charge behind this recent adoption of lab grown gemstones in the modern global luxury fashion
jewelry space. Today’s discerning consumer is seeking ethically sourced options, better price points, and authenticity in the
brands they choose to engage. We believe the recent rise in interest for the lab created diamond has created an increased interest
in the moissanite gemstone market. With the launch of our Caydia® product line, an exclusive brand of premium lab grown
diamonds, we believe that our entry into the lab grown diamond market could be a potential threat to - and increase competition
for - our core moissanite products. While our moissanite gemstones and finished jewelry set with moissanite generally have
different price points than those with lab grown diamonds, including our Caydia® product line, any cannibalization of moissanite
product sales resulting from sales of our lab grown diamonds could have an adverse impact on sales of our moissanite jewels and
finished jewelry set with moissanite.

Since our entry into the lab grown diamond space, we have experienced growing traffic and interest in Charles & Colvard from
the ongoing attention around lab-created gemstones. We may face future price point and consumer related demand pressures from
the lab grown diamond industry. However, with current moissanite pricing averaging between 5% and 10% of mined diamond
gemstones and between 20% and 25% of lab grown diamonds, we believe that for the foreseeable future we will continue to be
able to serve and thrive in this segment of the market.

Competing with Mined Diamonds

The worldwide market for large, uncut, high-quality mined diamonds is significantly consolidated and controlled by the De Beers
Group of Companies, or De Beers (headquartered in South Africa), Alrosa Group (Russia), Rio Tinto Limited (Australia), and
BHP Group Limited (Australia). These companies have a major impact on the worldwide supply and pricing of mined diamonds
at both the wholesale and retail levels. While moissanite trades at a fraction of the cost of mined diamonds, diamond producers
may undertake additional marketing or other activities designed to protect the mined diamond jewelry market against sales
erosion from consumer acceptance of competing goods such as moissanite jewels.

Competing with Simulants

While moissanite is a synthetic gemstone (a lab-created version of the naturally occurring SiC mineral), we may also, to a lesser
degree, face competition from simulant gemstones, including cubic zirconia and man-made crystals. Producers and sellers of
these products may see the markets for these products being eroded by the market penetration of our moissanite jewels. We
believe that the substantially lower price of these products is the primary basis upon which they will compete with our moissanite
jewels; however, they are not considered fine gemstone or jewelry products.

Competing in the Finished Jewelry Space

The global fine jewelry market competition is fierce. Such well-known jewelry designers and manufacturers as James Allen®,
Brilliant Earth, LLC, and Blue Nile Inc., among others, have a variety of jewelry collections featuring diamond and other
precious and semi-precious gemstones, and enjoy strong brand recognition and a loyal consumer following. These companies
also have greater financial resources than we do to develop and market their products.

We intend to expand our market share and compete with these well-known brands primarily on the basis of the combination of
quality, design, and value, as moissanite is the highest quality, affordable alternative available to more expensive gemstones such
as diamond. We believe that focusing on the clear advantages in moissanite’s retail price points, especially in the one-carat and
larger sizes, will provide a key point of differentiation and value proposition to the end consumer who may not have had the
opportunity to previously purchase fine jewelry due to limitations in discretionary spending income.
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In addition, we believe that the Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® suite, including moissanite jewels such as Forever
One™ and Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®, along with moissanite finished jewelry that we are developing pursuant to our
marketing programs, as well as the line of finished jewelry featuring our Caydia® lab grown diamonds all combine to create what
we believe is a long-term competitive advantage for our products as we continue building brand recognition. We endeavor to
partner with recognized designers and jewelry companies, in addition to developing our own proprietary brands of finished
jewelry. While our finished jewelry business is still developing, our goal is to build multiple strong brands sought after by the end
consumer. We propose to focus our marketing efforts on emphasizing our attractive designs, coupled with moissanite’s
exceptional brilliance, fire, durability, and rarity, to establish moissanite as a primary consumer choice in fine jewelry.

Our design, manufacture and marketing of finished jewelry featuring moissanite for sale at wholesale pricing to distributors and
retailers and at retail to end consumers through our charlesandcolvard.com and other Online Channels outlets may result in some
of our current wholesale customers perceiving us as a competitor, despite our efforts to use primarily non-conflicting sales
channels. As we continue to develop our finished jewelry business, we intend to increase distribution through new and existing
channels similarly to how many other companies have executed cross-channel marketing and distribution strategies. Due to the
size of the finished jewelry market, we believe that such sales channels can co-exist, with the overall end result being increased
consumer and brand awareness of moissanite products and a corresponding increased demand for not only our products, but those
of our distributor and manufacturer customers as well.

Competing with Lab Grown Diamond Retailers

Our primary competitors in the lab grown diamond retail market are James Allen®, VRAI by Diamond Foundry, Clean Origin
LLC, and Brilliant Earth, LLC. Our offerings are curated to remove the complexity from the diamond buying process by selling
only what we believe to be higher quality lab grown diamonds set in our finished jewelry products. Many of these competitors
offer a wider quality grade range of lab grown diamonds which are sold separately from those set with lab grown diamonds in
finished jewelry. We believe that our pricing strategy remains competitive based on the quality of the Caydia® lab grown
diamonds that we offer and sell.

Government Regulation

We are subject to governmental regulations in the manufacture and sale of moissanite jewels and finished jewelry. In particular, in
July 2018 the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, issued updated guidelines governing the description of lab-grown diamonds
and other gemstones that require such gemstones to be clearly identified as to the gemstone’s lab-grown origin in any
promotional or marketing materials. In addition, the precious metal in our finished jewelry may be subject to requirements, which
vary by country and by state, such as hallmarking and alloy content. While we have a policy to ensure compliance with
applicable regulations, if our actions are found to be in violation of FTC or other governmental regulations, we may be required
to suspend marketing of our products and could incur significant expenses in developing new marketing strategies and materials
that would not violate governmental regulations.

Human Resources Capital

As of August 27, 2021, we had a total of 51 employees, all of whom were full-time and none of whom were part-time. None of
our employees are represented by a labor union. We believe that our employee relations are good.
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Directors and Executive Officers of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.

The members of our current Board of Directors are the following:

Neal I. Goldman
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.; President of Goldman Capital Management, Inc., an
investment advisory firm.
 
Anne M. Butler
Chief Executive Officer of Butler advisors, a consulting firm specializing in strategic and operational advising to private
equity, venture capital, and institutional investors on direct selling acquisition and management.
 
Benedetta Casamento
Retail Consultant specializing in finance, business operations, and financial planning and analysis.
 
Don O’Connell
President and Chief Executive Officer of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.
 
Ollin B. Sykes
President of Sykes & Company. P.A., a regional accounting firm specializing in accounting, tax, and financial advisory
services.

Our current executive officers are the following:

Don O’Connell
President and Chief Executive Officer
 
Clint J. Pete
Chief Financial Officer

Available Information

Our corporate information is accessible through our investor relations website at https://ir.charlesandcolvard.com. We are not
including the information contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on Form
10-K. We make available, free of charge, access on our website to all reports we file with, or furnish to, the SEC, including our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to
these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. A copy of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other reports are available without charge upon written request to Investor Relations,
Charles & Colvard, Ltd., 170 Southport Drive, Morrisville, North Carolina 27560.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing business environment that involves substantial risk and uncertainty, and these risks
may change over time. The following discussion addresses some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause, or contribute to
causing, actual results to differ materially from expectations. In evaluating our business, you should pay particular attention to the
descriptions of risks and uncertainties described below. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, or
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Operations

The COVID-19 pandemic and related global economic impacts have adversely affected our business and are expected to
continue to adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The global outbreak of COVID-19 was
declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization and a national emergency by the U.S. Government in March 2020 and has
negatively affected the U.S. and global economy. In response to this pandemic, federal, state, county and local governments and
public health organizations and authorities around the world have implemented a variety of measures intended to control the
spread of the virus including quarantines, “stay-at-home” orders, travel restrictions, school closures, business limitations and
closures, social distancing, and hygiene requirements. While some of these measures have been lifted or eased in certain
jurisdictions, other jurisdictions have seen increases in new COVID-19 cases, resulting in restrictions being reinstated or new
restrictions being imposed. There continues to be considerable uncertainty regarding such measures and potential future
measures. These measures have adversely affected workforces, customers, economies, and global supply chains, and resulted in
significant travel and transport restrictions. It has also disrupted the normal operations of many businesses, including ours.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented measures aimed at limiting its spread for the health and safety of our
employees, customers, and the communities in which we live and work as well as in accordance with orders and decrees of
governmental agencies. These measures included closures of physical offices, employee furloughs, reductions in force, increased
social distancing mandates, remote working and prohibiting non-essential travel. Many of these actions remain in effect to
varying degrees although we may implement new or revise existing requirements as circumstances require. The actions and
reactions to voluntary and involuntary requirements have been highly disruptive to our business and may continue to be
disruptive. As physical offices are allowed to reopen, the rules and regulations for reopening will likely increase in complexity,
making compliance more difficult. Furthermore, if employees perceive the protocols and requirements we implement to create a
safe and effective work environment to be inadequate, overly burdensome or no longer necessary, employees may choose to
leave, productivity may decline or we may experience employee absenteeism, unrest, slowdowns, stoppages or other demands,
we may fail to timely meet customer demand or fulfill orders, the costs to maintain or implement protective measures or deliver
our products may increase, and we may be subject to increased litigation, including occupational safety and condition claims.

Additionally, a segment of our employees continues to work remotely as a result of the pandemic. Remote working arrangements
could increase operational risks, including risks associated with information technology and systems, including service
interruptions, misappropriation of data, or breaches of security, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business. Working outside of the typical work environment may also introduce additional complexity or inefficiency into our
normal processes for key areas like the preparation of financial statements or marketing and sales, which could negatively impact
our business.

The COVID-19 pandemic has also significantly increased economic uncertainty and has led to continued disruption and volatility
in the global capital markets, which could increase the cost of capital and adversely impact access to capital. While unlikely to be
drawn upon given our current liquidity position, to maintain this position we have access to our new $5.00 million cash secured
credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., which we entered into in July 2021, or we could incur other indebtedness
through the issuance of debt securities. An increase in our outstanding indebtedness will result in additional interest expense. We
may also seek to conserve cash by delaying capital expenditures, which could negatively impact our operations.
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The pandemic has also interfered with general commercial activity related to our supply chain, including our raw material and
components sources. We experienced instances of suppliers temporarily closing their operations, delaying order fulfillment, or
limiting their production, impacting our supply chain and ability to produce finished goods and deliver them to our customers. In
our Online Channels segment, our primary transactional website, charlesandcolvard.com, has remained open and shipped
products to our consumers throughout the pandemic, but in the early months of the shutdown at the beginning of the pandemic
during our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020, was restricted to available stock, the limited production capacity of then-
functioning suppliers, and shipping restrictions. Since that period of time, with the change in worldwide consumer shopping
habits during the pandemic and throughout our fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, charlesandcolvard.com has demonstrated strong
sales performance, which we believe is consistent with the growth in global e-commerce sales. While we expect consumer
shopping patterns to continue to change, there is no guarantee that these global online buying habits will continue at the same
level or at the same rate of year-over-year growth. In our Traditional segment, our brick-and-mortar customers began closing
their stores to foot traffic in March 2020 and the re-opening of these stores has been measured and has resulted in a weakening of
the retail sector throughout much of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We have also experienced instances of our distributor
network reducing or closing their operations during certain phases of the pandemic, impacting our ability to maintain significant
levels of sales through our wholesale sales customers. While we have seen somewhat of a strengthening in these sectors during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, there is no assurance this growth will continue in future financial reporting periods. In
addition, jewelry and gemstone trade shows, jewelry industry events, and finished jewelry product demonstrations have begun to
be re-scheduled in time for the critical production season leading up to the calendar year-end 2021 holiday season. However, with
recent increases in new COVID-19 cases in many jurisdictions and regions around the world, this pattern could result in business
and travel restrictions being reinstated or new restrictions being imposed. There is no guarantee that this pattern of a return to
industry-related events will continue and there is considerable uncertainty regarding such measures and the potential adverse
impact that such future measures could have on these events and on the retail jewelry industry as a whole. As a result, our selling
activities and our ability to convert those activities into sales have been, and we expect may continue to be, adversely impacted
by the pandemic. While we have seen business strengthen in both our Online Channels segment and Traditional segment during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, our business, financial condition, and results of operations are expected to continue to be
adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic until business resumes – and the U.S. and global economies return – to pre-
pandemic levels.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts us will depend on numerous evolving factors and future developments that
are uncertain and that we are not able to predict at this time. These factors include: the severity, duration and scope of the
pandemic and the governmental, business, individual and other actions taken in response thereto; the effect on our suppliers and
distributors, and disruptions to the global supply chain; the impact on economic activity; the extent and duration of the impact on
Traditional segment partner confidence and order placements; the effect on consumer demand and purchasing behavior as
pandemic-related restrictions are curtailed or lifted, remote working declines and discretionary spending patterns shift and our
ability to timely and effectively respond to any resulting decreases or increases in demand; the effect of any closures or other
changes in operations of our and our suppliers’ and distributors’ facilities; the health of and the effect on our employees and our
ability to meet staffing needs in our manufacturing and distribution facility and other critical functions, particularly if employees
become ill, are quarantined as a result of exposure or are reluctant to show up for work; our ability to sell our products worldwide
and provide customer support, including as a result of travel restrictions, work from home requirements and arrangements and
other restrictions or changes in behavior or preferences for interactions; data privacy and cybersecurity risks from new or
expanded use of remote working; the impact of remote working arrangements on our financial reporting systems and internal
control over financial reporting; restrictions or disruptions to transportation, including reduced availability of ground, sea or air
transport; the ability of our distributors, retailers, third party customers and consumers to pay for our products; the effect of the
fair value measurement of certain assets or liabilities; the effect on our ability to access capital on favorable terms and continue to
meet our liquidity needs; and the diversion of management as they focus on the short- and long-term ramifications of the
pandemic. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business as a
result of any economic recession that has occurred or may continue for the foreseeable future. The COVID-19 pandemic could
also exacerbate or trigger other risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, any of which could have a material and
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Additionally, any comparisons of our financial
results for the financial reporting periods of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 (or future financial reporting periods) to previous
financial reporting periods may not be a useful means by which to evaluate the health of our business and our results of
operations because of the pandemic’s broad and significant but non-uniform impact to our business.
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We continue to monitor the pandemic, have actively implemented updated policies and procedures to address the current business
and economic environment, and may adjust our current policies and procedures as more information and guidance become
available to address the ongoing and evolving situation. We cannot at this time predict the full impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, but we anticipate that the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to continue to impact our business, financial condition, results
of operations and/or cash flows in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

Our future financial performance depends upon increased consumer acceptance, growth of sales of our products, and
operational execution of our strategic initiatives. We believe that most consumers are not generally aware of the existence and
attributes of moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds and that the consumer market for moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds,
and finished jewelry featuring both moissanite and lab grown diamonds remains in the early stages of development. The degree
of future market acceptance and demand is subject to a significant amount of uncertainty. Our future financial performance will
depend, in part, upon greater consumer acceptance of moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds as an ethically sourced,
affordable, luxurious alternative to other gemstones, such as a mined diamond, and our ability to develop brands and execute
strategic initiatives, in particular, our Online Channels segment, to grow our sales and operating income. As we execute our
strategy to build and reinvest in our business, significant expenses and investment of cash will be required going forward and this
may adversely affect our operating income. If we are unable to execute and achieve desired revenue levels, we may adjust our
strategic initiatives in response to the results of our investments.

In addition, consumer acceptance may be affected by retail jewelers’ and jewelry manufacturers’ acceptance of moissanite
jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry featuring both moissanite and lab grown diamonds. The quality, design, and
workmanship of the jewelry settings, whether manufactured by us or other manufacturers, could affect both consumers’
perception and acceptance of our products and costs incurred by returns and markdowns. Additionally, as other competitors enter
the market, the lower quality of competitors’ gemstones could negatively impact consumer perception of moissanite jewels and
lab grown diamonds, and in turn, acceptance of our jewels.

Thus, our future financial performance may be affected by:

• Our ability to develop and promote the Charles & Colvard brands, such as Forever One™, Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®, and Caydia®, all of
which are used in finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds, which may in part drive interest and demand for moissanite
jewelry at the consumer level;

• Our ability to differentiate Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and Caydia® from competing products, including competitive moissanite and
the rapidly emerging lab grown diamond industry;

• Our ability to operationally execute our digital marketing strategy for our Online Channels segment;

• Our continued ability and the ability of manufacturers, designers, and retail jewelers to select jewelry settings that encourage consumer acceptance
of and demand for our moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry;

• Our ability to understand our consumer market segment and effectively market to them a compelling value proposition that leads to converted
customers;

• Our ability to continue our relationship with Cree in order to sustain our supply of high-quality SiC crystals;

• The continued willingness and ability of our jewelry distributors and other jewelry suppliers, manufacturers, and designers to market and promote
Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and Caydia® to the retail jewelry trade;

• The continued willingness of distributors, retailers, and others in our distribution channels to purchase loose Forever One™, Charles & Colvard
Created Moissanite®, and Caydia® as well as their continued willingness of manufacturers, designers, and retail jewelers to undertake setting of
the loose jewels;

• Our continued ability and the ability of jewelry manufacturers and retail jewelers to set loose moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds in
finished jewelry with high-quality workmanship; and
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• Our continued ability and the ability of retail jewelers to effectively market and sell finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds
to consumers.

Our business and our results of operations could be materially adversely affected as a result of general economic and market
conditions. Our business, including our sales volumes and overall profitability, could be adversely impacted by disruptions in
global financial markets, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence,
declines in economic growth, increased unemployment rates, and uncertainty about economic stability including the increased
risk of global trade tensions. We are unable to predict the likely duration and severity of the effects of these disruptions in the
financial markets and the adverse global economic conditions, and if economic conditions deteriorate, our business and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected. The consequences of such adverse effects could include interruptions or
delays in our suppliers’ performance of our contracts, reductions and delays in customer purchases, delays in or the inability of
customers to obtain financing to purchase our products, and bankruptcy of customers and/or suppliers.

Luxury products, such as fine jewelry, are discretionary purchases for consumers. Recessionary economic cycles, higher interest
rates, higher fuel and energy costs, inflation, levels of unemployment, conditions in the residential real estate and mortgage
markets, access to credit, consumer debt levels, unsettled financial markets, and other economic factors that may affect consumer
spending or buying habits could materially and adversely affect demand for our products. In addition, volatility in the financial
markets has had and may continue to have a negative impact on consumer spending patterns. A reduction in consumer spending
or disposable income may affect us more significantly than companies in other industries and could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We face intense competition in the worldwide jewelry industry. The jewelry industry is highly competitive and we compete with
numerous other jewelry products. In addition, we face competition from mined diamonds, lab-created (synthetic) diamonds, other
lab grown diamonds, other moissanite products, and simulants. A substantial number of companies supply products to the jewelry
industry, many of whom we believe have greater financial resources than we do. Competitors could develop new or improved
technologies, including those for lab grown diamonds, that may render the price point for our moissanite and our lab grown
diamonds noncompetitive, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

With the launch of our Caydia® product line, we believe that our entry into the lab grown diamond market could be a potential
threat to - and increase competition for - our core moissanite products. While our moissanite gemstones and finished jewelry set
with moissanite generally have different price points than those of our Caydia® product line, any cannibalization of moissanite
product sales resulting from sales of our lab-created diamonds could have an adverse impact on sales of our moissanite jewels
and finished jewelry set with moissanite.

We have previously relied on our patent rights and other intellectual property rights to maintain our competitive position. Our
U.S. product and method patents for moissanite jewels expired in 2015 and most of our patents in foreign jurisdictions expired in
2016 with only one in Mexico that expired in 2021. Since the expiration of our product and method patents we have noted new
providers of moissanite and competitive products entering the market. As our pending patent rights and other pending intellectual
property rights are approved, we will continue to rely on these patents and our carefully executed brand awareness and digital
marketing campaigns to build our consumer relationships and maintain our competitive position going forward. If, however, we
are unable to successfully build strong brands for our moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry featuring
moissanite and lab grown diamonds or competition grows faster than expected, we may not have commercially meaningful
protection for our products or a commercial advantage against our competitors or their competitive products or processes, which
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

A failure of our information technology, or IT, infrastructure or a failure to protect confidential information of our customers
and our network against security breaches could adversely impact our business and operations. We rely upon the capacity,
reliability, and security of our IT infrastructure and our ability to expand and continually update this infrastructure in response to
the changing needs of our business related to the deployment, integration, and management of new technology. For example, we
regularly implement new IT systems and update payment gateways that support our Online Channels segment. As we implement
and integrate new systems, as well as retire and de-integrate existing systems, the IT operating environment following such
changes may not perform as expected. We also face the challenge of supporting our older systems and implementing necessary
upgrades. If we experience a problem with the functioning of an important IT system or a security breach of our IT systems, the
resulting disruptions could have an adverse effect on our business.
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In addition, we and certain of our third-party vendors receive and store personal information associated with our sales operations
and other aspects of our business. In connection with our e-commerce business, we rely on encryption and authentication
technology licensed from third parties to effect secure transmission of confidential information, including credit card numbers.
Our disclosure controls and procedures address cybersecurity and include elements intended to ensure that there is an analysis of
potential disclosure obligations arising from security breaches. We also maintain compliance programs to address the potential
applicability of restrictions against trading while in possession of material, nonpublic information generally and in connection
with a cybersecurity breach. The breakdown in existing controls and procedures around our cybersecurity environment may
prevent us from detecting, reporting or responding to cyber incidents in a timely manner and could have a material adverse effect
on our financial position and value of our Company’s stock. Despite our implementation of security measures, our IT systems
and e-commerce business are vulnerable to damages from computer viruses, natural disasters, unauthorized access, cyber-attack,
and other similar disruptions. An increasing number of websites and Internet companies have reported breaches of their security.
Any such compromise of our security could damage our reputation, business, and brand and expose us to a risk of loss or
litigation and possible liability, which could substantially harm our business and results of operations. In addition, anyone who is
able to circumvent our security measures could misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our operations,
damage our computers or those of our customers, or otherwise damage our reputation and business. These issues are likely to
become more difficult as we expand the number of countries in which our e-commerce website operates. We may need to expend
significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches.

For example, in 2016, the European Union, or E.U., Parliament approved the new E.U. data protection legal framework known as
the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR. The GDPR, which became effective in May 2018, replaced previously
existing regulations and thereby extended the scope of E.U. data protection law to all non-E.U. companies processing data of
E.U. residents. The GDPR contains numerous requirements and changes from prior E.U. law, including more robust obligations
on data processors, greater rights for data subjects, and heavier documentation requirements for data protection compliance
programs. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the E.U., including to the U.S., and recent
legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding such transfers of personal data from the E.U. to
the U.S. For example, in July 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union, or the CJEU, invalidated the E.U.-U.S. Privacy
Shield framework, or Privacy Shield, one of the mechanisms used to legitimize the transfer of personal data from the E.U. to the
U.S. The CJEU decision also drew into question the long-term viability of an alternative means of data transfer, the standard
contractual clauses, for transfers of personal data from the E.U. to the U.S. While we were not self-certified under the Privacy
Shield, this CJEU decision may lead to increased scrutiny on data transfers from the E.U. to the U.S. generally and increase our
costs of compliance with data privacy legislation. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens and any penalties imposed by,
such international and domestic laws, regulations and policies could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

We are subject to certain risks due to our international operations, distribution channels and vendors. We have continued to
expand our direct international sales operations, with international net sales accounting for approximately 5% of total
consolidated net sales during Fiscal 2021. We also currently have numerous international wholesale distributors and retail sales
channels covering portions of Canada, the U.K., Western Europe, Australia and New Zealand, Southeast Asia, the Middle East,
and the Greater China Region. In addition, we use certain companies based outside the U.S. to facet our moissanite jewels and to
manufacture finished jewelry. We plan to continue to increase marketing and sales efforts and anticipate expanding our direct
international sales in addition to continuing to serve international distributors. Any international expansion plans we choose to
undertake will increase the complexity of our business, require attention from management and other personnel and cause
additional strain on our operations, financial resources and our internal financial control and reporting functions. Further, our
expansion efforts may be unsuccessful as we have limited experience selling our products in certain international markets and in
conforming to the local cultures, standards or policies necessary to successfully compete in those markets. In addition, we may
have to compete with retailers that have more experience with local markets. Our ability to expand and succeed internationally
may also be limited by the demand for our products, the ability to successfully transact in foreign currencies, the ability of our
brand to resonate with consumers globally and the adoption of online or Internet commerce in these markets. Different privacy,
censorship and liability standards and regulations, and different intellectual property laws in foreign countries may also prohibit
expansion into such markets or cause our business and results of operations to suffer. Through our planned international
expansion and our continued reliance on development of foreign markets and use of foreign vendors, we are subject to the risks
of conducting business outside of the U.S.
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These risks include the following:

• the adverse effects on U.S.-based companies operating in foreign markets that might result from war; terrorism; changes in diplomatic, trade,
or business relationships (including labor disputes); or other political, social, religious, or economic instability;

• an outbreak of a contagious disease, such as COVID-19, which may cause us or our distributors, vendors, and/or customers to temporarily
suspend our or their respective operations in the affected city or country;

• the continuing adverse economic effects of any global financial crisis;

• unexpected changes in, or impositions of, legislative or regulatory requirements;

• delays resulting from difficulty in obtaining export licenses;

• international regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers and restrictions, including the consequences of U.S. led tariff actions;

• the burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws and regulations, including foreign taxation and varying consumer and data protection
laws, and other factors beyond our control, and the risks of non-compliance;

• longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

• our reliance on third-party carriers for product shipments to our customers;

• risk of theft of our products during shipment;

• limited payment, shipping and insurance options for us and our customers;

• difficulties in obtaining export, import or other business licensing requirements;

• customs and import processes, costs or restrictions;

• the potential difficulty of enforcing agreements with foreign customers and suppliers; and

• the complications related to collecting accounts receivable through a foreign country’s legal or banking system.

In particular, there is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the U.S. and various other countries,
with respect to trade policies, treaties, government regulations, and tariffs. For example, the recent imposition of tariffs and/or
increase in tariffs on various products by the U.S. and other countries, including China and Canada, have introduced greater
uncertainty with respect to trade policies and government regulations affecting trade between the U.S. and other countries, and
new and/or increased tariffs have subjected, and may in the future subject, us to additional costs and expenditure of resources.
Major developments in trade relations, including the imposition of new or increased tariffs by the U.S. and/or other countries, and
any emerging nationalist trends in specific countries could alter the trade environment and consumer purchasing behavior which,
in turn, could have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations. While the U.S. and China signed a
“phase one” trade deal in 2020, to reduce planned increases to tariffs, concerns over the stability of bilateral trade relations
continue to exist, and in some cases, have heightened in 2021. In addition, the U.K.’s exit from the European Union in January
2020, known as Brexit, and the ongoing negotiations of the future trading relationship between the U.K. and the European Union
have yet to be completely finalized. Accordingly, the ultimate outcome and long-term impacts for the U.K. or Europe remain
uncertain. Ongoing changes and uncertainties related to Brexit continue to subject us to heightened risks in that region, including
disruptions to trade and free movement of goods, services and people to and from the U.K., disruptions to the workforce of our
business partners, increased foreign exchange volatility with respect to the British pound and additional legal, political and
economic uncertainty. If these actions impacting our international distribution and sales channels result in increased costs for us
or our international partners, such changes could result in higher costs to us, adversely affecting our operations, particularly as we
expand our international presence.
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Additionally, while substantially all of our foreign transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars, foreign currency fluctuations
could impact demand for our products or the ability of our foreign suppliers to continue to perform. Further, some of our foreign
distributors operate relatively small businesses and may not have the financial stability to assure their continuing presence in their
markets. There can be no assurance that the foregoing factors will not adversely affect our operations in the future or require us to
modify our anticipated business practices.

Our business and our results of operations could be materially adversely affected as a result of our inability to fulfill orders on
a timely basis. As sales of our loose moissanite and lab grown diamond gems increase, including our Forever One™, Moissanite
by Charles & Colvard®, and Caydia® gemstones, availability of certain shapes and sizes may be at risk. In addition, finished
jewelry has a large variety of styles of which we maintain on-hand stock for such core designs as stud earrings, solitaire and
three-stone rings, pendants, and bracelets; and made-to-order under strict deadlines for certain wholesale and direct-to-consumer
e-commerce outlets. We must adequately maintain relationships, forecast material and product demand, and operate within the
lead times of third parties that facet jewels and manufacture finished jewelry settings to ensure adequate on-hand quantities and
meet shipment requirements for customer orders in a timely manner. In addition, we are currently dependent upon certain
vendors for most of the faceting of our loose gems. If any or all of these vendors were to cancel their arrangements with us, we
could experience a disruption in our operations and incur additional costs to procure faceting services from a replacement vendor.
The inability to fulfill orders on a timely basis and within promised customer deadlines could result in a cancellation of the orders
and loss of customer goodwill that could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and may continue to cause, us or our distributors, vendors, and/or
customers to temporarily suspend our or their respective operations and have an adverse impact on our ability to fulfill orders on
a timely basis.

We are currently dependent on a limited number of distributor and retail partners in our Traditional segment for the sale of
our products. A significant portion of the moissanite jewels and finished jewelry featuring moissanite that we sell are distributed
through a limited number of distributors and retail partners in our Traditional segment, and therefore, we are dependent upon
these companies for distribution of our products. Our three largest customers collectively accounted for approximately 31% and
33% of our net sales during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As we continue to build our finished
jewelry business, we anticipate in the near term that a significant portion of the moissanite jewels and finished jewelry featuring
moissanite that we sell through our Traditional segment will continue to be to a limited number of distributors and retailers.

We may experience quality control challenges from time to time that can result in lost revenue and harm to our brands and
reputation.  Part of our strategy for success is to align Charles & Colvard with reputable, high-quality, and sophisticated strategic
partners. The achievement of this goal depends in large part on our ability to provide customers with high-quality moissanite and
finished jewelry featuring moissanite. Although we take measures to ensure that we sell only the best quality products, we may
face quality control challenges, which could impact our competitive advantage. There can be no assurance we will be able to
detect and resolve all quality control issues prior to shipment of products to our distributors, manufacturers, retailers, and end
consumers. Failure to do so could result in lost revenue, lost customers, significant warranty and other expenses, and harm to our
reputation.

Seasonality of our business may adversely affect our net sales and operating income. Sales in the retail jewelry industry are
typically seasonal due to increased consumer purchases during the calendar year-end holiday season. Because historically we
have primarily sold our loose moissanite jewels and finished jewelry featuring moissanite at wholesale pricing to distributors,
manufacturers, and retailers, our sales to support the holiday season have largely taken place during the third and beginning of the
fourth calendar quarters, depending on the sales channel and the level of advance planning and production our customers
undertook. As sales of our finished jewelry featuring moissanite to retailers and directly to consumers increase, both in dollars
and as a percentage of total sales, our results for the three months in the calendar quarter ending December 31 of each year may
depend upon the general level of retail sales during the holiday season as well as general economic conditions and other factors
beyond our control. In anticipation of increased sales activities during the three months in the calendar quarter ending December
31 of each year, we may incur significant additional expenses and increases in our finished jewelry inventory levels to support
expected sales in the second half of the calendar year.
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In recent years, we have experienced a higher degree of seasonality in the three months ending December 31 than we have
experienced in prior years primarily as a result of the calendar year-end holiday season sales to end consumers through our
Online Channels segment and as a result of increased sales through our brick-and-mortar retailers within our Traditional segment.
Our quarterly results of operations may continue to fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including seasonal cycles, the
timing of new product introductions, the timing of orders by our customers, and the mix of product sales demand, and these
factors may significantly affect our results of operations in a given quarter.

Our operations could be disrupted by natural disasters. We conduct substantially all of our activities, including executive
management, manufacturing, packaging, and distribution activities, at one North Carolina location.  Although we have taken
precautions to safeguard our facility, including obtaining business interruption insurance, any future natural disaster, such as a
hurricane, flood or fire, could significantly disrupt our operations and delay or prevent product shipment during the time required
to repair, rebuild or replace our facility, which could be lengthy and result in significant expenses. Furthermore, the insurance
coverage we maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses in any particular case or continue to be available at commercially
reasonable rates and terms. In addition, the vendors that perform some of the faceting of our loose moissanite jewels are located
in regions that are susceptible to tsunamis, flooding, and other natural disasters that may cause a disruption in our vendors’
operations for sustained periods and the loss or damage of our work-in-process inventories located at such vendors’ facilities.
Damage or destruction that interrupts our ability to deliver our products could impair our relationships with our customers.
Prolonged disruption of our services as a result of a natural disaster may result in product delivery delays, order cancellations,
and loss of substantial revenue, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

Sales of moissanite and lab grown diamond jewelry could be dependent upon the pricing of precious metals, which is beyond
our control. Any increases in the market price of precious metals (primarily gold) could affect the pricing and sales of jewelry
incorporating moissanite jewels and lab grown diamonds. The majority of price increases in precious metals are passed on to the
end consumer in the form of higher prices for finished jewelry. These higher prices could have a negative impact on the sell-
through of moissanite and lab grown diamond jewelry at the retail level. From 2007 through 2021, the price of gold has increased
significantly, resulting in higher retail price points for gold jewelry. Accordingly, higher gold prices could have an adverse impact
on both sales of moissanite and lab grown diamond finished jewelry and the jewelry industry as a whole.

Our current customers may potentially perceive us as a competitor in the finished jewelry business. As described above, we are
currently dependent on a limited number of customers, including distributors and retailers, for the sale of our products in the
Traditional segment. Our design, manufacture, and marketing of finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds
for sale to distributors and retailers may result in some of these current customers perceiving us as a competitor, despite our
efforts to use primarily non-conflicting sales channels. In response, these customers may choose to reduce their orders for our
products. This reduction in orders could occur faster than our sales growth in this business, which could materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We depend on a single supplier for substantially all of our SiC crystals, the raw materials we use to produce moissanite jewels;
if our supply of high-quality SiC crystals is interrupted, our business may be materially harmed. We are party to an exclusive
supply agreement with Cree, which we depend on for the provision of substantially all of the SiC material we use to produce
moissanite jewels. Under the terms and conditions of the Supply Agreement, we agreed to purchase from Cree, and Cree agreed
to supply, all of our required SiC material, subject to terms and conditions that allow us to purchase certain amounts of SiC
materials from third parties under limited conditions. The Supply Agreement is set to expire in 2025, but may be further extended
upon mutual agreement of the parties to the Supply Agreement.  If our supply of high-quality SiC crystals is interrupted, then we
may not be able to meet demand for moissanite jewels and our business may be materially and adversely affected. Cree has
certain proprietary rights relating to its process for growing large single crystals of SiC and its process for growing colorless and
near-colorless SiC crystals. There is no guaranty that we would be able to obtain similar quality SiC crystals from another
provider. There can be no assurance that Cree will be able to continue to produce and supply us with SiC crystals of sufficient
quality, sizes, and volumes that we desire or that we will be able to continue to negotiate future purchase commitments at
acceptable prices that enable us to manage our inventories and raw material costs effectively.
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If the e-commerce opportunity changes dramatically or if e-commerce technology or providers change their models, our
results of operations may be adversely affected. As e-commerce emerges as one of our primary selling channels, our business
model becomes more reliant on third-party platforms to achieve success. Should our products, product listings, or business not
meet the requirements of certain third-party transactional channels such as marketplaces, comparison shopping engines, or social
commerce sites, it may affect our ability to meet our revenue targets. Additionally, Amazon.com, Inc., eBay Inc., Walmart.com,
Gemvara, a Berkshire Hathaway Inc. Company, or other desirable e-commerce platforms may decide to make significant changes
to their respective business models, policies, systems, or plans, and those changes could impair or inhibit our ability to sell our
products through those channels. Further, a significant change in consumer online behavior or the introduction of new or
disruptive technology could adversely affect overall e-commerce trends and diminish the value of investments we have made in
select online channels. Any of these results could cause a significant reduction in our revenue and have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations.

Governmental regulation and oversight might adversely impact our operations. We are subject to governmental regulations in
the manufacture and sale of moissanite jewels and finished jewelry. In particular, in July 2018 the FTC issued updated guidelines
governing the description of lab-grown diamonds and other gemstones that require such gemstones to be clearly identified as to
the gemstone’s lab-grown origin in any promotional or marketing materials. In addition, the precious metal in our finished
jewelry may be subject to requirements, which vary by country and by state, such as hallmarking and alloy content. We may be
under close scrutiny both by governmental agencies and by competitors in the gemstone industry, any of which may challenge
our promotion and marketing of our moissanite jewels and finished jewelry products. While we have a policy to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations, if our production or marketing of moissanite jewels and/or finished jewelry is challenged
by governmental agencies or competitors, or if regulations are issued that restrict our ability to market our products, our business,
results of operations, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Financial Position

The execution of our business plans could significantly impact our liquidity.  The execution of our business plans to expand our
Online Channels segment and global market opportunities, as well as to create required inventory of our Forever One™,
Moissanite by Charles & Colvard®, and Caydia® gemstones, requires significant investment of our resources, which may reduce
our cash position. Should we fail to execute on our business plans, we could see delays in the return of cash from our
investments, resulting in a decrease in our liquidity. Under our $5.00 million cash collateralized line of credit facility, or the
JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility, that we obtained from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., effective July 7, 2021, failure to comply
with the covenants and defaults contained in the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility or any other instrument or document executed
in connection with the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility could restrict our ability to draw on such facility. In addition, we currently
have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the SEC that allows us to periodically offer and sell,
individually or in any combination, shares of common stock, shares of preferred stock, warrants to purchase shares of common
stock or preferred stock, and units consisting of any combination of the foregoing types of securities, up to a total of $25.00
million, of which all is available. However, we may offer and sell no more than one-third of our public float (which is the
aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates) in any 12-month period. Further,
if we would be unable to access the capital markets or issue equity securities on terms that are acceptable to us or at all, our cash,
cash equivalents, and restricted cash and other working capital may be constrained to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure needs. Given our current liquidity position, it is unlikely that we would not be able to draw on the JPMorgan Chase
Credit Facility, which matures on July 31, 2022. There is no guarantee of extension or renewal in connection with the terms and
conditions of the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility.

The financial difficulties or insolvency of one or more of our major customers or their lack of willingness and ability to
market our products could adversely affect results. We are subject to a concentration of credit risk amongst our major customers
(some of whom are distributors), and a default by any of these customers on their amounts owed to us could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position. Future sales and our ability to collect accounts receivable depend, in part, on the financial
strength of our customers and our distributors’ willingness and ability to successfully market our products. We estimate an
allowance for accounts for which collectability is at risk and this allowance adversely impacts profitability. In the event
customers experience greater than anticipated financial difficulties, insolvency, or difficulty marketing products, we expect
profitability to be further adversely impacted by our failure to collect accounts receivable in excess of the amount due, net of the
estimated allowance. In these circumstances, we may demand the return of product sold to such customers, resulting in an
increase in inventory and a reduction in accounts receivable. Uncertainty in the current economic environment, as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, constrained access to capital, the impact of inflation on our currency, and general market contractions has
heightened, and may continue to heighten, our exposure to customer default and generate lower than expected distributor sales.
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Negative or inaccurate information on social media could adversely affect our brand and reputation. We are actively using
various forms of digital and social media outreach to accomplish greater awareness of our brand and the value proposition we
offer. These social media platforms and other forms of Internet-based communications allow access not only by us, but by any
individual, to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. Consumers value readily available information
concerning goods that they have or plan to purchase; however, they may act on such information without further investigation or
authentication. Many social media platforms, including those relating to recruiting and placement activities, immediately publish
the content of their participants’ posts, often without filters or checks on accuracy of the content posted. While we actively
monitor social media sites, we may be unable to quickly and effectively respond to or correct inaccurate and/or unfavorable
information posted on social media platforms.  Any such information may harm our reputation or brand, which could in turn
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We rely on assumptions, estimates and data to calculate certain of our key metrics and real or perceived inaccuracies in such
metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business. We believe that certain metrics are key to our business,
including but not limited to average order value, or AOV, and revenue growth for charlesandcolvard.com, our primary
transactional website. As both the industry in which we operate and our business continue to evolve, so too might the metrics by
which we evaluate our business. While the calculation of these metrics is based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates,
our internal tools are not independently verified by a third party and may have a number of limitations and, furthermore, our
methodologies for tracking these metrics may change over time. We continue to improve upon our tools and methodologies to
capture data and believe that our current metrics are accurate; however, the improvement of our tools and methodologies could
cause inconsistency between current data and previously reported data, which could confuse investors or lead to questions about
the integrity of our data. In addition, if the internal tools we use to track these metrics under-count or over-count performance or
contain algorithm or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. Accordingly, you should not place undue
reliance on these metrics.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm the value of our products and brands
and adversely affect our business. We rely primarily on patent, copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws, as well as
confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only
limited protection. We held U.S. product and method patents for moissanite jewels, which expired in 2015, under which we
believed that we had broad, exclusive rights to manufacture, use, and sell moissanite jewels in the U.S. We had these same
patents in 25 foreign jurisdictions primarily across Asia and Europe that expired in 2016 and one in Mexico that expired in 2021.
However, our product and method patent expirations have enabled competitors and other businesses to duplicate and market a
similar product and enter the marketplace. Without patent protection, we must rely primarily on our branding strategy and the
Supply Agreement under which Cree supplies SiC crystals exclusively to us, as well as confidentiality procedures, to protect our
proprietary rights, which may or may not be sufficient. In addition, at the present time, we are primarily dependent on Cree’s
technology for the production of SiC crystals. There can be no assurance that any patents issued to or licensed by or to us will
provide any significant commercial protection, that we will have sufficient resources to protect our respective patents and
proprietary rights, that any additional patents will be issued in the future, or that any existing or future patents will be upheld by a
court should we seek to enforce our rights against an infringer.

The existence of valid patents does not prevent other companies from independently developing competing technologies.
Existing producers of SiC crystals or others may refine existing processes for growing SiC crystals or develop new technologies
for growing large single crystals of SiC or colorless SiC crystals in a manner that does not infringe any patents issued to or
licensed by or to us. Accordingly, existing and potential competitors have been able to develop products that are competitive with
or superior to certain of our products, and such competition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

In addition, we have certain trademarks and pending trademark applications that support our moissanite and lab grown diamond
branding strategy. The success of our growth strategy may depend on our continued ability to use our existing brand names in
order to increase consumer awareness and further develop strong brands around our moissanite jewels and finished jewelry
collections. We cannot assure that any future trademark or other registrations will be issued for pending or future applications or
that we will be able to obtain licenses or other contractual rights to use brand names that may infringe the proprietary rights of
third parties. We also cannot assure that any registered or unregistered trademarks or other intellectual property or contractual
rights will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights. Our inability to secure proprietary protection
with respect to our brands could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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We also cannot be certain that our products and brand names do not or will not infringe valid patents, trademarks, and other
intellectual property rights held by third parties. We may be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time relating to
the intellectual property of others in the ordinary course of our business. Litigation to determine the validity of any third party’s
claims could result in significant expense and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, whether or not such
litigation is determined in our favor. In the event of an adverse result of any such litigation, we could be required to expend
significant resources to develop non-infringing technology or to obtain licenses for, and pay royalties on the use of, the
technology subject to the litigation. We have no assurance that we would be successful in such development or that any such
license would be available on commercially reasonable terms.

If we fail to evaluate, implement, and integrate strategic acquisition or disposition opportunities successfully, our business
may suffer. From time to time, we evaluate strategic opportunities available to us for product, technology, or business
acquisitions or dispositions. If we choose to make acquisitions or dispositions, we face certain risks, such as failure of an
acquired business to meet our performance expectations, failure to recognize cost savings from a disposition, diversion of
management attention, retention of management and existing customers of our current and any acquired business, and difficulty
in integrating or separating a business’s operations, personnel, and financial and operating systems. We may not be able to
successfully address these risks or any other problems that arise from future acquisitions or dispositions. Any failure to
successfully evaluate strategic opportunities and address risks or other problems that arise related to any acquisition or
disposition could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our PPP Loan eligibility and forgiveness remains subject to review for compliance with applicable SBA requirements. On
June 18, 2020, we received the proceeds from a loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the CARES Act, as
administered by the SBA. Our loan in the principal amount of $965,000, or the PPP Loan, was disbursed by Newtek Small
Business Finance, LLC, or the Lender, a nationally licensed lender under the SBA, pursuant to the Promissory Note issued by us
on June 15, 2020. Pursuant to Section 1106 of the CARES Act, on June 14, 2021, we applied for forgiveness of our PPP Loan.
On June 23, 2021, we were granted forgiveness by the SBA for the full principal amount of the PPP Loan.

In accordance with applicable eligibility requirements to receive the PPP Loan and for compliance with the forgiveness
requirements of Section 7(a)(36) and Section 7A of the Small Business Act, we must retain all records relating to our PPP Loan
for a period of six years from the date the loan was forgiven. During this period, our PPP Loan eligibility and loan forgiveness
application are subject to review and audit by the SBA. While we made our certification for loan eligibility in good faith after
analyzing, among other things, our financial situation and access to alternative forms of capital, and believe that we satisfied all
eligibility criteria for the PPP Loan and that our receipt of the PPP Loan was consistent with the broad objectives of the Paycheck
Protection Program of the CARES Act, the certification described above did not contain any objective criteria and is subject to
interpretation. If, despite our good faith belief that we satisfied all eligibility requirements for the PPP Loan, we are found to have
been ineligible to receive the PPP Loan or in violation of any of the laws or regulations that apply to us in connection with the
PPP Loan, including the False Claims Act, we may be subject to penalties, including significant civil, criminal, and
administrative penalties and could be required to repay the PPP Loan. Now that we have applied for and have been granted
forgiveness of our PPP Loan by the SBA, we were also required to make certain certifications in connection with that application
for forgiveness, which are subject to audit and review by governmental entities and could subject us to significant penalties and
liabilities if found to be inaccurate. A review or audit by the SBA or other government entity or claims under the False Claims
Act could consume significant financial and management resources. Any of these events could harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

Some anti-takeover provisions of our charter documents may delay or prevent a takeover of our company. A number of
provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws impact matters of corporate governance and the rights of shareholders.
Certain of these provisions have an anti-takeover effect and may delay or prevent takeover attempts not first approved by our
Board of Directors (including takeovers that certain shareholders may deem to be in their best interests). These provisions also
could delay or frustrate the removal of incumbent directors or the assumption of control by shareholders. We believe that these
provisions are appropriate to protect our interests and the interests of all of our shareholders.
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Our failure to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements could result in the delisting of our common
stock. Our common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market. In order to maintain this listing, we must satisfy
minimum financial and other requirements. On three separate occasions in the past five years, including on one occasion in Fiscal
2021, we have received notification letters from Nasdaq indicating that we were not in compliance with listing requirements
because the minimum bid price of our common stock closed below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days. However,
Nasdaq subsequently notified us that in all instances we had regained compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. If we
fail to satisfy Nasdaq’s listing requirements in the future, we expect to take actions to regain compliance, but we can provide no
assurance that any such action would prevent our common stock from dropping below the Nasdaq minimum bid price
requirement or prevent future non-compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. If our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq,
the delisting could substantially decrease trading in our common stock and adversely affect the market liquidity of our common
stock; adversely affect our ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms, if at all; and may result in the potential loss of
confidence by investors, suppliers, customers, and employees and fewer business development opportunities. Additionally, the
market price of our common stock may decline further and shareholders may lose some or all of their investment.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We currently lease approximately 36,350 square feet of office, storage, and light manufacturing space in Research Triangle Park,
North Carolina, from an unaffiliated third-party that is used by both of our current operating and reportable business segments.

The majority of all U.S. personnel, including our executive offices, sales offices, and administrative personnel, as well as our
production and distribution facilities are housed in our current leased space.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

There are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CTHR.” As of August 27, 2021, there were 231
shareholders of record of our common stock.

We did not pay any dividends on our common stock during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. We will regularly
review and consider the best policies and practices for our company, including the dividend policy. The payment of future
dividends will be dependent on the facts and circumstances at the time of that review.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or MD&A, is intended
to provide a better understanding of our consolidated financial statements, including a brief discussion of our business and
products, key factors that impacted our performance, and a summary of our operating results. This information should be read in
conjunction with Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Historical results and percentage
relationships among any amounts in the consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of trends in operating
results for future periods.

Business Overview

Our Mission

At Charles & Colvard, Ltd., our mission is to redefine the definition of real within the jewelry industry and for consumers
everywhere. We believe fine jewelry can be accessible, beautiful, and conscientious.

About Charles & Colvard

Charles & Colvard, Ltd., a North Carolina corporation founded in 1995 (which may be referred to as Charles & Colvard, we, us,
or our) is a globally recognized fine jewelry company specializing in lab created gemstones. We manufacture, market, and
distribute Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® (which we refer to as moissanite or moissanite jewels) and in September
2020, we announced our expansion into the lab grown diamond market with the launch of Caydia®, an exclusive brand of
premium lab grown diamonds. We offer gemstones and finished jewelry featuring our proprietary moissanite jewels and premium
lab grown diamonds for sale in the worldwide fine jewelry market. Charles & Colvard is the original source of created
moissanite, and in 2015, we debuted Forever One™, our premium moissanite gemstone brand. As an e-commerce and multi-
channel destination for fine jewelry featuring lab grown gemstones, we believe that the addition of lab grown diamonds is a
natural progression for the Charles & Colvard brand.

We sell loose moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry set with these gems through two operating segments:
our Online Channels segment, which encompasses our digital properties components, comprised of our charlesandcolvard.com
and moissaniteoutlet.com websites, e-commerce outlets, including marketplaces, drop-ship customers, and other pure-play,
exclusively e-commerce customers; and our Traditional segment, which consists of domestic and international distributors and
retail customers. We report segment information based on the “management” approach. This segment reporting approach
designates the internal reporting used by management for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the source of
our operating and reportable segments.

We operate in an e-commerce environment characterized by both complexity in global markets and ongoing economic
uncertainties in the U.S. and internationally. Our strategy is to build a globally revered and accessible brand of gemstones and
finished fine jewelry products set with moissanite and lab grown diamonds. We believe that our goods appeal to a wide
consumer audience and leverage our advantage of being the original and leading worldwide source of moissanite and purveyor
of premium lab grown diamonds. We believe a direct relationship with consumers is an important component to this strategy,
which entails delivering tailored educational content, engaging in interactive dialogue with our audience, and positioning our
brand to meet the demands of today’s discerning consumer. A significant component of our strategy in this environment is to
focus on our core products, improving the quality and predictability of the delivery of our products and services, and placing
those products quickly into the hands of our U.S. and international customers at affordable prices. Moreover, recognizing today
that our customers and vendors are resource constrained, we are endeavoring to develop and extend our portfolio of products in
a disciplined manner with a focus on domestic markets close to our core capabilities, as well as growing our global marketplace
sales. We continue to focus on affordability initiatives. We also expect to continue innovating and investing in lab created
gemstone technologies to fulfill evolving product requirements for our customers and investing in our people so that we have
the technical and production skills necessary to succeed without limiting our ability to build sound financial returns to our
investors.
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We believe our expanding application of an omni-channel sales strategy across the fine jewelry trade and to the end consumer
with accessible gemstones and value branded finished jewelry featuring Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® and Caydia®
lab grown diamonds positions our products at the many touchpoints where consumers are when they are making their buying
decisions – thereby continuing to create greater exposure for our brand and increasing consumer demand.

COVID-19

In March 2020, the novel strain of coronavirus, known as COVID-19, was declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organization and declared a national emergency by the U.S. Government, and has continued to negatively affect the U.S. and
global economies. In response to the pandemic, federal, state, county and local governments, and public health organizations and
authorities around the world have implemented a variety of measures intended to control the spread of the virus including
quarantines, “stay-at-home” orders, travel restrictions, school closures, business limitations and closures, social distancing, and
hygiene requirements. While some of these measures have been lifted or eased in certain jurisdictions, other jurisdictions have
seen increases in new COVID-19 cases, resulting in restrictions being reinstated or new restrictions being imposed. There
continues to be considerable uncertainty regarding such measures and potential future measures.

We have continued taking measures to protect the health and safety of our employees, including updating our return-to-work
policies, as necessary, working with our customers and suppliers to minimize disruptions, and supporting our community in
addressing the challenges posed by this ongoing global pandemic. During Fiscal 2021, we experienced impacts in our business
related to COVID-19, primarily in continued increased coronavirus-related costs, interruptions in supplier deliveries, impacts of
travel and delivery restrictions, site access and quarantine restrictions, and the impacts of remote work and adjusted work
schedules.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to present business challenges and we expect these to continue into Fiscal 2022. We have
executed plans to reintroduce employees to the workplace as vaccine rates increase and COVID-19 cases decrease. Although, in
light of the recent increase in infections due to evolving viral variants, we have not yet returned to pre-pandemic workforce levels
in our workplace, and we are experiencing stabilization of employee attendance in our operations and distribution facilities and
throughout our supply chain. A segment of our corporate staff continues working a blend of remote and in-person work schedules
and we are taking measures to facilitate the provision of vaccines to our employees in line with state and local guidelines. We
also continue working with our customers and suppliers to minimize disruptions, including at times accelerating payments to key
suppliers that are due by their terms in future periods. We expect to continue accelerating payments to our suppliers in some cases
into Fiscal 2022.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic did not have a significant adverse impact on our financial results in Fiscal 2021, the ultimate
impact of COVID-19 on our operations and financial performance in future periods, including our ability to execute our strategic
initiatives in the expected timeframes, remains uncertain and will depend on future pandemic related developments, including the
duration of the pandemic, any potential subsequent waves of COVID-19 and its variant viral infections, the effectiveness,
distribution and acceptance of COVID-19 vaccines, and related government actions to prevent and manage disease spread, all of
which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. We cannot at this time predict the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but we
anticipate that the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to continue to impact our business, financial condition, results of operations
and/or cash flows in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

At the onset of the pandemic, we successfully applied for and received the proceeds from a PPP Loan pursuant to the Paycheck
Protection Program under the CARES Act, as administered by the SBA. Our PPP Loan in the principal amount of $965,000 was
disbursed by our Lender pursuant to a Promissory Note issued by us on June 15, 2020. In accordance with applicable provisions
of the CARES Act, effective June 23, 2021, our PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full
principal of the PPP Loan in the amount of $965,000. The full amount of the gain in connection with the extinguishment of the
underlying debt, including the forgiveness of accrued and unpaid interest in the amount of approximately $9,000, was recognized
in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

We took advantage of available COVID-19 related payroll tax credits for certain wages and paid leave provided by us during the
pandemic. A portion of these eligible tax credits are determined by qualified emergency paid sick and expanded family and
medical leave wages pursuant to the Families First Coronavirus Response Act, or FFCRA, which had positive impact on our cash
from operations in Fiscal 2021. In addition, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, provides that employers who received a
PPP loan may also qualify for the Employee Retention Credit (the “ERC”). Previously, pursuant to the CARES Act, taxpayers
that received a PPP loan were not eligible for the ERC and this change is retroactive to March 27, 2020. We believe that we
qualify for certain employer-related tax benefits pursuant to the ERC and expect to amend our applicable federal payroll tax
returns for such benefit. Further, as permitted by the NC COVID-19 Relief Act, we expect to receive an incremental tax credit
towards our contributions to the North Carolina Unemployment Insurance Fund. Accordingly, we will recognize any payroll tax
credits related to these federal and state legislative actions in the period such benefits are received.
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Currently, we are conducting business with certain modifications. In accordance with recent Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, or CDC, and the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, or the NCDHHS, guidelines related to
maximizing protection from the spread and infection of the Delta variant of COVID-19, we are requiring all employees,
contractors, and visitors to wear masks and practice physical distancing while onsite, regardless of vaccination status. We believe
that our employees and contractors continue to play a critical role in our COVID-19 prevention and mitigation efforts for the
Company as well as for our community at large.

Recent modifications to our COVID-19 return-to-work policy include but are not limited to the following: all employees,
contractors, and visitors are encouraged to clean and sanitize all work surfaces, including personal office or cubicle areas; office
common areas will be cleaned nightly, and floors and carpets will be cleaned as necessary; and currently, we are not mandating
that employees, contractors, and visitors receive the COVID-19 vaccine or that non-fully vaccinated individuals provide evidence
of negative COVID-19 test results in order to enter our facilities.

At this time, and until further notice, the following precautionary steps and procedures within our policy remain in place. Prior to
entry to our facilities, all employees, contractors, and visitors (regardless of vaccination status) are required to comply with the
following: complete a COVID-19 symptom screening questionnaire; properly wear a mask; take a thermal body temperature
scan; and practice social distancing at all times within the facility, including designated common areas. We are supplying all
employees, contractors, and visitors with face masks and latex gloves for their personal use, and we have established a designated
quarantine room to isolate any employee, contractor, or visitor who may be experiencing COVID-19-like symptoms while in our
facilities. Given our office’s square footage, we intend to continue to observe recommended governmental guidelines related to
occupancy and capacity restrictions.

Regardless of vaccination status, any employees, contractors, or visitors presenting with symptoms of COVID-19 or who have
tested positive for the COVID-19 virus may only return to our facilities once ten days have passed since symptoms of COVID-19
first appeared, at least 24 hours have passed with no fever (without the use of fever-reducing medications), and any other
COVID-19 symptoms (i.e., loss of taste or smell) continue improving. Employees, contractors, or visitors who may have been
exposed to COVID-19, but remain asymptomatic, are able to return to work after receiving a negative COVID-19 test result
three-to-five days following a known exposure or 14 days since the last contact with an individual who was presumed to have or
had COVID-19.

Our current return-to-work policy is tentative and subject to change based on federal, state, or local governmental guidance as
well as the evolution of the pandemic itself. Going forward, we plan to continue monitoring the development and progression of
COVID-19 and its variant infections in our state and local geographical area. If we believe such policy changes are warranted, we
intend to consider and plan to take appropriate actions at that time.

As global and U.S economic activity continues evolving in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the risk of constraints
on our cash and working capital, including experiencing potential liquidity challenges, remains in the forefront of our working
capital management practices. Despite our cost-saving efforts, many business and operating expenses have remained flat or
continued to rise. Cash flow management will remain crucial for our business in the months ahead and we intend to monitor
fluctuations in our revenues that could impact our ongoing cash flow from operations We continue to focus on being more nimble
in managing our inventory levels given the uncertainty in the supply chain, which may also place further demands on working
capital.

Our outlook remains subject to the various risks and uncertainties in connection with the pandemic and is based on assumptions
that management believes in good faith are reasonable, but which may be materially different from actual results. Currently, we
believe there are multiple factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements in this
Form 10-K, including our strategic goals for Fiscal 2022 set forth in Our Strategic Outlook, included in Part I, Item 1,
“Business”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These factors include, but are not limited to: our ability to face the challenges
posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and implementation of any such related response plans; fluctuations in COVID-19 cases in the
U.S. and the extent that geography of outbreak primarily matches the regions in which we and our principal business partners
operate; the resiliency and potential adverse impacts on our various consumer end-use markets; the potential negative impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on our ability to continue producing and supplying finished goods and related services at normal levels
or at all; the duration, impact and severity of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, including the markets in
which we do business, our suppliers, customers or other business partners as well as our employees; the economic impact of
government responses to the pandemic; the performance of the U.S. economy, including the impact on the economy of the
COVID-19 pandemic and governmental orders restricting activities imposed to prevent further outbreak of viral infections; and
the resulting economic events beyond our control.
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We believe that our management has taken – and continues to take – swift and appropriate action designed to hedge against the
overall impact that the pandemic may have on our business, to prepare for a potential recessionary environment, and to efficiently
manage the business while maintaining adequate liquidity and maximum operating flexibility. We remain focused on three
critical areas of wellbeing, including safeguarding the health and safety of our employees, streamlining operations while ensuring
support of our brand and customers, and maintaining our financial strength and stability as we move forward into Fiscal 2022.

Highlights of the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, we delivered on several key initiatives, which we believe leaves us well poised for
future growth as we move forward into the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. These accomplishments in fiscal year ended June
30, 2021, include the following:

• Expansion of Digital Presence. During Fiscal 2021, we remained focused on our digital marketing advertising strategy that includes a high-
conversion consumer targeting plan coupled with lower marketing funnel activities. We believe that the success we’ve seen targeting consumers
with whom we have already engaged – and who have expressed interest in our products – continues to be a more effective use of our digital
advertising spend and provides a more immediate return on our marketing investment. We believe this strategy is critical to our top line growth as
we move forward into Fiscal 2022. In addition, during Fiscal 2021, we expanded our presence on available social media channels such as TikTok,
and rolled out new social media programming shows on Facebook Live and Instagram Live. In March 2021, we launched moissaniteoutlet.com,
which is a product disposition channel that we believe complements our global positioning and dominance in the moissanite gemstone market.
Our website, moissaniteoutlet.com, is an e-commerce shopping destination that caters to the opportunistic and bargain-seeking consumer base for
our moissanite products;

• Enhanced Customer Experience. This fiscal year we expanded our virtual consultation services that we introduced last year, by adding additional
expert jewelry consultants to our team that provides us with broader availability to make it easier for consumers to schedule personal consultive
services. This is a personal shopping concierge service where we offer a customized virtual experience designed to simplify the ring buying
process for our customers. This customer support service offers deeper personalization and a more immersive shopping experience for our
consumers. We also launched our Macy’s in-store program in Fiscal 2021 to reach and service more customers who are seeking to see, touch, and
feel our products when shopping. As consumers are returning to in-store shopping, we believe this is a critical component of our omnichannel
marketing strategy, which places our products where the customer is actually shopping. Lastly, in September we upgraded the online shopping
experience on charlesandcolvard.com, our primary transactional website. These online modifications provide new and improved functionality as
well as a new look and feel to our website. We believe that offering these ongoing enhanced customer experiences, particularly those featuring
virtual personal shopping opportunities, are important for the growth of our brand. We also believe that these options remain relevant and
important to our customers when social distancing practices are – and will likely remain – in place throughout the U.S. and much of the world;

• Product Development. In Fiscal 2021, we expanded our patented Signature Collection of Forever One™ moissanite jewelry assortment to include
emerald, elongated cushion, and radiant cut gemstones. Previously, these gems and unique cuts were not available in our Signature Collection line
of products. In September 2020 we launched Caydia®, an exclusive brand of premium lab grown diamonds and jewelry. We believe our premium
lab grown diamonds provide us access to serve a broader and completely new segment of the gemstone audience and customer base that is
predisposed to shopping for a real diamond. Throughout Fiscal 2021, we continued to expand our Caydia® lab grown diamond jewelry assortment
with new styles as well as additional gemstone cuts. Currently, our exclusive brand of Caydia® lab grown diamonds are available in round, oval,
cushion, emerald, and princess cuts; and
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• Disciplined Growth. We capitalized on the change in the global consumer behavior and buying habits that developed during the past year as
shoppers turned to online shopping and e-commerce purchasing opportunities as the world evolved and learned to live with the restrictions
imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic. We achieved stability and improved technical access to our shopping platforms, which resulted in a strong
shopping foundation that supports our omnichannel marketing strategy. We also developed and initiated a new strategic relationship and business
partnership with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., that includes a new $5.00 million cash collateralized line of credit facility that may be used for
general corporate and working capital purposes. We believe this new commercial banking and financial relationship provides a foundation for us
to solidify our strategic and financial objectives and is a basis for us to expand our financial capabilities going forward.

As we move forward into Fiscal 2022, our strategic focus remains centered on the health and growth of our brand on a global
scale. We will continue to execute on our key strategies with an ongoing commitment to measured spending and generating
sustainable earnings improvement.
 
Further, as we continue managing through these challenging and unprecedented times, we plan to remain highly focused on
prudently developing the reach of our brand – both domestically and internationally – through select digital marketing initiatives
that align with consumer engagement and demand. We continue to believe that our long-term mission will ultimately be
accomplished through our ability to remain fluid and shift brand awareness strategies that are sensitive and responsive to these
ever-changing times.

Our MD&A generally discusses Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal
2020. Discussions of Fiscal 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between Fiscal 2020 and the fiscal year ended June 30,
2019, or Fiscal 2019, that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results or Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 filed
with the SEC on September 4, 2020.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Net sales  $ 39,235,839  $ 29,189,020 
Costs and expenses:         

Cost of goods sold   20,809,690   21,200,207 
Sales and marketing   8,476,716   9,443,244 
General and administrative   4,441,441   4,861,297 

Total costs and expenses   33,727,847   35,504,748 
Income (Loss) from operations   5,507,992   (6,315,728)
Other income (expense):         

Gain on extinguishment of debt   974,328   - 
Interest income   5,581   158,091 
Interest expense   (8,953)   (884)
Loss on foreign currency exchange   (603)   (1,829)

Total other income (expense), net   970,353   155,378 
Income (Loss) before income taxes   6,478,345   (6,160,350)
Income tax benefit (expense)   6,332,421   (1,733)
Net income (loss)  $ 12,810,766  $ (6,162,083)
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Consolidated Net Sales

Consolidated net sales for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 comprise the following:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Finished jewelry  $ 24,401,546  $ 16,777,628  $ 7,623,918   45%
Loose jewels   14,834,293   12,411,392   2,422,901   20%

Total consolidated net sales  $ 39,235,839  $ 29,189,020  $ 10,046,819   34%

Consolidated net sales were $39.24 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to $29.19 million for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $10.05 million, or 34%. In addition to the adverse impact that the COVID-19 pandemic had
on consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the increase in consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 compared with consolidated net sales for the prior fiscal year was also principally due to robust calendar year-end
holiday sales during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020, coupled with strong February Valentine’s Day sales and March
St. Patrick’s Day sales during our fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2021. These higher sales for Fiscal 2021 were also related to
increased consumer awareness and ongoing strong demand for our moissanite jewels, lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry
featuring both moissanite and lab grown diamonds. These increases resulted in higher finished jewelry product net sales during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 in both our Online Channels segment and Traditional segment. One of the most profound
changes in consumer buying habits over the past fiscal year was the shift to digital channels shopping from the more traditional
brick-and-mortar platforms. We believe the COVID-19 pandemic accelerated this shift toward e-commerce, as consumers
worldwide became more reliant on the digital channel while in isolation. Accordingly, we saw strong increases in our Online
Channels segment net sales in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. As consumer confidence strengthened during the second half
of Fiscal 2021, net sales in our Traditional segment increased over this period driven by stronger loose jewel sales in our
distributor network. However, these increased loose jewel net sales in our Traditional segment were offset in part due to lower
international sales during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

Sales of finished jewelry represented 62% and 57% of total consolidated net sales for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020, respectively. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, finished jewelry sales were $24.40 million compared to $16.78
million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $7.62 million, or 45%. This increase in finished jewelry sales was
due primarily to higher finished jewelry sales of Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® and our Signature Collection line of products
in our Online Channels segment as well as in our Traditional segment. Net sales of our Moissanite by Charles & Colvard® and
our Signature Collection finished jewelry and loose jewels represented 15% and 9%, respectively, of total net sales for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021, compared to that of 11% and 7%, respectively, for the prior fiscal year.

Sales of loose jewels represented 38% and 43% of total consolidated net sales for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, loose jewel sales were $14.83 million compared to $12.41 million for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $2.42 million, or 20%. The increase for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was
primarily a result of higher sales of loose jewels through our domestic distributors. However, these increased loose jewel sales
were offset somewhat by lower sales of loose jewels through the international distribution network in our Traditional segment.

U.S. net sales accounted for approximately 95% and 92% of total consolidated net sales during the fiscal years ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively. U.S. net sales increased during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 principally as a result of
increased sales to U.S. customers in both our Online Channels segment and Traditional segment.

Our largest U.S. customer during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 accounted for 13% of total consolidated net sales
during each of the respective periods then ended. Likewise, our second largest U.S. customer during the fiscal years ended June
30, 2021 and 2020 accounted for 12% of total consolidated net sales during each of the respective periods. It should be noted that
our largest and second largest customers in Fiscal 2021 were our second largest and largest customers, respectively, in Fiscal
2020. We expect that we will remain dependent on our ability, and that of our largest customers, to maintain and enhance retail
and wholesale programs. A change in or loss of any of these customers or retailer relationships could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations.
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International net sales accounted for approximately 5% and 8% of total consolidated net sales during the fiscal years ended June
30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. International net sales decreased to $2.01 million, or 15%, during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2021 compared to $2.37 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. International sales decreased during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021, compared to the prior fiscal year primarily as a result of lower demand in our international distributor market,
which was partially offset by growth in our direct-to-consumer presence internationally reflecting solid direct-to-consumer sales
from our Online Channels segment in international markets. In light of the effects of ongoing global economic conditions and as
the world continues to recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, we continue to evaluate these and other potential distributors in
international markets to determine the best long-term partners. As a result, and in light of the ongoing worldwide pandemic and
international trade challenges, we expect our sales in these markets to continue to fluctuate significantly each reporting period.

We did not have an international customer account for 10% or more of total consolidated sales during the fiscal years ended June
30, 2021 and 2020. A portion of our international consolidated sales represents jewels sold internationally that may be re-
imported to U.S. retailers.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Product line cost of goods sold:             

Finished jewelry  $ 11,272,012  $ 7,469,790  $ 3,802,222   51%
Loose jewels   6,857,755   6,062,186   795,569   13%

Total product line cost of goods sold   18,129,767   13,531,976   4,597,791   34%
Non-product line cost of goods sold   2,679,923   7,668,231   (4,988,308)   (65)%

Total cost of goods sold  $ 20,809,690  $ 21,200,207  $ (390,517)   (2)%

Total cost of goods sold was $20.81 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to $21.20 million for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020, a net decrease of approximately $391,000, or 2%. Product line cost of goods sold is defined as product cost
of goods sold in each of our Online Channels segment and Traditional segment excluding non-capitalized expenses from our
manufacturing and production control departments, comprising personnel costs, depreciation, rent, utilities, and corporate
overhead allocations; freight out; inventory write-offs; and other inventory adjustments, comprising costs of quality issues, and
damaged goods.

The decrease in total cost of goods sold for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 as compared to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020 was driven primarily by the prior year write-off during the quarter ended March 31, 2020, of approximately $5.26 million
representing the carrying value of our legacy loose jewel inventory and finished goods inventory set with these legacy gemstones.
This decrease in cost of goods sold for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, was offset in part by higher cost of goods sold
principally driven by increased sales of finished jewelry, which reflect higher material and labor costs, in both our Online
Channels segment and Traditional segment as a result of strong product demand during the year.

The net decrease in non-product line cost of goods sold for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 comprises a $5.71 million lower
change in inventory valuation adjustments principally related to the prior fiscal year’s write-off of the carrying cost of the
Company’s legacy material inventory of $5.26 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as well as other inventory
valuation adjustments related to changes in obsolescence reserves in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, compared to those in the
prior fiscal year. This decrease in non-product line cost of goods sold was offset in part by a $503,000 increase in freight out
principally from increased shipments resulting from substantial Online Channels segment sales growth during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021; a $147,000 increase in non-capitalized manufacturing and production control expenses in the current year
principally due to the timing when work-in-process goods are received into inventory and applicable overhead costs are
allocated; and an approximate $76,000 change in other inventory adjustments primarily relating to adverse changes in production
standard cost variances compared to those during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
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For further discussion of non-product line cost of goods sold, see Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
             
Sales and marketing  $ 8,476,716  $ 9,443,244  $ (966,528)   (10)%

Sales and marketing expenses were $8.48 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to $9.44 million for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2020, a decrease of approximately $967,000, or 10%.

The decrease in sales and marketing expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020 was primarily due to a $1.31 million decrease in compensation-related expenses; a $164,000 decrease in professional
services fees principally comprising non-recurring consulting services for cybersecurity and merchandising imaging incurred in
the prior year; a $26,000 decrease in travel expenses as a result of COVID-19 cost-control measures; and a $1,000 net decrease in
miscellaneous other general sales and marketing expenses. These decreases were partially offset by a $282,000 increase in
advertising and digital marketing expenses; an $84,000 increase in software-related costs principally in connection with
maintenance agreements as well as other software-related agreements; an $83,000 increase in general office-related expenses,
which are principally related to higher credit card transaction fees from increased online sales levels; a $69,000 increase in
depreciation and amortization expense relating to capitalized costs associated with information technology-related upgrades; and
a $17,000 increase in employment-related recruiting fees.

Compensation expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 decreased
primarily as a result of a $1.25 million decrease in salaries, commissions, and related employee benefits in the aggregate as a
result of our June 2020 management reorganization and workforce reduction; a $76,000 decrease in employee-related severance
costs recognized in the prior year which also was a result of our June 2020 management reorganization and workforce reduction;
and a $68,000 decrease in employee stock-based compensation expense associated with the modification of terms for certain
participant stock options in Fiscal 2020 that resulted in the recognition of higher stock compensation expense in the prior fiscal
year. These decreases were partially offset by an $84,000 increase in bonus expense reflecting improved operating results in the
current year that impacts this performance-based compensation-related benefit.

The increase in digital marketing expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020 was primarily due to a $766,000 increase in Internet marketing costs and a $20,000 increase in print media expenses. Both
increases reflect changes in our overall social media and print marketing strategies during Fiscal 2021 compared with those in
Fiscal 2020. These increases were partially offset by a $386,000 decrease in outside agency fees, also as a consequence of
modifications in our marketing strategy and reliance on internal resources during the current year; a $111,000 decrease in
cooperative advertising; and a $7,000 decrease in promotion-related expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
             
General and administrative  $ 4,441,441  $ 4,861,297  $ (419,856)   (9)%

General and administrative expenses were $4.44 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to $4.86 million for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, a decrease of approximately $420,000, or 9%.
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The decrease in general and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020 was primarily due to a $428,000 decrease in professional services; a $206,000 decrease in compensation-related
expenses; a $7,000 decrease in bad debt expense associated with our allowance for doubtful accounts reserve policy; and a
$1,000 net decrease in miscellaneous other general and administrative expenses. These decreases were partially offset by a
$58,000 increase in rent expense, primarily related to our corporate headquarters operating lease amendment that was executed in
January 2021; a $50,000 increase in software-related costs principally in connection with maintenance agreements as well as
other software-related agreements; a $38,000 increase in housing allowances and travel-related expenditures; a $30,000 increase
in insurance expenses principally related to higher renewal premiums; a $20,000 increase in bank charges as a result of
transaction fees associated with increased online transactions; a $14,000 increase in Board member retainer fees due to the
temporary reduction in fees paid to our Board of Directors in connection with cost control measures implemented during the
COVID-19 pandemic in the prior year; a $9,000 increase in depreciation and amortization expense; and a $3,000 increase in
business taxes and licenses.

Professional services fees decreased for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020
primarily due to a $283,000 decrease in legal fees resulting from non-recurring non-capitalized fees incurred in connection with
our underwritten public offering and corporate governance matters in the prior year; a $101,000 decrease in consulting and other
professional services primarily in connection with accounting department support in the prior year; and a $66,000 decrease in
investor relations fees. These decreases were partially offset by a $22,000 increase in fees associated with audit and tax services
in the current year.

Compensation expenses decreased for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020
primarily due to a $282,000 decrease in severance expenses recognized in the prior year related to our June 2020 management
reorganization and workforce reduction; a $184,000 decrease in salaries and related employee benefits in the aggregate which
also was a result of our June 2020 management reorganization and workforce reduction; and a $54,000 decrease in employee
stock-based compensation expense associated with the modification of terms for certain participant stock options in Fiscal 2020
that resulted in the recognition of higher stock compensation expense in the prior fiscal year. These decreases were offset in part
by a $314,000 increase in bonus expense reflecting improved operating results in Fiscal 2021 that impacts this performance-
based compensation-related benefit.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

Gain on extinguishment of debt for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Gain on extinguishment of debt  $ 974,328  $ -  $ 974,328   100%

On June 18, 2020, we received the proceeds from our Paycheck Protection Program Loan, or the PPP Loan, pursuant to the
Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, as
administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration, or SBA. The PPP Loan in the principal amount of $965,000 was
disbursed by Newtek Small Business Finance, LLC, or the Lender, pursuant to a promissory note, or the Promissory Note, dated
June 15, 2020. During the period of time that the principal under the Promissory Note was outstanding, we accounted for the
Promissory Note as debt within the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In accordance with applicable provisions of
the CARES Act, effective June 23, 2021, our PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full
principal of the PPP Loan in the amount of $965,000. The full amount of interest expense to-date in the amount of approximately
$9,000 that the Company recognized during the period the principal of the PPP Loan was outstanding was also forgiven by the
SBA. Accordingly, the full amount of the gain in connection with the extinguishment of this debt, including the benefit from the
forgiveness of the inception to-date interest expense, was recognized in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
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Interest Income

Interest income for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Interest income  $ 5,581  $ 158,091  $ (152,510)   (96)%

In June 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering of 6,250,000 shares of our common stock, which together with the
partial exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option for an additional 630,500 shares in July 2019, resulted in net proceeds
of approximately $9.99 million. The net proceeds from this offering, along with excess operating cash, are deposited into and
maintained in an interest-bearing account with a federally insured commercial bank. Accordingly, during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, we earned interest from cash on deposit in this interest-bearing account. The decrease in earned interest
reflects adverse changes in interest rate fluctuations during Fiscal 2021 compared with Fiscal 2020.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Interest expense  $ 8,953  $ 884  $ 8,069   913%

In accordance with the terms of the Promissory Note, during the period of time the principal of the PPP Loan was outstanding
through June 23, 2021, we accrued interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum. Our accrual for interest expense associated with the
PPP Loan began June 18, 2020, the date we received the proceeds for the PPP Loan from our Lender. Likewise, we accrued
interest on the PPP Loan during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, through June 23, 2021, the date our PPP Loan was forgiven
by the SBA.

Loss on Foreign Currency Exchange

Loss on foreign currency exchange related to foreign sales transacted in functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   Dollars   Percent  
Loss on foreign currency exchange  $ 603  $ 1,829  $ (1,226)   (67)%

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we had international sales transactions denominated in currencies other
than the U.S dollar that resulted in foreign currency exchange net losses. The decrease in these losses reflects the lower level of
international sales denominated in foreign currencies as well as foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations during fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021 compared with those of the prior fiscal year.

Provision for Income Taxes

We recognized a net income tax benefit of approximately $6.33 million and a net income tax expense of approximately $2,000
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our income tax provisions in these periods contain estimated
taxes, penalties, and interest associated with uncertain tax positions.
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As of each reporting date, we consider new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact our view with regard to future
realization of deferred tax assets. Beginning in 2014, we determined that negative evidence outweighed the positive and
established a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets and we maintained such full valuation allowance through the
period ended June 30, 2020. However, as of June 30, 2021, cumulative positive taxable income over the last three tax years had
been generated in the U.S., as compared to the negative evidence of cumulative losses in previous years. We also determined that
our expectations of future taxable income in upcoming tax years, including estimated growth rates applied to future expected
taxable income that includes significant management estimates and assumptions, would be sufficient to result in full utilization of
our federal net operating loss carryforwards and certain of the deferred tax assets prior to any statutory expiration. As a result, we
determined that sufficient positive evidence exists as of June 30, 2021, to conclude that it is more likely than not deferred tax
assets of approximately $6.35 million are realizable, and we reduced our valuation allowance accordingly. The reduction of the
valuation allowances against these deferred tax assets was the main driver of the income tax benefit during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 of approximately $6.33 million. A valuation allowance remains against certain deferred tax assets primarily
relating to state net operating loss carryforwards from our e-commerce subsidiary due to the timing uncertainty of when it will
generate positive taxable income to utilize the associated deferred tax assets. In addition, a valuation allowance also remains
against certain deferred tax assets relating to operating loss carryforwards relating to our dormant subsidiary located in Hong
Kong.

Our statutory tax rate as of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 is 22.24% and consists of the federal income tax rate of 21% and a
blended state income tax rate of 1.24%, net of the federal benefit.

Certain Operating Metrics

We believe that certain metrics are key to our business, including but not limited to monitoring our average order value, or AOV.
We use the AOV computation in part to make strategic digital marketing related decisions and to monitor the performance and
return on investment of our marketing activities. Our AOV is based on financial results and customer-related data for
charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, our wholly owned subsidiary and through which we operate our primary transactional website. Our
calculation for AOV is sensitive to several factors, including sales volume and product mix. Therefore, we believe that this metric
may vary widely going forward as we respond to ever changing consumer demand and provide the products – that may have
widely variable price points – which our audiences are seeking.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, our AOV, based on charlesandcolvard.com revenue, net of returns, divided by the total
number of customer orders, is estimated to be approximately $1,000.

An additional metric that we use to manage charlesandcolvard.com operations and to make strategic digital marketing decisions
for our transactional website is period-over-period revenue growth. Accordingly, we believe this level of growth reinforces our
current year’s digital marketing program and affirms our decision to increase our investment in consumer-driven marketing
efforts in charlesandcolvard.com during Fiscal 2021. While we believe this metric is sensitive to many factors and may vary in
future periods, we expect to continue to monitor and base our marketing-related investments in part on charlesandcolvard.com
revenue growth going forward.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, we experienced a 45% year-over-year growth in charlesandcolvard.com revenue
compared to revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global and domestic economy remains uncertain and the world continues
adapting to the ongoing pandemic and evolving viral variants and its adverse effects on global economics and worldwide
business operations. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to place unprecedented pressures on global and U.S.
businesses including our own. Depending on future developments, including the success of the global vaccine efforts to control
the spread of the underlying virus and evolving variants, the pandemic could materially adversely impact our capital resources
and liquidity in the future. We remain increasingly focused on the COVID-19 pandemic and are continually evaluating its
potential effect on our business and liquidity and capital resources.

Capital Structure and Long-Term Debt

On June 18, 2020, we received the proceeds from the PPP Loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the CARES
Act, as administered by the SBA. The PPP Loan in the principal amount of $965,000 was disbursed by the Lender pursuant to a
promissory note, or the Promissory Note, issued by us on June 15, 2020. In accordance with applicable provisions of the CARES
Act, effective June 23, 2021, our PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full principal of the PPP
Loan in the amount of $965,000. The full amount of the gain in connection with the extinguishment of this debt, including the
forgiveness of accrued and unpaid interest of approximately $9,000, was recognized in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
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The CARES Act provided that existing AMT credit carryforwards were eligible for acceleration and refundable AMT credits
were to be completely refunded to companies for taxable years beginning in 2019, or by election, taxable years beginning in
2018. Accordingly, we elected to have our then existing AMT tax completely refunded and filed a refund claim for the remaining
portion of our AMT tax credit. Accordingly, the remaining balance of our AMT credit refund in the amount of approximately
$270,000 was completely refunded during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

We took advantage of available COVID-19 related payroll tax credits for certain wages and paid leave provided by us during the
pandemic. A portion of these eligible tax credits are determined by qualified emergency paid sick and expanded family and
medical leave wages pursuant to FFCRA. In addition, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, provides that employers who
received a PPP loan may also qualify for the Employee Retention Credit (the “ERC”). Previously, pursuant to the CARES Act,
taxpayers that received a PPP loan were not eligible for the ERC and this change is retroactive to March 27, 2020. We believe
that we qualify for certain employer-related tax benefits pursuant to the ERC and expect to amend our applicable federal payroll
tax returns for such benefit. Further, as permitted by the NC COVID-19 Relief Act, we expect to receive an incremental tax credit
towards our contributions to the North Carolina Unemployment Insurance Fund. Accordingly, we will recognize any payroll tax
credits related to these federal and state legislative actions in the period such benefits are received.

For further discussion of the effects of the CARES Act, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, and the NC COVID-19
Relief Act on our provision for income taxes and deferred tax assets, see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As a component of our liquidity and capital structure, we have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 on file with
the SEC that allows us to periodically offer and sell, individually or in any combination, shares of common stock, shares of
preferred stock, warrants to purchase shares of common stock or preferred stock, and units consisting of any combination of the
foregoing types of securities, up to a total of $25.00 million, of which all is available. However, we may offer and sell no more
than one-third of our public float (which is the aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates) in
any 12-month period.  Our ability to issue equity securities under the shelf registration statement is subject to market conditions,
which may be in turn, subject to, among other things, the potential disruption and volatility that may be caused by ongoing effects
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Any capital raise is not assured and may not be at terms that would be acceptable to us.

Financing Activities

In June 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering of 6,250,000 newly issued shares of common stock, at a price to the
public of $1.60 per share, pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3. Net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $9.06 million, net of the underwriting discount and fees and expenses. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting
agreement entered into in connection with this offering, the underwriters were granted a 30-day option to buy up to an additional
937,500 shares of our common stock to cover over-allotments. Pursuant to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment
option, in July 2019, we issued an additional 630,500 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.60 per share for net proceeds
of approximately $932,000, net of the underwriting discount and fees and expenses of approximately $77,000. After giving effect
to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option, we sold an aggregate of 6,880,500 shares of our common stock at a price of
$1.60 per share with total gross proceeds of approximately $11.01 million, before deducting the underwriting discount and fees
and expenses of approximately $1.02 million. Early during Fiscal 2020, we began using the aggregate net proceeds of
approximately $9.99 million from the offering for marketing and for general corporate and working capital purposes. In response
to the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on consumer confidence and spending, management drastically reduced related
advertising and digital marketing expenditures in mid-March 2020. However, we continue to monitor and adjust our advertising
and digital marketing and professional services expenditure levels to correspond to market changes. As a result, we increased
these expenditures during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and may continue seeing an increase in these expenditure levels
during Fiscal 2022 and beyond.

As discussed above, on June 18, 2020, we received the proceeds from the PPP Loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program
under the CARES Act, as administered by the SBA. The PPP Loan in the principal amount of $965,000 was disbursed by the
Lender pursuant to a Promissory Note issued by us on June 15, 2020. In accordance with applicable provisions of the CARES
Act, effective June 23, 2021, our PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full principal of the PPP
Loan in the amount of $965,000. The full amount of the gain in connection with the extinguishment of this debt, including the
forgiveness of accrued and unpaid interest of approximately $9,000, was recognized in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
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Operating Activities and Cash Flows

We require cash to fund our operating expenses and working capital requirements, including outlays for capital expenditures. As
of June 30, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity were cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash totaling $21.45 million, trade
accounts receivable of $1.66 million, and net current inventory of $11.45 million, as compared to cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash totaling $14.62 million, trade accounts receivable of $671,000, and net current inventory of $7.44 million as of
June 30, 2020. We also had access during Fiscal 2021 to a $5.00 million asset-based revolving credit facility with White Oak, or
the White Oak Credit Facility, which we terminated in accordance with its terms as of July 9, 2021. As described more fully
herein, effective July 7, 2021, we obtained from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., or JPMorgan Chase, a $5.00 million cash
collateralized line of credit facility, or the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility. Also as described more fully herein, we had long-term
debt in the form of a PPP Loan in the amount of $965,000, of which $193,000 was classified as current as of June 30, 2020.
Effective June 23, 2021, the Company’s PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full principal of
the PPP Loan in the amount of $965,000 as well as forgiveness of accrued and unpaid interest of approximately $9,000.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, our working capital increased by approximately $12.72 million to $30.14 million
from $17.42 million at June 30, 2020. As described more fully below, the increase in working capital at June 30, 2021 is
primarily attributable to an increase in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, principally resulting from cash provided by
our operations, increase in our allocation of inventory from long-term to short-term due to a higher expected sell through of
inventory on hand in the upcoming period, an increase in our accounts receivable, a decrease in our accounts payable, an increase
in connection with the issuance of a short-term note receivable, a decrease in the current portion of our long-term debt, resulting
from the forgiveness of our PPP Loan, and a decrease in our short-term operating lease liabilities. These factors were offset
partially by an increase in our accrued expenses and other liabilities and a decrease in our prepaid expenses and other assets.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, our working capital decreased by approximately $5.75 million to $17.42 million from
$23.17 million at June 30, 2019. As described more fully below, the decrease in working capital at June 30, 2020 is primarily
attributable to a decrease in our allocation of inventory from long-term to short-term, a decrease in accounts receivable, an
increase in short-term operating lease liabilities resulting from the adoption of the new lease accounting standard as of July 1,
2019, an increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities, an increase in accounts payable, and an increase in the current
maturity of our long-term debt. These factors were offset partially by an increase in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
resulting from cash provided by operating and financing activities and an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, approximately $6.47 million of cash was provided by our operations. The primary
drivers of our cash flows from operations were the favorable effect of net income in the amount of $12.81 million; an increase in
accrued expenses and other liabilities of $3.71 million; a decrease in inventory of $1.31 million; and an increase in accrued
income taxes in the amount of $2,000. These factors were offset partially by an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of
$3.14 million; an increase in accounts receivable of $955,000; and a decrease in accounts payable of $974,000. In addition, the
net effect of non-cash items included in net income totaling $6.29 million, driven by the benefit recognized for deferred income
taxes in the amount of approximately $6.35 million in connection with the release of our valuation allowance and the gain on
extinguishment of debt resulting from the forgiveness of our PPP Loan, including forgiveness of accrued and unpaid interest, in
the amount of approximately $974,000, also unfavorably impacted net cash provided by operating activities during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, approximately $249,000 of cash was provided by our operations. The primary drivers
underlying the cash provided by our operating activities were a decrease in accounts receivable of $1.32 million; a decrease in
prepaid expenses and other assets of $490,000; an increase in accounts payable of $469,000; and an increase in accrued expenses
and other liabilities of $109,000. In addition, non-cash items totaling $6.78 million also had a favorable impact on our cash flow
from operations during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. These factors were offset partially by the unfavorable effect of our
net loss in the amount of $6.16 million and an increase in inventory of approximately $2.76 million resulting from lower
quantities of inventory items sold as a result of lower period sales stemming from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, accounts receivable increased principally due to the increased level of sales during
the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared with the sales during the period leading up to June 30, 2020. As a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic, from time to time we offered extended Traditional segment customer payment terms beyond 90 days to
certain credit-worthy customers during Fiscal 2021 and the second half of Fiscal 2020. Because of the ongoing impact of the
pandemic on the global economy, the extension of these terms may not immediately increase liquidity as a result of ongoing
current-period sales, which we expect may continue to be pressured due to the effects of the ongoing pandemic. In addition, we
believe our competitors and other vendors in the wholesale jewelry industry have expanded their use of extended payment terms
and, in aggregate, we believe that, through our use of extended payment terms, we provide a competitive response in our market
during the current global economic environment. We believe that we are unable to estimate the impact of these actions on our net
sales, but we believe that if we ceased providing extended payment terms, we would be at a competitive disadvantage for some
Traditional segment customers in the marketplace during this economic period and that our net sales and profits would likely be
adversely impacted.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, prepaid expenses and other assets decreased principally as a result of the timing of
payments, primarily for insurance-related premium expenses, in advance of goods or services received. During the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021, accrued expenses and other liabilities increased principally as a result of the increase in our operating lease
liability associated with the new lease amendment for our corporate headquarters facilities that was executed in January 2021.
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, accounts payable decreased primarily as a result of the timing of payments for costs
associated with inventory-related purchases and professional services incurred. As a result of the pandemic, we have from time-
to-time paid certain vendor business partners in advance of their payment terms to secure and achieve supply chain needs.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, prepaid expenses and other assets increased principally as a result of the timing of
payments, principally for insurance-related expenses, in advance of goods or services received. During the fiscal year ended June
30, 2020, accounts payable increased primarily as a result of the timing of payment for costs associated with inventory-related
purchases and professional services incurred and due under our vendors’ payment terms. Likewise, accrued expenses and other
liabilities increased principally due to the severance accrual in connection with our June 2020 management reorganization and
workforce reduction as well as increases in deferred revenue related to payments received prior to shipment of good from
customers.

We manufactured approximately $7.63 million and $10.64 million in loose jewels and $12.72 million and $7.82 million in
finished jewelry, which includes the cost of the loose jewels and the purchase of precious metals and labor in connection with
jewelry production, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We expect our purchases of precious
metals and labor to fluctuate in conjunction with the levels of our finished jewelry business. In addition, the price of gold has
increased significantly over the past decade, resulting in higher retail price points for gold jewelry. Because the market price of
gold and other precious metals is beyond our control, the upward price trends could continue and have a negative impact on our
operating cash flow as we manufacture finished jewelry.

Historically, our raw material inventories of SiC crystals had been purchased under exclusive supply agreements with a limited
number of suppliers. Because the supply agreements restricted the sale of these crystals exclusively to us, the suppliers negotiated
minimum purchase commitments with us that, when combined with reduced sales levels during prior periods in which the
purchase commitments were in effect, have resulted in levels of inventories that are higher than we might otherwise maintain. As
of June 30, 2021 and 2020, $17.72 million and $23.19 million, respectively, of our inventories were classified as long-term
assets. Loose jewel sales and finished jewelry that we manufacture will utilize both the finished goods loose jewels currently on-
hand and, as we deplete certain shapes and sizes, our on-hand raw material SiC crystals of $1.78 million and new raw material
that we purchase pursuant to the Supply Agreement.

A more detailed description of our inventories is included in Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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We made income tax payments of approximately $15,000 and $2,000 during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. As of June 30, 2021, all of our remaining federal income tax credits had expired or been utilized, and therefore, are
not available to be carried forward to offset future income taxes. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, we had federal tax net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $19.00 million and $23.72 million, respectively, expiring between 2034 and 2037, or that
have no expiration, which can be used to offset against future federal taxable income; North Carolina tax net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $19.87 million and  $20.12 million, respectively, expiring between 2023 and 2035; and various
other state tax net operating loss carryforwards expiring between 2023 and 2040, which can be used to offset against future state
taxable income.

Contractual Commitment

On December 12, 2014, we entered into the Supply Agreement with Cree. Under the Supply Agreement, subject to certain terms
and conditions, we agreed to exclusively purchase from Cree, and Cree agreed to exclusively supply, 100% of our required SiC
materials in quarterly installments that must equal or exceed a set minimum order quantity. The initial term of the Supply
Agreement was scheduled to expire on June 24, 2018, unless extended by the parties. Effective June 22, 2018, the Supply
Agreement was amended to extend the expiration date to June 25, 2023. The Supply Agreement, as amended, also provides for
the exclusive production of our premium moissanite product, Forever One™ and provided us with one option, subject to certain
conditions, to unilaterally extend the term of the Supply Agreement for an additional two-year period following the expiration of
the initial term. In addition, the amendment to the Supply Agreement established a process by which Cree may begin producing
alternate SiC material based on our specifications that will give us the flexibility to use the materials in a broader variety of our
products, as well as to permit us to purchase certain amounts of SiC materials from third parties under limited conditions. On
August 26, 2020, the Supply Agreement was further amended, effective June 30, 2020, to extend the expiration date to June 29,
2025, which may be further extended by mutual agreement of the parties. The Supply Agreement was also amended to, among
other things, (i) spread our total purchase commitment under the Supply Agreement in the amount of approximately $52.95
million over the term of the Supply Agreement, as amended; (ii) establish a process by which Cree has agreed to accept purchase
orders in excess of the agreed-upon minimum purchase commitment, subject to certain conditions; and (iii) permit us to purchase
revised amounts of SiC materials from third parties under limited conditions. Our total purchase commitment under the Supply
Agreement, as amended, until June 2025 is approximately $52.95 million, of which approximately $32.85 million remains to be
purchased as of June 30, 2021.

For more information regarding the second amendment to our Supply Agreement, executed on August 26, 2020, see Note 10 to
our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we purchased approximately $3.78 million and $7.47 million, respectively,
of SiC crystals from Cree. Going forward, we expect to use existing cash and cash equivalents and access to other working
capital resources, including but not limited to the issuance of equity securities, together with future cash expected to be provided
by operating activities to finance our purchase commitment under the Supply Agreement, as amended.

Line of Credit

Effective July 7, 2021, we obtained from JPMorgan Chase our $5.00 million cash collateralized JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility.
The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility may be used for general corporate and working capital purposes, including permitted
acquisitions and certain additional indebtedness for borrowed money, installment obligations, and obligations under capital and
operating leases. The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility is secured by a cash deposit in the amount of $5.05 million held by
JPMorgan Chase as collateral for the line of credit facility.

Each advance accrues interest at a rate equal to JPMorgan Chase’s monthly London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR,
multiplied by a statutory reserve rate for eurocurrency funding to which JPMorgan Chase is subject with respect to the adjusted
LIBOR rate as established by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board, plus a margin of 1.25% per annum. Interest is calculated monthly
on an actual/360 day basis and payable monthly in arrears. Principal outstanding during an event of default, at JPMorgan Chase’s
option, accrues interest at a rate of 3% per annum in excess of the above rate. Any advance may be prepaid in whole or in part at
any time. See Note 2, under the caption of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, to our consolidated financial statements
in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more detailed information
relating to concerns about structural risks of interbank offered rates, or IBORs, and, particularly, the risk of cessation of the
LIBOR.
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The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility is evidenced by a credit agreement between us and JPMorgan Chase, or the JPMorgan
Chase Credit Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2021, and customary ancillary documents, in the principal amount not to exceed
$5.00 million at any one time outstanding and a line of credit note, or the JPMorgan Chase Line of Credit Note, in which we
promise to pay on or before July 31, 2022, the amount of $5.00 million or so much thereof as may be advanced and outstanding.
In the event of default, JPMorgan Chase, at its option, may accelerate the maturity of advances outstanding under the JPMorgan
Chase Credit Facility. The JPMorgan Chase Credit Agreement and ancillary documents contain customary covenants,
representations, fees, debt, contingent obligations, liens, loans, leases, investments, mergers, acquisitions, divestitures,
subsidiaries, affiliate transactions, and changes in control.

In connection with the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility, we incurred a non-refundable origination fee in the amount of $10,000
that was paid in full to JPMorgan Chase upon execution of the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility on July 12, 2021. We also agreed
to maintain our primary banking depository and disbursement relationship with JPMorgan Chase.

Events of default under the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility include, without limitation, a default, event of default, or event that
would constitute a default or event of default (pending giving notice or lapse of time or both), of any provision of the JPMorgan
Chase Credit Agreement, the JPMorgan Chase Line of Credit Note, or any other instrument or document executed in connection
with the JPMorgan Chase Credit Agreement or with any of our indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations to JPMorgan Chase or
would result from the extension of credit to us by JPMorgan Chase.

On July 12, 2021, upon its execution, we did not request any advances pursuant to the terms of the JPMorgan Chase Credit
Facility.

Prior to obtaining the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility, we and our wholly owned subsidiary, charlesandcolvard.com, LLC,
collectively referred to as the Borrowers, had a $5.00 million asset-based revolving credit facility, or the White Oak Credit
Facility, from White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC, or White Oak, which we terminated in accordance with its terms as of July
9, 2021. The effective date of the White Oak Credit Facility was July 13, 2018, and it was scheduled to mature on July 13, 2021.

The White Oak Credit Facility was available for general corporate and working capital purposes, including permitted acquisitions
and was guaranteed by the Borrowers. Under the terms of the White Oak Credit Facility, the Borrowers were required to maintain
at least $500,000 in excess availability at all times. The White Oak Credit Facility contained no other financial covenants.

Advances under the White Oak Credit Facility could have been either revolving or non-revolving. During the first year of the
term of the White Oak Credit Facility, any revolving advances would have accrued interest at a rate equal to one-month LIBOR
(reset monthly, and subject to a 1.25% floor) plus 3.75%, and any non-revolving advances would have accrued interest at such
LIBOR rate plus 4.75%. Thereafter, the interest margins would have been reduced upon the Company’s achievement of a
specified fixed charge coverage ratio during the period of any outstanding advances. However, any advances were in all cases
subject to a minimum interest rate of 5.50% and interest would have been calculated on an actual/360 basis and payable monthly
in arrears. Principal outstanding during an event of default, which again did not occur during the term of the White Oak Credit
Facility, would have accrued interest at a rate 2% in excess of the rate that would have been otherwise applicable.

We had not borrowed against the White Oak Credit Facility as of July 9, 2021, the date upon which we terminated the White Oak
Credit Facility in accordance with its terms.

More detailed descriptions of both our JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility and former White Oak Credit Facility are included in
Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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Liquidity and Capital Trends

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and access to other working capital resources, including but not limited to
the issuance of equity securities, and future cash expected to be provided by operating activities combined will be sufficient to
meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs over the next twelve months.

Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including the ongoing
uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 that could lead to further disruption and volatility in the global capital markets as well as its
impact on our rate of sales growth; the expansion of our sales and marketing activities; the timing and extent of raw materials and
labor purchases in connection with loose jewel production to support our moissanite jewels and lab grown diamond business and
precious metals and labor purchases in connection with jewelry production to support our finished jewelry business; the timing of
capital expenditures; and the risk factors described in more detail in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Currently, we have the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility through its expiration on July 31, 2022, which we believe
would mitigate these risks to our cash and liquidity position. Also, we may make investments in, or acquisitions of,
complementary businesses, which could also require us to seek additional equity or debt financing.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which we prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or U.S. GAAP.
The future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations, cash flows, and financial position remain unclear. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. “Critical
accounting policies and estimates” are defined as those most important to the financial statement presentation and that require the
most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Under different assumptions and/or conditions,
including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related responses, those actual results of operations may materially
differ. The most significant estimates impacting our consolidated financial statements relate to the valuation and classification of
inventories, accounts receivable reserves, deferred tax assets, and revenue recognition. We also have other policies that we
consider key accounting policies, but these policies typically do not require us to make estimates or judgments that are difficult or
subjective.

Valuation and Classification of Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on an average cost basis. Inventory costs include direct material
and labor, inbound freight, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, and warehousing costs.
Any inventory on hand at the measurement date in excess of our current requirements based on historical and anticipated levels
of sales is classified as long-term on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The classification of our inventory as either current or
long-term inventory requires us to estimate the portion of on-hand inventory that can be realized over the next 12 months and
does not include precious metal, labor, and other inventory purchases expected to be both purchased and realized in cost of sales
over the next 12 months.

Our work-in-process inventories include raw SiC crystals on which processing costs, such as labor and sawing, have been
incurred; and components, such as metal castings and finished good moissanite jewels, that have been issued to jobs in the
manufacture of finished jewelry. Our moissanite jewel manufacturing process involves the production of intermediary shapes,
called “preforms”, that vary depending upon the expected size and shape of the finished jewel. To maximize manufacturing
efficiencies, preforms may be made in advance of current finished inventory needs but remain in work-in-process inventories. As
of June 30, 2021 and 2020, work-in-process inventories issued to active production jobs approximated $2.23 million and $1.34
million, respectively.

Each accounting period we evaluate the valuation and classification of inventories including the need for potential adjustments to
inventory-related reserves and valuation allowances, which also include significant estimates by management.
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See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the Inventories caption for a further description of our inventories accounting policy and see Note 6
to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for more detailed information relating to our accounting for inventory-related reserves and valuation allowances.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve this principle, we perform the
following five steps: (i) identification of a contract with a customer; (ii) identification of any separate performance obligations;
(iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;
and (v) recognition of revenue when we have satisfied the underlying performance obligations. We recognize substantially all of
our revenue at a point in time when control of our goods has passed to the customer with the exception of consigned goods. We
consider our performance obligation related to the shipment of goods satisfied at the time this control is transferred. We also have
a variable consideration element related to most of our contracts in the form of product return rights. At the time revenue is
recognized, an allowance for estimated returns is established and any change in the allowance for returns is charged against net
sales in the current period. For our customers (excluding those of charlesandcolvard.com), the returns policy generally allows for
the return of jewels and finished jewelry with a valid reason for credit within 30 days of shipment, except for returns during the
COVID-19 pandemic during which we generally extended the return period for an additional 30 days. Customers in both our
charlesandcolvard.com and moissaniteoutlet.com websites may generally return purchases within 60 days and 30 days,
respectively, of the shipment date in accordance with our returns policies as disclosed on our charlesandcolvard.com and
moissaniteoutlet.com websites. Periodically, we ship loose jewel goods and finished goods to Traditional segment customers on
consignment terms. Under these consignment terms, the customer assumes the risk of loss and has an absolute right of return for
a specified period that typically ranges from six months to one year. Our Online Channels segment and Traditional segment
customers are generally required to make payments on consignment shipments within 30 to 60 days upon the customer informing
us that such inventory will be kept by the customer. Accordingly, we do not recognize revenue on these consignment transactions
until the earlier of (i) the customer informing us that the inventory will be kept by the customer; (ii) the expiration of the right of
returns period; or (iii) the customer informing us that the inventory has been sold.

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the Revenue Recognition caption for additional information regarding the underlying required
disclosures arising from contracts with customers as well as a more detailed description of our revenue recognition accounting
policy.

Accounts Receivable Reserves

Estimates are used to determine the amount of two reserves against trade accounts receivable. The first reserve is an allowance
for sales returns. At the time revenue is recognized, we estimate future returns using a historical return rate that is reviewed
quarterly with consideration of any contractual return privileges granted to customers, including any current extenuating
economic conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, and we reduce sales and trade accounts receivable by this
estimated amount. Our allowance for sales returns was $675,000 and $704,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The second reserve is an allowance for uncollectible accounts for the measurement of estimated credit losses resulting from the
failure of our customers to make required payments. This allowance reduces trade accounts receivable to an amount expected to
be collected. We use a current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model whereby we estimate credit losses expected over the life of
our pool of exposures based on historical percentages of uncollectible accounts, changes in payment history, and facts and
circumstances, including any current extenuating economic conditions, for example those resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, regarding specific accounts that become known to, or forecasted by, us when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance
for uncollectible accounts. We determine a credit loss percentage based on the age of the receivable that we deem uncollectible
related to potential credit losses. We record an allowance for such credit losses, which includes a provision for expected losses
based on historical write-offs, adjusted for current conditions as deemed necessary, reasonable and supportable forecasts about
future conditions, and a specific reserve for accounts deemed at risk. The allowance is our estimate for accounts receivable as of
the balance sheet date that ultimately will not be collected. Any changes in the allowance are reflected in the results of operations
in the period in which the change occurs. We write-off accounts receivable and the related allowance recorded previously when it
becomes probable, based upon customer facts and circumstances, that such amounts will not be collected. We generally use
internal collection efforts, which may include our sales personnel as deemed appropriate. After all internal collection efforts have
been exhausted, we generally write-off the underlying account receivable.
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Any accounts with significant balances are reviewed separately to determine an appropriate allowance based on the facts and
circumstances of the specific underlying customer account. During our review for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
we determined no additional reserves were necessary for specific accounts. Based on these criteria, we determined that
allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable of $71,000 and $79,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were required.

Deferred Tax Assets

As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact its view with
regard to future realization of available deferred tax assets. As of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, we did not recognize an
income tax benefit for any of our deferred tax assets, primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards and inventory valuation
reserves, because management determined that sufficient negative evidence continued to exist to conclude it was uncertain that
we would have sufficient future taxable income to utilize our deferred tax assets.

However, as of June 30, 2021, cumulative positive taxable income over the last three tax years had been generated in the U.S., as
compared to the negative evidence of cumulative losses in previous years. We also determined that our expectation of future
taxable income in upcoming tax years, including estimated growth rates applied to future expected taxable income that includes
significant management estimates and assumptions, would be sufficient to result in full utilization of our federal net operating
loss carryforwards and certain of the deferred tax assets prior to any statutory expiration. As a result, we determined that
sufficient positive evidence exists as of June 30, 2021, to conclude that it is more likely than not deferred tax assets of
approximately $6.35 million are realizable, and we reduced our valuation allowance accordingly. The reduction of the valuation
allowances against these deferred tax assets was the main driver of the income tax benefit during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2021 of approximately $6.33 million. A valuation allowance remains against certain deferred tax assets primarily relating to state
net operating loss carryforwards from our e-commerce subsidiary due to the timing uncertainty of when it will generate positive
taxable income to utilize the associated deferred tax assets. In addition, as detailed below, a valuation allowance also remains
against certain deferred tax assets relating to operating loss carryforwards relating to our dormant subsidiary located in Hong
Kong.

As of June 30, 2021, all of our remaining federal income tax credits had expired or been utilized, and therefore, are not available
to be carried forward to offset future income taxes. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, we had federal tax net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $19.00 million and $23.72 million, respectively, expiring between 2034 and 2037, or that have
no expiration, which can be used to offset against future federal taxable income; North Carolina tax net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $19.87 million and  $20.12 million, respectively, expiring between 2023 and 2035; and various
other state tax net operating loss carryforwards expiring between 2023 and 2040, which can be used to offset against future state
taxable income.

As of each of June 30, 2021 and 2020, there was approximately $6.03 million in net operating loss carryforwards in Hong Kong.
In accordance with the Hong Kong tax code, these amounts can be carried forward indefinitely to offset future taxable income in
Hong Kong. Our deferred tax assets in Hong Kong were fully reserved with a valuation allowance of $996,000 as of each of June
30, 2021 and 2020, and had been fully reserved in all prior fiscal periods due to the uncertainty of future taxable income in this
jurisdiction to utilize the deferred tax assets. Charles & Colvard (HK) Ltd., our Hong Kong subsidiary, was entered into
dormancy as of September 30, 2020, following its re-activation in December 2017. Charles & Colvard (HK) Ltd. previously
became dormant in the second quarter of 2009 and has had no operating activity since 2008. If we use any portion of our deferred
tax assets in future periods, the valuation allowance would need to be reversed and may impact our future operating results.

For discussion of the effects of the CARES Act, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, and the NC COVID-19 Relief Act
on our provision for income taxes and deferred tax assets, see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

We account for the de-recognition, classification, accounting in interim periods, and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax
positions in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Determining which tax positions qualify as uncertain positions and the subsequent
accounting for these positions requires significant estimates and assumptions. Our net accrued income tax liability under the
provisions of this guidance was approximately $10,000 and $8,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This liability is only
resolved when we obtain an official ruling from the tax authority on the positions or when the statute of limitations expires. Our
liability for accrued interest on these uncertain tax positions has increased by approximately $2,000 for each of the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements caption for the description of recent accounting
pronouncements, including the expected date of adoption and estimated effects, on our consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not use off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidated entities or related parties, nor do we use other forms of off-
balance sheet arrangements. Accordingly, our liquidity and capital resources are not subject to off-balance sheet risks from
unconsolidated entities. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Charles & Colvard, Ltd.
Morrisville, North Carolina

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2021,
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matters below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate. 
 
Inventories Net Realizable Value 
 
As described in Notes 2 and 6 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, inventories totaled approximately $29.2
million at June 30, 2021.  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Each accounting period, the
Company evaluates the valuation of inventories including the need for potential adjustments to inventory-related reserves, which
includes significant estimates by management.
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We identified management’s estimates of the net realizable value of inventories, including inventory-related reserves, as a critical
audit matter.  Certain of the Company’s inventories are subject to various market factors, including changes in styling trends, that
could indicate a decline in the net realizable value.  Given the inherent uncertainty in estimating the future marketability of the
Company’s products, auditing management’s estimates of the net realizable value of inventories required a high degree of auditor
judgment and increased audit effort.  
 
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 
 

• Evaluating the reasonableness of the inputs used in management’s inventory reserve calculation as compared to historical demand and prices
for similar products recently sold by the Company, current and expected margins based on current period sales of inventories on hand, and
industry trends. 

• Analyzing the reserve calculations to determine whether management identified evidence of potential declines in marketability, including
slow moving inventory, for which carrying value may exceed estimates of net realizable value and appropriately evaluated potential
reserves. 

Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets Previously Offset by Valuation Allowances
 
As described in Notes 2 and 13 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, at each reporting date, management
considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact its view with regard to future realization of available
deferred tax assets. The Company determined that sufficient evidence exists as of June 30, 2021, that it is more likely than not
that deferred tax assets of approximately $6.4 million would be realized and released a portion of the Company’s valuation
allowance. The release of the valuation allowance against these deferred tax assets was the main driver of the income tax benefit
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of approximately $6.3 million.
  
We identified management’s judgments related to the future realization of deferred tax assets as a critical audit
matter.  Management uses significant judgment and estimation to assess the future realization of deferred tax assets. This
assessment includes an estimate of future taxable income which involves significant uncertainty, the auditing of which requires a
high degree of judgment and an increased effort, including the involvement of professionals with special skills.  
 
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 
 

• Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimates of future taxable income, including consideration against historical performance of
the Company and whether the information was materially consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. 

• Utilizing personnel with specialized skill and knowledge in income taxes to assist in the evaluation of the appropriateness of the Company’s
tax positions and analysis of management’s conclusion that certain of the Company’s deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be
utilized.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.

Raleigh, North Carolina
September 2, 2021
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CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 June 30,  
 2021   2020  

ASSETS       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 21,302,317  $ 13,993,032 
Restricted cash   144,634   624,202 
Accounts receivable, net   1,662,074   670,718 
Inventory, net   11,450,141   7,443,257 
Note receivable   250,000   - 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   952,065   1,177,860 

Total current assets   35,761,231   23,909,069 
Long-term assets:         

Inventory, net   17,722,579   23,190,702 
Property and equipment, net   875,897   999,061 
Intangible assets, net   209,658   170,151 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   3,952,146   584,143 
Deferred income taxes, net   6,350,830   - 
Other assets   49,658   51,461 

Total long-term assets   29,160,768   24,995,518 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 64,921,999  $ 48,904,587 

        
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 2,774,373  $ 3,748,235 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion   566,083   622,493 
Current maturity of long-term debt   -   193,000 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   2,281,807   1,922,332 

Total current liabilities   5,622,263   6,486,060 
Long-term liabilities:         

Long-term debt, net   -   772,000 
Noncurrent operating lease liabilities   3,600,842   203,003 
Accrued income taxes   9,878   7,947 

Total long-term liabilities   3,610,720   982,950 
Total liabilities   9,232,983   7,469,010 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)         
Shareholders’ equity:         

Common stock, no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 29,913,095 and 28,949,410 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively   56,057,109   54,342,864 

Additional paid-in capital   25,608,593   25,880,165 
Accumulated deficit   (25,976,686)   (38,787,452)

Total shareholders’ equity   55,689,016   41,435,577 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 64,921,999  $ 48,904,587 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 Year Ended June 30,  
 2021   2020  

Net sales  $ 39,235,839  $ 29,189,020 
Costs and expenses:         

Cost of goods sold   20,809,690   21,200,207 
Sales and marketing   8,476,716   9,443,244 
General and administrative   4,441,441   4,861,297 

Total costs and expenses   33,727,847   35,504,748 
Income (Loss) from operations   5,507,992   (6,315,728)
Other income (expense):         

Gain on extinguishment of debt   974,328   - 
Interest income   5,581   158,091 
Interest expense   (8,953)   (884)
Loss on foreign currency exchange   (603)   (1,829)

Total other income (expense), net   970,353   155,378 
Income (Loss) before income taxes   6,478,345   (6,160,350)
Income tax benefit (expense)   6,332,421   (1,733)
Net income (loss)  $ 12,810,766  $ (6,162,083)

        
Net income (loss) per common share:         

Basic  $ 0.44  $ (0.22)
Diluted   0.42   (0.22)

        
Weighted average number of shares used in computing net income (loss) per common share:         

Basic   29,144,820   28,644,133 
Diluted   30,232,567   28,644,133 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 Common Stock           

 
Number of

Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Total
Shareholders’

Equity  
Balance at June 30, 2019   28,027,569  $ 54,342,864  $ 24,488,147  $ (32,625,369)  $ 46,205,642 

Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs   630,500   -   932,480   -   932,480 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   459,538   -   459,538 
Issuance of restricted stock   325,000   -   -   -   - 
Retirement of restricted stock   (33,659)                 
Net loss   -   -   -   (6,162,083)   (6,162,083)

Balance at June 30, 2020   28,949,410  $ 54,342,864  $ 25,880,165  $ (38,787,452)  $ 41,435,577 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   352,583   -   352,583 
Issuance of restricted stock   178,750   -   -   -   - 
Retirement of restricted stock   (162,500)   -   -   -   - 
Stock option exercises   947,435   1,714,245   (624,155)   -   1,090,090 
Net income   -   -   -   12,810,766   12,810,766 

Balance at June 30, 2021   29,913,095  $ 56,057,109  $ 25,608,593  $ (25,976,686)  $ 55,689,016 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Year Ended June 30,  
 2021   2020  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:       
Net income (loss)  $ 12,810,766  $ (6,162,083)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   567,122   490,235 
Stock-based compensation   352,583   459,538 
Provision for uncollectible accounts   2,030   8,788 
Recovery of sales returns   (29,000)   (42,000)
Inventory write-downs   150,000   5,863,991 
(Recovery of) Provision for accounts receivable discounts   (9,153)   3,751 
Gain on extinguishment of debt   (974,328)   - 
Benefit for deferred income taxes, net   (6,350,830)   - 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Accounts receivable   (955,233)   1,321,214 
Inventory   1,311,239   (2,764,230)
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net   (3,140,405)   490,438 
Accounts payable   (973,862)   468,687 
Accrued income taxes   1,931   1,733 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   3,710,232   109,123 

Net cash provided by operating activities   6,473,092   249,185 
        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Purchases of property and equipment   (437,069)   (458,854)
Payment to fund note receivable   (250,000)   - 
Payments for intangible assets   (46,396)   (77,122)

Net cash used in investing activities   (733,465)   (535,976)
        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Stock option exercises   1,090,090   - 
Proceeds from long-term debt   -   965,000 
Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs   -   932,480 

Net cash provided by financing activities   1,090,090   1,897,480 
        

NET INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH   6,829,717   1,610,689 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR   14,617,234   13,006,545 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, END OF YEAR  $ 21,446,951  $ 14,617,234 

        
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:         

Additions to right-of-use assets obtained from new operating lease liabilities  $ 3,908,249  $ - 
Forgiveness of PPP Loan principal   965,000  $ - 

        
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         

Cash paid during the year for interest  $ -  $ 884 
Cash paid during the year for income taxes  $ 14,704  $ 2,050 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (the “Company”), a North Carolina corporation, was founded in 1995. The Company manufactures,
markets, and distributes Charles & Colvard Created Moissanite® (hereinafter referred to as moissanite or moissanite jewels) and
finished jewelry featuring moissanite, including Forever One™, the Company’s premium moissanite gemstone brand, for sale in
the worldwide fine jewelry market. The Company also markets and distributes Caydia® lab grown diamonds and finished jewelry
featuring lab grown diamonds for sale in the worldwide fine jewelry market. Moissanite, also known by its chemical name silicon
carbide (“SiC”), is a rare mineral first discovered in a meteorite crater. Because naturally occurring SiC crystals are too small for
commercial use, larger crystals must be grown in a laboratory. Lab grown diamonds are also grown using technology that
replicates the natural diamond growing process. The only differentiation between that of a lab grown diamond and a mined
diamond is its origin. The result is a man-made diamond that is chemically, physically, and optically the same as those grown
beneath the earth’s surface.

The Company sells loose moissanite jewels, loose lab grown diamonds, and finished jewelry featuring both moissanite and lab
grown diamonds at wholesale prices to distributors, manufacturers, retailers, and designers, including some of the largest
distributors and jewelry manufacturers in the world. The Company’s finished jewelry and loose moissanite jewels and lab grown
diamonds that are mounted into fine jewelry by other manufacturers are sold at retail outlets and via the Internet. The Company
sells at retail prices to end-consumers through its wholly owned operating subsidiary, charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, third-party
online marketplaces, drop-ship, and other pure-play, exclusively e-commerce outlets. The Company also sells at discount retail
prices to end-consumers on its own transactional website, moissaniteoutlet.com, through charlesandcolvard.com, LLC.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation – The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries
charlesandcolvard.com, LLC; Charles & Colvard Direct, LLC; and Charles & Colvard (HK) Ltd., the Company’s Hong Kong
subsidiary, which was entered into dormancy as of September 30, 2020 following its re-activation in December 2017. Charles &
Colvard (HK) Ltd. previously became dormant in the second quarter of 2009 and has had no operating activity since 2008.
Charles & Colvard Direct, LLC, had no operating activity during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 or 2020. All intercompany
accounts have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates – The future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows, and
financial position continue to remain unclear. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates
impacting the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to the valuation and classification of inventories, accounts
receivable reserves, deferred tax assets, stock-based compensation, and revenue recognition. Actual results could differ materially
from those estimates.
 
Changes in Accounting Policy – Effective July 1, 2020, the Company adopted the new accounting standard related to the
measurement and disclosure of credit losses on financial instruments. The new guidance includes a current expected credit loss
(“CECL”) model that requires an entity to estimate credit losses expected over the life of an exposure or pool of exposures based
on historical information, current conditions, and supportable forecasts at the time the asset is recognized and is measured at each
reporting period. The new guidance principally aligns the Company’s accounting for its trade accounts receivable with the
economics of extending credit and improves its financial reporting by requiring timelier recording of related credit losses.
 
The adoption of the new accounting standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations and the Company did not record a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. The Company amended its
allowance for credit losses policy, as set forth below, for the implementation of the new accounting standard.
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The Company records an allowance for credit losses, which includes a provision for expected losses based on historical write-
offs, adjusted for current conditions as deemed necessary, reasonable and supportable forecasts about future conditions that affect
the expected collectability of the reported amount of the financial asset, and a specific reserve for accounts deemed at risk. The
allowance is the Company’s estimate for accounts receivable as of the balance sheet date that ultimately will not be collected.
Any changes in the allowance are reflected in the results of operations in the period in which the change occurs. The Company
writes-off accounts receivable and the related allowance recorded previously when it becomes probable, based upon customer
facts and circumstances, that such amounts will not be collected.

Effective July 1, 2020, the Company also adopted the new accounting standard in connection with accounting for implementation
costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract. The new standard provides guidance to determine the
accounting for fees paid in connection with a cloud computing arrangement that may include a software license. The adoption of
this new accounting standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of
purchase are considered to be cash equivalents. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and a money
market fund. See the Restricted Cash caption below for further details on the nature and classifications of the Company’s
restricted cash balances.

Restricted Cash – In accordance with cash management process requirements related to the Company’s asset-based revolving
credit facility from White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (“White Oak”), which was terminated by the Company on July 9, 2021
in accordance with its terms, such credit facility contained access and usage restrictions on certain cash deposit balances for
periods of up to two business days during which time the deposits were held by White Oak for the benefit of the Company.
During the period these cash deposits were held by White Oak, such amounts were classified as restricted cash for financial
reporting purposes on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

For additional information regarding termination of the Company’s asset-based revolving credit facility with White Oak, see
Note 11, “Debt.”

In accordance with the terms of the Company’s cash collateralized $5.00 million credit facility from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
(“JPMorgan Chase”), which the Company entered into on July 12, 2021, the Company is required to keep $5.05 million in a cash
deposit account held by JPMorgan Chase. Such amount is held as security for the Company’s credit facility from JPMorgan
Chase. Accordingly, this cash deposit held by JPMorgan Chase will be classified as restricted cash for financial reporting
purposes on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

For additional information regarding the Company’s cash collateralized credit facility with JPMorgan Chase, see Note 11, “Debt”
and Note 16, “Subsequent Event.”

The reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, as presented on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,
consists of the following as of the dates presented:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 21,302,317  $ 13,993,032 
Restricted cash   144,634   624,202 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  $ 21,446,951  $ 14,617,234 

Concentration of Credit Risk – Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of cash on deposit and cash equivalents held with one bank and trade accounts receivable. At times, cash and
cash equivalents balances may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurable limits. The Company’s
money market fund investment account (recognized as cash and cash equivalents) is with what the Company believes to be a
high-quality issuer. The Company has never experienced any losses related to these balances. Non-interest-bearing amounts on
deposit in excess of FDIC insurable limits at June 30, 2021 and 2020 approximated $10.32 million and $2.01 million,
respectively. Interest-bearing amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurable limits at June 30, 2021 and 2020 approximated
$10.64 million and $11.64 million, respectively.
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Trade receivables potentially subject the Company to credit risk. Payment terms on trade receivables for the Company’s
Traditional segment customers are generally between 30 and 90 days, though it may offer extended terms with specific customers
and on significant orders from time to time. The Company extends credit to its customers based upon a number of factors,
including an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and credit history that is verified through trade association reference
services, the customer’s payment history with the Company, the customer’s reputation in the trade, and/or an evaluation of the
Company’s opportunity to introduce its moissanite jewels or finished jewelry featuring moissanite to new or expanded markets.
Collateral is not generally required from customers. The need for an allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based upon
factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historical trends, and other information.

See Note 14, “Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk”, for further discussion of credit risk within trade accounts
receivable.

Accounts Receivable Reserves – Estimates are used to determine the amount of two reserves against trade accounts receivable.
The first reserve is an allowance for sales returns. At the time revenue is recognized, the Company estimates future returns using
a historical return rate that is reviewed quarterly with consideration of any contractual return privileges granted to customers,
including any current extenuating economic conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, and it reduces sales and trade
accounts receivable by this estimated amount. The Company’s allowance for sales returns was $675,000 and $704,000 at June 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

The following are reconciliations of the allowance for sales returns balances as of the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Balance, beginning of year  $ 704,000  $ 746,000 
Additions charged to operations   5,631,415   4,710,943 
Sales returns   (5,660,415)   (4,752,943)

Balance, end of year  $ 675,000  $ 704,000 

The second reserve is an allowance for uncollectible accounts for the measurement of estimated credit losses resulting from the
failure of the Company’s customers to make required payments. This allowance reduces trade accounts receivable to an amount
expected to be collected. The Company uses a CECL model whereby management estimates credit losses expected over the life
of its pool of exposures based on historical percentages of uncollectible accounts, changes in payment history, and facts and
circumstances, including any current extenuating economic conditions, for example those resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, regarding specific accounts that become known to, or forecasted by, management when evaluating the adequacy of the
allowance for uncollectible accounts. The Company determines a credit loss percentage based on the age of the receivable that it
deems uncollectible related to potential credit losses. The Company records an allowance for such credit losses, which includes a
provision for expected losses based on historical write-offs, adjusted for current conditions as deemed necessary, reasonable and
supportable forecasts about future conditions, and a specific reserve for accounts deemed at risk. The allowance is the Company’s
estimate for accounts receivable as of the balance sheet date that ultimately will not be collected. Any changes in the allowance
are reflected in the results of operations in the period in which the change occurs. The Company writes-off accounts receivable
and the related allowance recorded previously when it becomes probable, based upon customer facts and circumstances, that such
amounts will not be collected. The Company generally uses internal collection efforts, which may include its sales personnel as it
deems appropriate. After all internal collection efforts have been exhausted, the Company generally writes-off the underlying
account receivable.

Any accounts with significant balances are reviewed separately to determine an appropriate allowance based on the facts and
circumstances of the specific underlying customer account. During its review for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
the Company determined no additional reserves were necessary for specific accounts. Based on these criteria, management
determined that allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable of $71,000 and $79,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively,
were required.
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The following are reconciliations of the allowance for uncollectible accounts balances as of the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Balance, beginning of year  $ 79,000  $ 249,000 
Additions charged to operations   2,030   8,788 
Write-offs, net of recoveries   (10,030)   (178,788)

Balance, end of year  $ 71,000  $ 79,000 

Although the Company believes that its reserves are adequate, if the financial condition of its customers deteriorates, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, or if it underestimates the allowances required, additional allowances may be
necessary, which would result in increased expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on an average cost basis. Inventory costs include
direct material and labor, inbound freight, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, and warehousing costs. Any inventory
on hand at the measurement date in excess of the Company’s current requirements based on historical and anticipated levels of
sales is classified as long-term on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s classification of its inventory as
either current or long-term inventory requires it to estimate the portion of on-hand inventory that can be realized over the next 12
months and does not include precious metal, labor, and other inventory purchases expected to be both purchased and realized in
cost of sales over the next 12 months.

Each accounting period, the Company evaluates the valuation and classification of inventories including the need for potential
adjustments to inventory-related reserves, which also include significant estimates by management. The Company’s inventory-
related valuation allowances are recorded in the aggregate rather than an individual item approach for each obsolescence, rework,
and shrinkage valuation allowance.

Property and Equipment – Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using
the straight-line method as follows:

 Machinery and equipment 5 to 12 years
 Computer hardware 3 to 5 years
 Computer software 3 years
 Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years
 Leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term

Intangible Assets – The Company capitalizes costs associated with obtaining or defending patents issued or pending for
inventions and license rights related to the manufacture of moissanite jewels. Such costs are amortized over the life of the patent,
generally 15 years. The Company also capitalizes licenses it obtains for the use of certain advertising images and external costs
incurred for trademarks. Such costs are amortized over the period of the license or estimated useful life of the trademark,
respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets – The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets by reviewing them for
possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to future net
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value and is recognized as an operating expense in the
period in which the determination is made. As of June 30, 2021, the Company did not identify any indicators of long-lived asset
impairment.

In addition to the recoverability assessment, the Company routinely reviews the remaining estimated useful lives of its long-lived
assets. Any reduction in the useful-life assumption will result in increased depreciation and amortization expense in the period
when such determination is made, as well as in subsequent periods.
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Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve
this principle, the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identification of a contract with a customer; (ii) identification of
any separate performance obligations; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognition of revenue when the Company has satisfied the underlying
performance obligations. The Company recognizes substantially all of its revenue at a point in time when control of the
Company’s goods has passed to the customer with the exception of consigned goods. The Company considers its sole
performance obligation related to the shipment of goods satisfied at the time this control is transferred. Customer payment terms
for these shipments typically range between 30- and 90-days. Customers purchasing items through the Company’s websites pay
amounts in advance of the Company transferring control of the goods. Amounts received in advance of the transfer of control are
included in deferred revenue within accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets until the time of the
transfer of control of the goods. All amounts included in deferred revenue at June 30, 2020 were recorded in net sales during the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. The Company has elected to treat shipping and handling performed after control has transferred
to customers as a fulfillment activity, and additionally, has elected the practical expedient to report sales taxes on a net basis. The
Company records shipping and handling expense related to product sales as cost of sales.

The Company has a variable consideration element related to most of its contracts in the form of product return rights. At the
time revenue is recognized, an allowance for estimated returns is established and any change in the allowance for returns is
charged against net sales in the current period. For the Company’s customers (excluding those of charlesandcolvard.com), the
returns policy generally allows for the return of jewels and finished jewelry with a valid reason for credit within 30 days of
shipment. Customers in both of the Company’s charlesandcolvard.com and moissaniteoutlet.com websites may generally return
purchases within 60 days and 30 days, respectively, of the shipment date in accordance with the Company’s returns policies as
disclosed on its charlesandcolvard.com and moissaniteoutlet.com websites.

Periodically, the Company ships loose jewel goods and finished goods to Traditional segment customers on consignment terms.
Under these consignment terms, the customer assumes the risk of loss and has an absolute right of return for a specified period
that typically ranges from six months to one year. The Company’s Online Channels segment and Traditional segment customers
are generally required to make payments on consignment shipments within 30 to 60 days upon the customer informing the
Company that it will keep the inventory. Accordingly, the Company does not recognize revenue on these consignment
transactions until the earlier of (i) the customer informing the Company that it will keep the inventory; (ii) the expiration of the
right of return period; or (iii) the customer informing the Company that the inventory has been sold to the end consumer.

The Company presents disaggregated net sales by its Online Channels segment and its Traditional segment for both finished
jewelry and loose jewels product lines. The Company also presents disaggregated net sales by geographic area between the
United States and international locations. For financial reporting purposes, disaggregated net sales amounts are presented in Note
3, “Segment Information and Geographic Data.”

Returns Asset and Refund Liabilities

The Company maintains a returns asset account and a refund liabilities account to record the effects of its estimated product
returns and sales returns allowance. The Company’s returns asset and refund liabilities are updated at the end of each financial
reporting period and the effect of such changes are accounted for in the period in which such changes occur.

The Company estimates anticipated product returns in the form of a refund liability based on historical return percentages and
current period sales levels. The Company also accrues a related returns asset for goods expected to be returned in salable
condition, less any expected costs to recover such goods, including return shipping costs that the Company may incur. As of June
30, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s refund liabilities balances were $675,000 and $704,000, respectively, and are included as
allowances for sales returns within accounts receivable, net, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30,
2021 and 2020, the Company’s returns asset balances were $252,000 and $289,000, respectively, and are included within prepaid
expenses and other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

63



Table of Contents

Cost of Goods Sold – Cost of goods sold is primarily composed of inventory sold during the period; inventory written-off during
the period due to ongoing quality and obsolescence reviews; salaries and payroll-related expenses for personnel involved in
preparing and shipping product to customers; an allocation of shared expenses such as rent, utilities, communication expenses,
and depreciation related to preparing and shipping product to customers; and outbound freight charges.

Advertising Costs – Advertising production costs are expensed as incurred. Media placement costs are expensed the first time the
underlying advertising appears.

The Company also offers a cooperative advertising program to certain of its distributor and retail partners that reimburses, via a
credit towards future purchases, a portion of their marketing costs based on the customers’ net purchases from the Company and
is subject to the customer providing documentation of all advertising performed that includes the Company’s products. For the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, these approximate amounts were $380,000 and $491,000, respectively, and are
included as a component of sales and marketing expenses. Because the Company receives a distinct good or service in exchange
for consideration and the fair value of the benefit can be reasonably estimated, these transactions are reflected as sales and
marketing expenses.

Advertising expenses, inclusive of the cooperative advertising program, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, were
approximately $4.25 million and $3.96 million, respectively.

Sales and Marketing – Sales and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. These costs include all expenses of promoting and
selling the Company’s products and include such items as the salaries, payroll-related expenses, and travel of sales and marketing
personnel; digital marketing; advertising; trade shows; market research; sales commissions; and an allocation of overhead
expenses attributable to these activities. Except for an allocation to general and administrative expenses, these costs also include
the operating expenses of charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, the Company’s wholly owned operating subsidiary.

General and Administrative – General and administrative costs are expensed as incurred. These costs include the salaries and
payroll-related expenses of executive, finance, information technology, and administrative personnel; legal, investor relations,
and professional fees; general office and administrative expenses; Board of Directors fees; rent; bad debts; and insurance.

Stock-Based Compensation – The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock-based awards based on estimated fair
values on the date of grant. The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to determine the fair value of
stock options. The fair value of other stock-based compensation awards is determined by the market price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. The expense associated with stock-based compensation is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period of each award.

Fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model is estimated on the date of grant utilizing
certain assumptions for dividend yield, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected lives of the awards, as follows:

Dividend Yield. Although the Company issued dividends in prior years, a dividend yield of zero is used due to
the lack of recent dividend payments and the uncertainty of future dividend payments;

Expected Volatility. Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as share price has
fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The Company
estimates expected volatility giving primary consideration to the historical volatility of its common stock;

Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the published yield available on U.S. Treasury issues
with an equivalent term remaining equal to the expected life of the stock option; and

Expected Lives. The expected lives of the issued stock options represent the estimated period of time until
exercise or forfeiture and are based on the simplified method of using the mid-point between the vesting term
and the original contractual term. The simplified method is used because the Company does not have sufficient
historical option exercise experience.
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The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but
these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and
the Company uses different assumptions, the Company’s stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future. In addition, the Company is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rates of stock-based awards and only recognize
expense for those shares expected to vest. In estimating the Company’s forfeiture rates, the Company analyzes its historical
forfeiture rates. If the Company’s actual forfeiture rates are materially different from its estimates, or if the Company re-evaluates
the forfeiture rates in the future, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what the Company
has recorded in the current period.

Income Taxes – Deferred income taxes are recognized for the income tax consequences of “temporary” differences by applying
enacted statutory income tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and
the income tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred
income tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share – Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the periods. Diluted net income (loss) per common share
is computed using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the
periods. Common equivalent shares consist of stock options and unvested restricted shares that are computed using the treasury
stock method. Anti-dilutive stock awards consist of stock options that would have been anti-dilutive in the application of the
treasury stock method.

As of the dates presented, the following table reconciles the differences between the basic and diluted net income (loss) per share
presentations:

 Year Ended June 30,  
 2021   2020  

Numerator:       
Net income (loss)  $ 12,810,766  $ (6,162,083)

        
Denominator:         

Weighted average common shares outstanding:         
Basic   29,144,820   28,644,133 
Effect of dilutive securities   1,087,747   - 
Diluted   30,232,567   28,644,133 

        
Net income (loss) per common share:         

Basic  $ 0.44  $ (0.22)
Diluted  $ 0.42  $ (0.22)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, stock options to purchase approximately 1.24 million were excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per common share because the exercise price of the stock options was greater than the average
market price of the common shares or the effect of inclusion of such amounts would be anti-dilutive to net income per common
share. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, stock options to purchase approximately 2.81 million shares were excluded from
the computation of diluted net loss per common share because the effect of inclusion of such amounts would be anti-dilutive to
net loss per common share. The quantity of 162,500 shares of unvested restricted stock were excluded from the computation of
diluted net loss per common share as of June 30, 2020 because the shares were performance-based and the underlying conditions
had not been met as of the year presented and the effects of the inclusion of such shares would have been anti-dilutive to net loss
per common share. There are no such performance-based shares of unvested restricted stock excluded from the computation of
basic and diluted net income per common share as of June 30, 2021 because the underlying performance conditions for these
restricted stock shares were met as of June 30, 2021.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”)
issued guidance on simplifying the accounting for income taxes that is intended to reduce the complexity while maintaining or
improving the usefulness of tax disclosure information in financial statements. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company does not expect the impact of the new guidance to have a material impact to
the Company’s financial statements.
 
In March 2020, in response to concerns about structural risks of interbank offered rates (“IBORs”), and, particularly, the risk of
cessation of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), the FASB issued new guidance to ease the burden in accounting for
or recognizing the effects of referenced interest rate reform on financial reporting. The new guidance is effective as of March 12,
2020 through December 31, 2022. As described in more detail in Note 11, “Debt”, borrowings under the Company’s line of credit
would have been based on a rate equal to the one-month LIBOR. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had not borrowed against its
line of credit, and therefore, is not subject to recognizing or disclosing any effect of referenced rate reform as of its fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA

The Company reports segment information based on the “management” approach. The management approach designates the
internal reporting used by management for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the source of the
Company’s operating and reportable segments.

The Company manages its business through two operating and reportable segments based on its distribution channels to sell its
product lines, loose jewels and finished jewelry: its “Online Channels” segment, which consists of e-commerce outlets including
charlesandcolvard.com, moissaniteoutlet.com, third-party online marketplaces, drop-ship retail, and other pure-play, exclusively
e-commerce outlets; and its “Traditional” segment, which consists of wholesale and retail customers. The accounting policies of
the Online Channels segment and Traditional segment are the same as those described in Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and
Significant Accounting Policies.”

The Company evaluates the financial performance of its segments based on net sales; product line gross profit, or the excess of
product line sales over product line cost of goods sold; and operating income. The Company’s product line cost of goods sold is
defined as product cost of goods sold, excluding non-capitalized expenses from the Company’s manufacturing and production
control departments, comprising personnel costs, depreciation, leases, utilities, and corporate overhead allocations; freight out;
inventory write-downs; and other inventory adjustments, comprising costs of quality issues, and damaged goods.

The Company allocates certain general and administrative expenses between its Online Channels segment and its Traditional
segment based on net sales and number of employees to arrive at segment operating income (loss). Unallocated expenses remain
in its Traditional segment.
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Summary financial information by reportable segment for the periods presented is as follows:

  Year Ended June 30, 2021  

  
Online

Channels   Traditional   Total  
Net sales          

Finished jewelry  $ 19,905,199  $ 4,496,347  $ 24,401,546 
Loose jewels   3,304,439   11,529,854   14,834,293 

Total  $ 23,209,638  $ 16,026,201  $ 39,235,839 
             

Product line cost of goods sold             
Finished jewelry  $ 8,235,797  $ 3,036,215  $ 11,272,012 
Loose jewels   1,216,942   5,640,813   6,857,755 

Total  $ 9,452,739  $ 8,677,028  $ 18,129,767 
             

Product line gross profit             
Finished jewelry  $ 11,669,402  $ 1,460,132  $ 13,129,534 
Loose jewels   2,087,497   5,889,041   7,976,538 

Total  $ 13,756,899  $ 7,349,173  $ 21,106,072 
             

Operating income  $ 3,739,553  $ 1,768,439  $ 5,507,992 
             

Depreciation and amortization  $ 248,995  $ 318,127  $ 567,122 
             

Capital expenditures  $ 253,935  $ 183,134  $ 437,069 

  Year Ended June 30, 2020  

  
Online

Channels   Traditional   Total  
Net sales          

Finished jewelry  $ 13,680,440  $ 3,097,188  $ 16,777,628 
Loose jewels   2,944,100   9,467,292   12,411,392 

Total  $ 16,624,540  $ 12,564,480  $ 29,189,020 
             

Product line cost of goods sold             
Finished jewelry  $ 5,760,413  $ 1,709,377  $ 7,469,790 
Loose jewels   1,198,275   4,863,911   6,062,186 

Total  $ 6,958,688  $ 6,573,288  $ 13,531,976 
             

Product line gross profit             
Finished jewelry  $ 7,920,027  $ 1,387,811  $ 9,307,838 
Loose jewels   1,745,825   4,603,381   6,349,206 

Total  $ 9,665,852  $ 5,991,192  $ 15,657,044 
             

Operating loss  $ (249,016)  $ (6,066,712)  $ (6,315,728)
             

Depreciation and amortization  $ 177,703  $ 312,532  $ 490,235 
             

Capital expenditures  $ 305,570  $ 153,284  $ 458,854 
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The Company does not allocate any assets to the reportable segments, and therefore, no asset information is reported to the chief
operating decision-maker or disclosed in the financial information for each segment.

The reconciliations of the Company’s product line cost of goods sold to cost of goods sold, as reported in the consolidated
financial statements for the periods presented, are as follows:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Product line cost of goods sold  $ 18,129,767  $ 13,531,976 
Non-capitalized manufacturing and production control expenses   1,591,114   1,443,698 
Freight out   1,013,275   510,612 
Inventory write-downs   150,000   5,863,991 
Other inventory adjustments   (74,466)   (150,070)

Cost of goods sold  $ 20,809,690  $ 21,200,207 

The Company recognizes sales by geographic area based on the country in which the customer is based. Sales to international
end consumers made through the Company’s transactional websites, charlesandcolvard.com and moissaniteoutlet.com, are
included in international sales for financial reporting purposes. A portion of the Company’s Traditional segment sales made to
international wholesale distributors represents products sold internationally that may be re-imported to U.S. retailers.

All intangible assets, as well as property and equipment, as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, are held and located in the United States.

The following presents net sales data by geographic area for the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Net sales       

United States  $ 37,225,519  $ 26,814,024 
International   2,010,320   2,374,996 

Total  $ 39,235,839  $ 29,189,020 

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Under U.S. GAAP, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used
in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring
that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are obtained from independent sources and can be
validated by a third party, whereas unobservable inputs reflect assumptions regarding what a third party would use in pricing an
asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels based on the reliability of inputs, as follows:

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
Level 2. Inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

The Company evaluates assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring and non-recurring basis to
determine the appropriate level to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be
made by management of the Company. The financial instruments identified as subject to fair value measurements on a recurring
basis are cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, notes receivable, trade accounts receivable, and trade accounts payable. All
financial instruments are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets at carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the
short-term nature of these financial instruments.
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Assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis include property and equipment, leasehold improvements, and
intangible assets, comprising patents, license rights, and trademarks. These items are recognized at fair value when they are
considered to be impaired. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, no assets were identified for impairment.

5. NOTE RECEIVABLE

On March 5, 2021, the Company entered into a $250,000 convertible promissory note agreement (the “Convertible Promissory
Note”) with an unrelated third-party strategic marketing partner. The Convertible Promissory Note is unsecured and matures on
March 5, 2022 (the “Maturity Date”). The Company has accounted for the Convertible Promissory Note as a current note
receivable within the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Interest is accrued at a simple rate of 0.14% per annum
and will accrue until the Convertible Promissory Note is converted in accordance with the conversion privileges contained within
the Convertible Promissory Note or is repaid. Principal outstanding during an event of default accrues interest at the rate of 5%
per annum. Accrued and unpaid interest on the Convertible Promissory Note is classified as a current asset and included in
prepaid expenses and other assets in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Subject to the borrower’s completion of a specified equity financing transaction (an “Equity Financing”) on or prior to the
Maturity Date, the unpaid principal amount, including accrued and unpaid interest, automatically converts into equity units of the
most senior class of equity securities issued to investors in the Equity Financing at the lesser of 80% of the per unit price of the
units purchased by investors or the price equal to $33,500,000 divided by the aggregate number of outstanding units of the
borrower immediately prior to the closing of the financing. Unless converted as provided in the Convertible Promissory Note, the
principal amount, including accrued and unpaid interest, will, on the Maturity Date, at the Company’s option either (i) become
due and payable to the Company, or (ii) convert into equity units at the specified conversion price in accordance with the terms of
the Convertible Promissory Note.

6. INVENTORIES

The Company’s total inventories, net of reserves, consisted of the following as of the dates presented:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Finished jewelry:       
Raw materials  $ 1,476,514  $ 821,536 
Work-in-process   779,593   602,390 
Finished goods   8,025,816   6,019,985 
Finished goods on consignment   2,050,372   2,297,907 

Total finished jewelry   12,332,295   9,741,818 
Loose jewels:         

Raw materials   1,775,505   3,526,399 
Work-in-process   9,893,443   10,453,586 
Finished goods   4,942,192   6,619,487 
Finished goods on consignment   154,968   204,635 

Total loose jewels   16,766,108   20,804,107 
Total supplies inventory   74,317   88,034 

Total inventory  $ 29,172,720  $ 30,633,959 

As of the dates presented, the Company’s total inventories, net of reserves, are classified as follows:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Short-term portion  $ 11,450,141  $ 7,443,257 
Long-term portion   17,722,579   23,190,702 

Total inventory  $ 29,172,720  $ 30,633,959 

69



Table of Contents

The Company’s work-in-process inventories include raw SiC crystals on which processing costs, such as labor and sawing, have
been incurred; and components, such as metal castings and finished good moissanite jewels, that have been issued to jobs in the
manufacture of finished jewelry. The Company’s moissanite jewel manufacturing process involves the production of
intermediary shapes, called “preforms,” that vary depending upon the expected size and shape of the finished jewel. To maximize
manufacturing efficiencies, preforms may be made in advance of current finished inventory needs but remain in work-in-process
inventories. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, work-in-process inventories issued to active production jobs approximated $2.23
million and $1.34 million, respectively.

The Company’s moissanite and lab grown diamond jewels do not degrade in quality over time and inventory generally consists of
the shapes and sizes most commonly used in the jewelry industry. In addition, the majority of jewel inventory is not mounted in
finished jewelry settings and is therefore not subject to fashion trends, and product obsolescence is closely monitored and
reviewed by management as of and for each financial reporting period.

The Company manufactures finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds. Relative to loose moissanite jewels
and lab grown diamonds, finished jewelry is more fashion-oriented and subject to styling trends that could render certain designs
obsolete over time. The majority of the Company’s finished jewelry featuring moissanite and lab grown diamonds is held in
inventory for resale and largely consists of such core designs as stud earrings, solitaire and three-stone rings, pendants, and
bracelets that tend not to be subject to significant obsolescence risk due to their classic styling. In addition, the Company
generally holds smaller quantities of designer-inspired and trend moissanite fashion jewelry that is available for resale through
retail companies and through its Online Channels segment. The Company also carries a limited amount of inventory as part of its
sample line that the Company uses in the selling process to its customers.

The Company’s continuing operating subsidiaries carry no net inventories, and inventory is transferred without intercompany
markup from the parent entity as product line cost of goods sold when sold to the end consumer.

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on an average cost basis. Each accounting period
the Company evaluates the valuation and classification of inventories including the need for potential adjustments to inventory-
related reserves, which also include significant estimates by management, including the effect of market factors and sales trends.
Changes to the Company’s inventory reserves and allowances are accounted for in the accounting period in which a change in
such reserves and allowances is observed and deemed appropriate, including changes in management’s estimates used in the
process to determine such reserves and valuation allowances.

As a result of the deterioration of marketability of the Company’s legacy inventory during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020,
management determined that this segment of the Company’s inventory had lost its revenue-generating ability and its net
realizable value fell below that of its historical carrying cost. Accordingly, the Company recognized a loss in net realizable value
in the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020, for its legacy material inventory, i.e., raw materials, or boules, preforms, work-in-
process gemstones, finished gemstones, and gemstones set in finished jewelry, the carrying cost of which was approximately
$5.26 million.

Included in cost of goods sold during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, was the above-referenced write-off of approximately
$5.26 million representing the carrying value of the Company’s legacy loose jewel inventory and finished jewelry inventory set
with these legacy gemstones. Total inventory write-downs were $150,000 and $5.86 million for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively.
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following as of the dates presented:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Computer software  $ 2,015,548  $ 1,827,581 
Machinery and equipment   1,250,345   1,145,525 
Computer hardware   1,274,561   1,158,559 
Leasehold improvements   1,162,995   1,158,807 
Furniture and fixtures   371,883   347,872 

Total   6,075,332   5,638,344 
Less accumulated depreciation   (5,199,435)   (4,639,283)

Property and equipment, net  $ 875,897  $ 999,061 

Depreciation expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $560,000 and $486,000, respectively.

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets, net, consist of the following as of the dates presented:

        

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Amortization

Period
(in Years)   

June 30,
2021   2020

Patents  $ 1,017,007  $ 1,024,267   13.6 
Trademarks   214,339   160,683   12.9 
License rights   6,718   6,718   - 

Total   1,238,064   1,191,668     
Less accumulated amortization   (1,028,406)   (1,021,517)     

Intangible assets, net  $ 209,658  $ 170,151     

Amortization expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $7,000 and $4,000, respectively.
Amortization expense on existing intangible assets is estimated to be approximately $17,000 for each of the fiscal years ending
June 30, 2022 and 2023 and approximately $16,000 for each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2024, 2025, and 2026.

9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Total accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following as of the dates presented:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Accrued compensation and related benefits  $ 866,705  $ 395,006 
Deferred revenue   774,891   794,740 
Accrued sales tax   555,547   295,651 
Accrued cooperative advertising   68,185   89,517 
Accrued income taxes   16,478   - 
Accrued severance   -   338,355 
Other   1   9,063 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities  $ 2,281,807  $ 1,922,332 
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10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Arrangements

On December 9, 2013, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement, as amended on December 23, 2013, April 15, 2014, and
January 29, 2021 (the “Lease Agreement”), for its corporate headquarters, which occupies approximately 36,350 square feet of
office, storage and light manufacturing space and is classified as an operating lease for financial reporting purposes. The
expiration date of the base term of the Lease Agreement in effect as of June 30, 2021 is October 31, 2026 and the terms of the
Lease Agreement contain no early termination provisions. Provided there is no outstanding uncured event of default under the
Lease Agreement, the Company has an option to extend the lease term for a period of five years. The Company’s option to extend
the term of the Lease Agreement must be exercised in writing on or before 270 days prior to expiration of the then-current term.
If the option is exercised, the monthly minimum rent for the extended term will be adjusted to the then-prevailing fair market
rate. The renewal option was not assumed to be exercised for purposes of calculating the lease term and the related operating
lease liability.

The Company took possession of the leased property on May 23, 2014, once certain improvements to the leased space were
completed and did not have access to the property before this date. Upon execution of the third amendment to the Lease
Agreement (the “Lease Amendment”) on January 29, 2021, the Lease Amendment included a rent abatement in the amount of
approximately $214,000, which is reflected in the rent payments used in the calculation of the right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and
lease liability once remeasured upon the execution of the Lease Amendment to extend the lease term. The Lease Amendment also
included an allowance for leasehold improvements offered by the landlord in an amount not to exceed approximately $545,000.
Once such costs have been incurred, the Company will be reimbursed for qualified costs by the landlord and the Company will
reduce the remaining ROU asset and lease liability by the amount of the reimbursement. Such reductions of the ROU asset and
lease liability will be recognized prospectively by the Company over the remaining term of the lease.
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s balance sheet classifications of its leases are as follows:
 

Operating Leases:    
Noncurrent operating lease ROU assets  $ 3,952,146 

     
Current operating lease liabilities  $ 566,083 
Noncurrent operating lease liabilities   3,600,842 

Total operating lease liabilities  $ 4,166,925 

The Company’s total operating lease cost was approximately $610,000 and $469,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020.
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate used and assumed discount rate with respect to
operating leases was 2.81% and the remaining operating lease term was 5.33 years.

As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s remaining future payments under operating leases for each fiscal year ending June 30 are as
follows:

2022  $ 575,591 
2023   869,742 
2024   893,660 
2025   918,236 
2026   943,487 
2027   317,327 
Total lease payments   4,518,043 

Less: imputed interest   351,118 
Present value of lease payments   4,166,925 

Less: current lease liability   566,083 
Total long-term lease liability  $ 3,600,842 

72



Table of Contents

The Company makes cash payments for amounts included in the measurement of its lease liabilities. During the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, cash paid for operating leases was approximately $688,000 and $668,000, respectively. Upon the
execution of the Lease Amendment, the Company recorded additional ROU assets in the amount of approximately $3.9 million
obtained in exchange for the additional operating lease liability during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

Purchase Commitments

On December 12, 2014, the Company entered into an exclusive supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Cree, Inc.
(“Cree”). Under the Supply Agreement, subject to certain terms and conditions, the Company agreed to exclusively purchase
from Cree, and Cree agreed to exclusively supply, 100% of the Company’s required SiC materials in quarterly installments that
must equal or exceed a set minimum order quantity. The initial term of the Supply Agreement was scheduled to expire on June
24, 2018, unless extended by the parties.

Effective June 22, 2018, the Supply Agreement was amended to extend the expiration date to June 25, 2023. The Supply
Agreement was also amended to (i) provide the Company with one option, subject to certain conditions, to unilaterally extend the
term of the Supply Agreement for an additional two-year period following expiration of the initial term; (ii) establish a process by
which Cree may begin producing alternate SiC material based on the Company’s specifications that will give the Company the
flexibility to use the materials in a broader variety of its products; and (iii) permit the Company to purchase certain amounts of
SiC materials from third parties under limited conditions.

Effective June 30, 2020, the Supply Agreement was further amended to extend the expiration date to June 29, 2025, which may
be extended again by mutual agreement of the parties. The Supply Agreement was also amended to, among other things, (i)
spread the Company’s total purchase commitment under the Supply Agreement in the amount of approximately $52.95 million
over the term of the Supply Agreement, as amended; (ii) establish a process by which Cree has agreed to accept purchase orders
in excess of the agreed-upon minimum purchase commitment, subject to certain conditions; and (iii) permit the Company to
purchase revised amounts of SiC materials from third parties under limited conditions.

The Company’s total purchase commitment under the Supply Agreement, as amended, until June 2025 is approximately $52.95
million, of which approximately $32.85 remains to be purchased as of June 30, 2021. Over the life of the Supply Agreement, as
amended, the Company’s future minimum annual purchase commitments of SiC crystals range from approximately $4 million to
$10 million each year.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased approximately $3.78 million and $7.47 million,
respectively, of SiC crystals from Cree.

COVID-19

In March 2020, the novel strain of coronavirus, known as COVID-19, was declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organization and declared a national emergency by the U.S. Government, and has continued to negatively affect the U.S. and
global economies. In response to the pandemic, federal, state, county and local governments, and public health organizations and
authorities around the world have implemented a variety of measures intended to control the spread of the virus including
quarantines, “stay-at-home” orders, travel restrictions, school closures, business limitations and closures, social distancing, and
hygiene requirements. While some of these measures have been lifted or eased in certain jurisdictions, other jurisdictions have
seen increases in new COVID-19 cases, resulting in restrictions being reinstated or new restrictions being imposed.

The Company has continued taking measures to protect the health and safety of its employees, including updating the Company’s
return-to-work policies, as necessary, working with its customers and suppliers to minimize disruptions, and supporting its
community in addressing the challenges posed by this ongoing global pandemic. During Fiscal 2021, the Company experienced
impacts in its business related to COVID-19, primarily in continued increased coronavirus-related costs, interruptions in supplier
deliveries, impacts of travel and delivery restrictions, site access and quarantine restrictions, and the impacts of remote work and
adjusted work schedules.
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The COVID-19 pandemic continues to present business challenges and the Company expects these to continue into Fiscal 2022.
The Company’s management has executed plans to reintroduce employees to the workplace as vaccine rates increase and
COVID-19 cases decrease. Although, in light of the recent increase in infections due to evolving viral variants, the Company has
not yet returned to pre-pandemic workforce levels in its workplace and is experiencing stabilization of employee attendance in its
operations and distribution facilities and throughout its supply chain. A segment of the Company’s corporate staff continues
working a blend of remote and in-person work schedules and management is taking measures to facilitate the provision of
vaccines to the Company’s employees in line with state and local guidelines. The Company also continues working with its
customers and suppliers to minimize disruptions, including at times accelerating payments to key suppliers that are due by their
terms in future periods. The Company expects to continue accelerating payments to its suppliers in some cases into Fiscal 2022.

The ultimate impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s operations and financial performance in future periods, including
management’s ability to execute its strategic initiatives in the expected timeframes, remains uncertain and will depend on future
pandemic related developments, including the duration of the pandemic, any potential subsequent waves of COVID-19 and its
variant viral infections, the effectiveness, distribution and acceptance of COVID-19 vaccines, and related government actions to
prevent and manage disease spread, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. The Company cannot at this time predict
the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but the Company anticipates that the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to continue to
impact its business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

At the onset of the pandemic, the Company applied for and received the proceeds from a Paycheck Protection Program loan (a
“PPP Loan”) pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the
“CARES Act”), as administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”). The Company’s PPP Loan in the
principal amount of $965,000 was disbursed by Newtek Small Business Finance, LLC, (its “Lender”), a nationally licensed
lender under the SBA, pursuant to a promissory note issued by the Company on June 15, 2020. In accordance with applicable
provisions of the CARES Act, effective June 23, 2021, the Company’s PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the
SBA for the full principal of the PPP Loan in the amount of $965,000 and the related accrued and unpaid interest. The full
amount of the gain in connection with the extinguishment of the underlying debt, including the forgiveness of accrued and unpaid
interest, was recognized by the Company in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

The Company took advantage of available COVID-19 related payroll tax credits for certain wages and paid leave provided by us
during the pandemic. A portion of these eligible tax credits are determined by qualified emergency paid sick and expanded family
and medical leave wages pursuant to the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCRA”). In addition, the Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2021, provides that employers who received a PPP loan may also qualify for the Employee Retention Credit
(the “ERC”). Previously, pursuant to the CARES Act, taxpayers that received a PPP loan were not eligible for the ERC and this
change is retroactive to March 27, 2020. The Company believes that it qualifies for certain employer-related tax benefits pursuant
to the ERC and expects to amend its applicable federal payroll tax returns for such benefit. Further, as permitted by the NC
COVID-19 Relief Act, the Company expects to receive an incremental tax credit towards its contributions to the North Carolina
Unemployment Insurance Fund. Accordingly, the Company will recognize any payroll tax credits related to these federal and
state legislative actions in the period such benefits are received.

11. DEBT

Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On June 18, 2020, the Company received the proceeds from its PPP Loan. The loan in the principal amount of $965,000 was
disbursed by the Lender pursuant to a promissory note issued by the Company (the “Promissory Note”) on June 15, 2020. During
the period of time that the principal under the Promissory Note was outstanding, the Company accounted for the Promissory Note
as debt within the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to its terms, the Promissory Note was scheduled to mature on June 18, 2022. However, on June 14, 2021, in accordance
with applicable provisions of the CARES Act the Company filed its PPP Loan forgiveness application with the Lender for
forgiveness of the full amount of the PPP Loan proceeds and the related accrued and unpaid interest. Effective June 23, 2021, the
Company’s PPP Loan forgiveness was approved and processed by the SBA for the full principal of the PPP Loan in the amount
of $965,000 and the related accrued and unpaid interest. Accordingly, the full amount of the gain in connection with the
extinguishment of this debt was recognized in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
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In accordance with the terms of the Promissory Note, during the period of time the principal of the PPP Loan was outstanding,
interest was accrued by the Company at a fixed rate of 1% per annum. In connection with the Company’s PPP Loan forgiveness,
the SBA also approved forgiveness of accrued interest amounts that would have been otherwise payable by the Company to the
Lender. Accordingly, the benefit from the forgiveness of the inception to-date interest expense in the amount of approximately
$9,000 was recognized and included within the gain on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statement of operations for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

For financial reporting purposes, during the period the principal of the PPP Loan was outstanding, the classification of the current
maturity of long-term debt assumed there would have been no principal forgiveness. In accordance with the terms of the
Promissory Note, as amended by the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act, principal repayment for the full outstanding
principal amount of the PPP Loan was assumed to have been spread in equal monthly installments over the period from October
1, 2021 through the maturity date of the Promissory Note.

The Company did not provide any collateral or guarantees for the PPP Loan, nor did the Company pay any facility charge to the
Lender when it obtained the PPP Loan. The Promissory Note provided for customary events of default, which did not occur
during the period of time the PPP Loan was outstanding, including, among others, those relating to failure to make payment and
breaches of representations.
 
Line of Credit

Effective July 7, 2021, the Company obtained from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan Chase”) a $5.00 million cash
collateralized line of credit facility (the “JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility”). The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility may be used for
general corporate and working capital purposes, including permitted acquisitions and certain additional indebtedness for
borrowed money, installment obligations, and obligations under capital and operating leases. The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility
is secured by a cash deposit in the amount of $5.05 million held by JPMorgan Chase as collateral for the line of credit facility.

Each advance accrues interest at a rate equal to JPMorgan Chase’s monthly LIBOR rate multiplied by a statutory reserve rate for
eurocurrency funding to which JPMorgan Chase is subject with respect to the adjusted LIBOR rate as established by the U.S.
Federal Reserve Board, plus a margin of 1.25% per annum. Interest is calculated monthly on an actual/360 day basis and payable
monthly in arrears. Principal outstanding during an event of default, at JPMorgan Chase’s option, accrues interest at a rate of 3%
per annum in excess of the above rate. Any advance may be prepaid in whole or in part without penalty at any time.

The JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility is evidenced by a credit agreement between JPMorgan Chase and the Company (the
“JPMorgan Chase Credit Agreement”), dated as of July 12, 2021, and customary ancillary documents, in the principal amount not
to exceed $5.00 million at any one time outstanding and a line of credit note (the “JPMorgan Chase Line of Credit Note”) in
which the Company promises to pay on or before July 31, 2022, the amount of $5.00 million or so much thereof as may be
advanced and outstanding. In the event of default, JPMorgan Chase, at its option, may accelerate the maturity of advances
outstanding under the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility. The JPMorgan Chase Credit Agreement and ancillary documents contain
customary covenants, representations, fees, debt, contingent obligations, liens, loans, leases, investments, mergers, acquisitions,
divestitures, subsidiaries, affiliate transactions, and changes in control.

In connection with the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility, the Company incurred a non-refundable origination fee in the amount of
$10,000 that was paid in full to JPMorgan Chase upon execution of the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility on July 12, 2021. The
Company also agreed to maintain its primary banking depository and disbursement relationship with JPMorgan Chase.

Events of default under the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility include, without limitation, a default, event of default, or event that
would constitute a default or event of default (pending giving notice or lapse of time or both), of any provision of the JPMorgan
Chase Credit Agreement, the JPMorgan Chase Line of Credit Note, or any other instrument or document executed in connection
with the JPMorgan Chase Credit Agreement or with any of the indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of the Company to
JPMorgan Chase or would result from the extension of credit by JPMorgan Chase to the Company.

On July 12, 2021, upon its execution, the Company did not request any advances pursuant to the terms of the JPMorgan Chase
Credit Facility.
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Prior to obtaining the JPMorgan Chase Credit Facility, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, charlesandcolvard.com,
LLC (collectively, the “Borrowers”), had a $5.00 million asset-based revolving credit facility (the “White Oak Credit Facility”)
from White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (“White Oak”), which was terminated by the Company in accordance with its terms
as of July 9, 2021. The effective date of the White Oak Credit Facility was July 13, 2018, and it was scheduled to mature on July
13, 2021.

The White Oak Credit Facility was available for general corporate and working capital purposes, including permitted acquisitions
and was guaranteed by Charles & Colvard Direct, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Guarantor”). Under the
terms of the White Oak Credit Facility, the Borrowers were required to maintain at least $500,000 in excess availability at all
times. The White Oak Credit Facility contained no other financial covenants. Advances under the White Oak Credit Facility were
limited to a borrowing base, which was computed by applying specified advance rates to the value of the Borrowers’ eligible
accounts receivable and inventory, plus the value of precious metal jewelry components, less reserves. Eligible inventory would
have been further limited to 60% of the net borrowing base, while precious metal jewelry components were limited to $500,000.
 
Available advances could have been in the form of either revolving or non-revolving. Non-revolving advances were limited to
$1.00 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding and would have been required to be repaid on each January 15 (which
could have been effected by conversion to revolving advances, absent an event of default, which did not occur during the term of
the White Oak Credit Facility). There were no other mandatory prepayments or line reductions. The Company was able to prepay
any advances in whole or in part at any time without penalty. In addition, the White Oak Credit Facility could have been
terminated by the Company at any time, subject to a $100,000 fee in the first year of the term of the White Oak Credit Facility, a
$50,000 fee in the second year, and no fee thereafter. In connection with the execution of the White Oak Credit Facility, the
Company incurred a non-refundable origination fee in the total amount of $125,000 that was due and payable to White Oak in
three installments. The first installment in the amount of $41,667 was paid upon execution of the White Oak Credit Facility on
July 13, 2018, the second installment in the amount of $41,667 was paid on July 15, 2019, and the third and final installment in
the amount of $41,666 was paid on August 14, 2020.
 
During the first year of the term of the White Oak Credit Facility, any revolving advances would have accrued interest at a rate
equal to one-month LIBOR (reset monthly, and subject to a 1.25% floor) plus 3.75%, and any non-revolving advances would
have accrued interest at such LIBOR rate plus 4.75%. Thereafter, the interest margins would have been reduced upon the
Company’s achievement of a specified fixed charge coverage ratio during the period of any outstanding advances. However, any
advances were in all cases subject to a minimum interest rate of 5.50% and interest would have been calculated on an actual/360
basis and payable monthly in arrears. Principal outstanding during an event of default, which again did not occur during the term
of the White Oak Credit Facility, would have accrued interest at a rate 2% in excess of the rate that would have been otherwise
applicable.

The White Oak Credit Facility was secured by a lien on substantially all assets of the Borrowers, each of which was jointly and
severally liable for all obligations thereunder. White Oak’s security interest in certain SiC materials was subordinate to Cree’s
security interest in such materials pursuant to the Company’s Supply Agreement and an Intercreditor Agreement by and among
the Borrowers and the Guarantor with White Oak. In addition, White Oak’s security interest in certain tangible personal property
of the Company was subordinate to its landlord’s security interest in such tangible personal property.
 
The White Oak Credit Facility was evidenced by a credit agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018 (the “Credit Agreement”), a
security agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018 (the “Security Agreement”), and customary ancillary documents. The Credit
Agreement, Security Agreement, and ancillary documents contained customary covenants, representations, fees, and cash
dominion provisions, including a financial reporting covenant and limitations on dividends, distributions, debt, liens, loans,
investments, mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, and affiliate transactions.
 
Events of default under the White Oak Credit Facility included, without limitation, a change in control, an event of default under
other indebtedness of the Borrowers or Guarantor in excess of $250,000, a material adverse change in the business of the
Borrowers or Guarantor or in their ability to perform their obligations under the White Oak Credit Facility, and other defined
circumstances that White Oak would have believed may have impaired the prospect of repayment. If an event of default had
occurred, White Oak would have been entitled to take enforcement action, including acceleration of any amounts that would have
been due under the White Oak Credit Facility, and to foreclose upon collateral.
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The White Oak Credit Facility also contained other customary terms, that included indemnity, collateral monitoring fee,
minimum interest charge, expense reimbursement, yield protection, and certain confidentiality provisions.

The Company had not borrowed against the White Oak Credit Facility as of July 9, 2021, the date upon which the White Oak
Credit Facility was terminated by the Company in accordance with its terms.

12. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of common stock, no par value. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, it had
29,913,095 and 28,949,410 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively. Holders of the Company’s common stock are
entitled to one vote for each share held.

Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors is authorized, without further shareholder approval, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
no par value. The preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. No shares of preferred stock had been
issued as of June 30, 2021.

Dividends

The Company paid no cash dividends during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Shelf Registration Statement

The Company has an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) which allows it to periodically offer and sell, individually or in any combination, shares of common
stock, shares of preferred stock, warrants to purchase shares of common stock or preferred stock, and units consisting of any
combination of the foregoing types of securities, up to a total of $25.00 million, of which all is available. However, the Company
may offer and sell no more than one-third of its public float (which is the aggregate market value of the Company’s outstanding
common stock held by non-affiliates) in any 12-month period. The Company’s ability to issue equity securities under its effective
shelf registration statement is subject to market conditions, which may be in turn, subject to, among other things, the potential
disruption and volatility caused by ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

On June 11, 2019, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 6,250,000 newly issued shares of common stock, at
a price to the public of $1.60 per share, pursuant to its then effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3. Net proceeds from
the offering were approximately $9.06 million, net of the underwriting discount and fees and expenses in the amount of
approximately $941,000. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting agreement entered in connection with this offering, the
underwriters were granted a 30-day option to buy up to an additional 937,500 shares of the Company’s common stock to cover
over-allotments. Accordingly, on July 3, 2019, the Company issued an additional 630,500 shares of its common stock at a price
of $1.60 per share for net proceeds of approximately $932,000, net of the underwriting discount and fees and expenses of
approximately $77,000. After giving effect to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option, the Company sold an aggregate of
6,880,500 shares of its common stock at a price of $1.60 per share with total gross proceeds of approximately $11.01 million,
before deducting the total underwriting discount and fees and expenses of approximately $1.02 million.

Equity Compensation Plans

2018 Equity Incentive Plan

On November 21, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan, (the “2018 Plan”). The 2018 Plan will expire by its terms on September 20, 2028.
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The 2018 Plan provides for the grant of equity-based awards to selected employees, directors, and consultants of the Company
and its affiliates. The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock that could be issued pursuant to awards
granted under the 2018 Plan are not to exceed the sum of 3,300,000 plus the number of shares of common stock underlying any
award granted under any stock incentive plan maintained by the Company prior to the 2018 Plan (each, a “2018 Prior Plan”) that
expires, terminates or is canceled or forfeited under the terms of the 2018 Prior Plans. Stock options granted to employees under
the 2018 Plan generally vest over four years and have terms of up to 10 years. The vesting schedules and terms of stock options
granted to independent contractors vary depending on the specific grant, but the terms are no longer than 10 years. Stock option
awards granted to members of the Board of Directors generally vest at the end of one year from the date of the grant. The vesting
schedules of restricted stock awards granted to employees or independent contractors vary depending on the specific grant but are
generally four years or less. Only stock options and restricted stock have been granted under the 2018 Plan. As of June 30, 2021
and 2020, there were 1,151,935 and 790,407 stock options outstanding under the 2018 Plan, respectively.

2008 Stock Incentive Plan

In May 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2008 Stock Incentive Plan,
as amended on March 31, 2015 and approved by the shareholders of the Company on May 20, 2015 and further amended on
March 15, 2016 and approved by the shareholders of the Company on May 18, 2016 (the “2008 Plan”). The 2008 Plan expired
(with respect to future grants) on May 26, 2018.

The 2008 Plan authorized the Company to grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other equity awards
to selected employees, directors, and independent contractors. The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock
that could be issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2008 Plan were not to exceed the sum of 6,000,000 plus any shares of
common stock subject to an award granted under any stock incentive plan maintained by the Company prior to the 2008 Plan
(each, a “2008 Prior Plan”) that is forfeited, cancelled, terminated, expires, or lapses for any reason without the issuance of shares
pursuant to the award, or shares subject to an award granted under a 2008 Prior Plan which shares are forfeited to, or repurchased
or reacquired by, the Company. Stock options granted to employees under the 2008 Plan generally vest over four years and have
terms of up to 10 years. The vesting schedules and terms of stock options granted to independent contractors vary depending on
the specific grant, but the terms are no longer than 10 years. Stock option awards granted to members of the Board of Directors
generally vest at the end of one year from the date of the grant. The vesting schedules of restricted stock awards granted to
employees or independent contractors vary depending on the specific grant but are generally four years or less. Only stock
options and restricted stock had been granted under the 2008 Plan. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, there were 1,083,351 and
2,018,688 stock options outstanding under the 2008 Plan, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the components of the Company’s stock-based compensation included in net income (loss) for
the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Employee stock options  $ 234,947  $ 309,999 
Restricted stock awards   117,636   149,539 

Total  $ 352,583  $ 459,538 

No stock-based compensation was capitalized as a cost of inventory during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.
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Stock Options

The following is a summary of the stock option activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

  Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
Outstanding at June 30, 2019   2,523,638  $ 1.39 

Granted   605,387  $ 0.95 
Forfeited   (125,005)  $ 1.02 
Expired   (194,925)  $ 1.18 

Outstanding at June 30, 2020   2,809,095  $ 1.19 
Granted   438,533  $ 1.05 
Exercised   (947,435)   0.95 
Forfeited   (7,000)  $ 1.23 
Expired   (57,907)  $ 1.95 

Outstanding at June 30, 2021   2,235,286  $ 1.24 

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was
$0.54 and $0.50, respectively. The total fair value of stock options that vested during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 was approximately $650,000 and $282,000, respectively.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions for stock options granted during the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%
Expected volatility   61.7%   63.2%
Risk-free interest rate   0.36%   0.82%
Expected lives (years)   4.9   5.2 

The following tables summarize information in connection with stock options outstanding at June 30, 2021:

Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable   Options Vested or Expected to Vest  

Balance
as of

6/30/2021   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(Years)   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Balance
as of

6/30/2021   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(Years)   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Balance
as of

6/30/2021   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(Years)   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
 2,235,286   6.47  $ 1.24   1,696,003   5.62  $ 1.31   2,166,723   6.39  $ 1.25 

As of June 30, 2021, the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options was approximately
$192,000, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 19 months.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding, and vested or expected to vest at June 30, 2021 was approximately
$3.77 million. These amounts are before applicable income taxes and represent the closing market price of the Company’s
common stock at June 30, 2021, less the grant price, multiplied by the number of stock options that had a grant price that is less
than the closing market price. These amounts represent the amounts that would have been received by the optionees had these
stock options been exercised on those dates. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 was approximately $1.24 million. The total tax benefit associated with stock options exercised during the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021, was approximately $147,000. No stock options were exercised during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020.
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Restricted Stock

The following is a summary of the restricted stock activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

  Shares   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Unvested at June 30, 2019   129,500  $ 1.08 
Granted   325,000  $ 1.57 
Vested   (258,341)  $ 1.07 
Canceled   (33,659)  $ 1.07 

Unvested at June 30, 2020   162,500  $ 1.57 
Granted   178,750  $ 0.72 
Canceled   (162,500)  $ 1.57 

Unvested at June 30, 2021   178,750  $ 0.72 

The unvested restricted shares as of June 30, 2021 are all performance-based restricted shares that are scheduled to vest, subject
to achievement of the underlying performance goals, in July 2021. As of June 30, 2021, the estimated unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense related to unvested restricted shares subject to achievement of performance goals was approximately
$11,000, all of which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately one month.

13. INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred income taxes are
recognized for the income tax consequences of “temporary differences” by applying enacted statutory income tax rates applicable
to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the income tax bases of existing assets and
liabilities.

The Company’s income tax net benefit (expense) for the periods presented comprises the following:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Current:       
Federal  $ -  $ - 
State   (18,409)   (1,733)

Total current expense   (18,409)   (1,733)
         

Deferred:         
Federal   6,062,222   - 
State   288,608   - 

Total deferred benefit (expense)   6,350,830   - 
Income tax net benefit (expense)  $ 6,332,421  $ (1,733)
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Significant components of the Company’s noncurrent deferred tax assets, net, as of the dates presented are as follows:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Deferred tax assets:       
Reversals and accruals  $ 454,846  $ 476,666 
Federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards   3,989,278   4,980,513 
State NOL carryforwards   585,563   663,918 
Hong Kong NOL carryforwards   995,566   995,566 
Federal benefit on state taxes under uncertain tax    positions   2,073   1,668 
Stock-based compensation   149,047   177,508 
Section 263A adjustment   122,562   215,416 
Research tax credit   -   252 
Contributions carryforward   -   7,184 
Inventory valuation reserve   1,605,871   1,594,795 
Operating lease liabilities   942,471   185,422 
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets   -   32,749 
Valuation allowance   (1,452,296)   (8,988,696)

Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net   7,394,981   342,961 
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Prepaid expenses   (44,890)   (39,943)
Depreciation   (105,369)   (172,010)
Operating lease right-of-use assets   (893,892)   (131,008)

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities   (1,044,151)   (342,961)
Total noncurrent deferred tax assets, net  $ 6,350,830  $ - 

The following are reconciliations between expected income taxes, computed at the applicable statutory federal income tax rate
applied to pretax accounting loss, and the income tax net benefit (expense) for the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  

Anticipated income tax (expense) benefit at statutory rate  $ (1,360,452)  $ 1,293,673 
State income tax (expense) benefit, net of federal tax effect   (84,288)   64,034 
Income tax effect of uncertain tax positions   (1,468)   17,508 
Return to provision adjustments   (45)   1 
Stock-based compensation   38,197   (31,195)
PPP Loan forgiveness   202,729   - 
Other changes in deferred income tax assets, net   1,348   (114,288)
Decrease (Increase) in valuation allowance   7,536,400   (1,231,466)

Income tax net benefit (expense)  $ 6,332,421  $ (1,733)

The Company’s statutory tax rate as of June 30, 2021 is 22.24% and consisted of the federal income tax rate of 21% and a
blended state income tax rate of 1.24%, net of the federal benefit. The Company’s statutory tax rate as of the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020 was 22.11% and consisted of the federal income tax rate of 21% and a blended state income tax rate of 1.11%, net
of the federal benefit.

As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact its view with
regard to future realization of available deferred tax assets. As of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not
recognize an income tax benefit for any of its deferred tax assets, primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards and
inventory valuation reserves, because management determined that sufficient negative evidence continued to exist to conclude it
was uncertain that the Company would have sufficient future taxable income to utilize its deferred tax assets.
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However, as of June 30, 2021, cumulative positive taxable income over the last three tax years had been generated in the U.S., as
compared to the negative evidence of cumulative losses in previous years. The Company’s management also determined that its
expectations of future taxable income in upcoming tax years, including estimated growth rates applied to future expected taxable
income that includes significant management estimates and assumptions, would be sufficient to result in full utilization of the
Company’s federal net operating loss carryforwards and certain of the deferred tax assets prior to any statutory expiration. As a
result, the Company’s management determined that sufficient positive evidence exists as of June 30, 2021, to conclude that it is
more likely than not deferred tax assets of approximately $6.35 million are realizable, and it reduced the Company’s valuation
allowance accordingly. The reduction of the valuation allowances against these deferred tax assets was the main driver of the
income tax benefit during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of approximately $6.33 million. A valuation allowance remains
against certain deferred tax assets primarily relating to state net operating loss carryforwards from the Company’s e-commerce
subsidiary due to the timing uncertainty of when it will generate positive taxable income to utilize the associated deferred tax
assets. In addition, as detailed below, a valuation allowance also remains against certain deferred tax assets relating to operating
loss carryforwards relating to the Company’s dormant subsidiary located in Hong Kong.

As of June 30, 2021, all of the Company’s remaining federal income tax credits had expired or been utilized, and therefore, are
not available to be carried forward to offset future income taxes. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had federal tax net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $19.00 million and $23.72 million, respectively, expiring between 2034 and 2037,
or that have no expiration, which can be used to offset against future federal taxable income; North Carolina tax net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $19.87 million and  $20.12 million, respectively, expiring between 2023 and 2035; and
various other state tax net operating loss carryforwards expiring between 2023 and 2040, which can be used to offset against
future state taxable income.

As of each of June 30, 2021 and 2020, there was approximately $6.03 million in net operating loss carryforwards in Hong Kong.
In accordance with the Hong Kong tax code, these amounts can be carried forward indefinitely to offset future taxable income in
Hong Kong. The Company’s deferred tax assets in Hong Kong were fully reserved with a valuation allowance of $996,000 as of
each of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and had been fully reserved in all prior fiscal periods due to the uncertainty of future taxable
income in this jurisdiction to utilize the deferred tax assets. Charles & Colvard (HK) Ltd., the Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary,
was entered into dormancy as of September 30, 2020, following its re-activation in December 2017. Charles & Colvard (HK)
Ltd. previously became dormant in the second quarter of 2009 and has had no operating activity since 2008. If the Company uses
any portion of its deferred tax assets in future periods, the valuation allowance would need to be reversed and may impact the
Company’s future operating results.

Pursuant to provisions of the CARES Act, existing AMT credit carryforwards were eligible for acceleration and refundable AMT
credits were to be completely refunded to companies for taxable years beginning in 2019, or by election, taxable years beginning
in 2018. Accordingly, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Company elected to have its AMT credit in the amount of
approximately $270,000 refunded and filed a refund claim with the IRS for the remaining AMT tax credit. Consequently, the full
amount of the Company’s AMT credit refund was refunded by the IRS during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

The Company continues to monitor future developments and interpretations of the CARES Act and other federal and state
legislative actions for any material impacts on its future results of operations, financial position, and liquidity.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The gross liability for income taxes associated with uncertain tax positions at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, was
approximately $10,000 and $8,000, respectively. The gross liability, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s
effective tax rate.

The Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties associated with tax audits is to record such items as a component of
the provision for income taxes. The Company accrued approximately $2,000 of interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax positions for each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. Including the interest and penalties recorded for uncertain
tax positions, there is a total of approximately $7,000 and $5,000 of interest and penalties included in the accrued income tax
liability for uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. To the extent interest and penalties are not
ultimately incurred with respect to uncertain tax positions, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the
overall income tax provision.
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In all significant federal and state jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, the Company has analyzed filing
positions for all tax years in which the statute of limitations is open. The only periods subject to examination by the major tax
jurisdictions where the Company does business are the tax years ended December 31, 2016 through June 30, 2020. The Company
does not believe that the outcome of any examination will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and
does not expect settlement on any uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months. Beginning with the transition period ended
June 30, 2018, the Company’s tax year conforms with its fiscal accounting period year ending on June 30 of each year.

14. MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

At times, a portion of the Company’s accounts receivable will be due from customers that have individual balances of 10% or
more of the Company’s total gross accounts receivable.

The following is a summary of customers that represent greater than or equal to 10% of total gross accounts receivable as of the
dates presented:

  June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Customer A   30%   26%
Customer B   22%   14%
Customer C   14%   13%

A significant portion of sales is derived from certain customer relationships. The following is a summary of customers that
represent greater than or equal to 10% of total net sales for the periods presented:

  Year Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Customer A   13%   12%
Customer B   12%   13%

The Company records its sales returns allowance at the corporate level based on several factors including historical sales return
activity and specific allowances for known customer returns.

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

All full-time employees who meet certain length of service requirements are eligible to participate in and receive benefits from
the Company’s 401(k) Plan. This plan provides for matching contributions by the Company in such amounts as the Board of
Directors may annually determine, as well as a 401(k) option under which eligible participants may defer a portion of their
salaries. The Company contributed a total of $72,000 and $82,000 to its employee benefit defined contribution plan during the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On July 12, 2021, the Company obtained a cash collateralized $5.00 million line of credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. See Note 11, “Debt”, for a more detailed description of the Company’s credit facility.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2021. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, means controls and
other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives, as ours are designed to do, and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We routinely review our internal control over financial reporting and from time to time make changes intended to enhance the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We have not experienced any material impact to our internal control
over financial reporting even though a segment of our corporate headquarters employees continue working a hybrid of remote
and in-person schedules due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are continually monitoring and assessing the impact of COVID-19
on our internal control over financial reporting to minimize the impact on its design and operating effectiveness. We will continue
to evaluate the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting on an ongoing
basis and will take action as appropriate. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we made no changes to our internal
control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, that we believe
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term
is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
 
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
 

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
 

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
our management and directors; and

 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that

could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements.
 
In making the assessment of internal control over financial reporting, our management used the criteria issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO, in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based
on that assessment and those criteria, management determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of June 30, 2021.
 
Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for in Items 10 through 14 is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement relating to
our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) and (2). The consolidated financial statements and report of our independent registered public accounting firm are filed as
part of this report (see “Index to Financial Statements,” at Part II, Item 8). The financial statement schedules are not included in
this Item as they are either not applicable or the information is otherwise included in the consolidated financial statements or the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

(a)(3). The following exhibits have been or are being filed herewith and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation
S-K:

Exhibit No. Description
  

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004)

  
3.2 Bylaws of Charles & Colvard, Ltd., as amended and restated, effective May 19, 2011 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 24, 2011)
  

4.1 Specimen Certificate of Common Stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998)

  
4.2 Description of Common Stock++
  

10.1 Exclusive Supply Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2014, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., Cree, Inc. and, solely for
purposes of Section 6(c) of the Exclusive Supply Agreement, Charles & Colvard Direct, LLC and moissanite.com, LLC (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the
SEC on February 4, 2021)**

  
10.2 First Amendment to Exclusive Supply Agreement, dated as of June 22, 2018, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Cree, Inc.

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on June 27, 2018)*
  

10.3 Second Amendment to Exclusive Supply Agreement, effective as of June 30, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Cree,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, as
filed with the SEC on September 4, 2020)**

  
10.4 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2021, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 13, 2021)
  

10.5 Line of Credit Note, dated as of July 12, 2021, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 13, 2021)

  
10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, Charles & Colvard

Direct, LLC, and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form
8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 17, 2018)

  
10.7 Security Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, Charles & Colvard

Direct, LLC, and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Transition Report on
Form 10-KT for the transition period ended June 30, 2018)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1015155/000119312505056618/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1015155/000101515511000022/exhibit31.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1015155/000114036118037984/ex10_4.htm
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10.8 Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., charlesandcolvard.com, LLC, Charles &
Colvard Direct, LLC, Cree, Inc., and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our
Transition Report on Form 10-KT for the transition period ended June 30, 2018)

  
10.9 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated June 15, 2020, by and among Charles & Colvard, Ltd., charlesandcolvard.com, LLC,

Charles & Colvard Direct, LLC, and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the SEC on September 4, 2020)

  
10.10 Promissory Note, dated June 15, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd., and Newtek Small Business Finance, LLC

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, as filed with
the SEC on September 4, 2020)

  
10.11 Lease Agreement, dated December 9, 2013, between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Southport Business Park Limited Partnership** ++

  
10.12 First Amendment to Lease, dated December 23, 2013, between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Southport Business Park Limited

Partnership (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2013)

  
10.13 Second Amendment to Lease, dated April 15, 2014, between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Southport Business Park Limited Partnership

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014)
  

10.14 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated January 29, 2021, between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and SBP Office Owner, L.P.,
successor to Southport Business Park Limited Partnership (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the SEC on February 4, 2021)

  
10.15 Board Compensation Program, effective October 1, 2017 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017)+
  

10.16 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2008 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 20, 2016)+

  
10.17 Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.116 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on June 2, 2008)+
  

10.18 Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.118 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on June 2, 2008)+

  
10.19 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-

K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)+
  

10.20 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)

  
10.21 Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)
  

10.22 Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1015155/000114420418058774/tv506793_ex10-4.htm
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10.23 Form of Non-Employee Director Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)

  
10.24 Form of Independent Contractor Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Charles & Colvard, Ltd. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018)
  

10.25 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. Fiscal 2019 Q1-Q2 Senior Management Equity Incentive Program, effective July 1, 2018 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 29, 2018)+

  
10.26 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. Fiscal 2019 Q3-Q4 Senior Management Equity Incentive Program, effective January 1, 2019 (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019)+
  

10.27 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. Fiscal 2020 Senior Management Equity Incentive Program, effective July 1, 2019 (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 11, 2019)+

  
10.28 Charles & Colvard, Ltd. Fiscal 2021 Senior Management Equity Incentive Program, effective July 1, 2020 (incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on August 4, 2020)+
  

10.29 Employment Agreement, dated December 1, 2015, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Suzanne Miglucci (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015)+

  
10.30 Employment Agreement, dated May 23, 2017, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Clint J. Pete (incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 24, 2017)+
  

10.31 Employment Agreement, dated May 23, 2017, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Don O’Connell (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 24, 2017)+

  
10.32 Amendment to 2015 Employment Agreement, dated April 9, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Suzanne Miglucci

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on April 9, 2020)+
  

10.33 Amendment to 2017 Employment Agreement, dated April 9, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Clint J. Pete
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on April 9, 2020)+

  
10.34 Amendment to 2017 Employment Agreement, dated April 9, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Don O’Connell

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on April 9, 2020)+
  

10.35 Separation of Employment Agreement, dated May 28, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Suzanne Miglucci
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 29, 2020)+

  
10.36 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2020, by and between Charles & Colvard, Ltd. and Don

O’Connell (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 29,
2020)+

  
21.1 Subsidiaries of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.++
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Table of Contents

23.1 Consent of BDO USA, LLP++
  

31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002++

  
31.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002++
  

32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002++

  
32.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002++
  

101 The following materials from Charles & Colvard, Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 formatted
in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and furnished electronically herewith: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii)
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows; and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

  
* Asterisks located within the exhibit denote information which has been redacted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed

with the SEC.
  

** Asterisks located within the exhibit denote information which has been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K
because it is both not material and would likely cause competitive harm to us if publicly disclosed.

  
+ Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

  
++ Denotes filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
   
 By: /s/ Don O’Connell
September 2, 2021  Don O’Connell
  President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

 By: /s/ Don O’Connell
September 2, 2021  Don O’Connell
  Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
   
 By: /s/ Clint J. Pete
September 2, 2021  Clint J. Pete

  
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Chief
Accounting Officer)

   
 By: /s/ Neal I. Goldman
September 2, 2021  Neal I. Goldman
  Chairman of the Board of Directors
   
 By: /s/ Anne M. Butler
September 2, 2021  Anne M. Butler
  Director
  
 By: /s/ Benedetta Casamento
September 2, 2021  Benedetta Casamento
  Director
   
 By: /s/ Ollin B. Sykes
September 2, 2021  Ollin B. Sykes
  Director
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Exhibit 4.2

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK OF CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description is a summary of information concerning the common stock, no par value per share (the “Common
Stock”), of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (“we,” “our,” “us,” or the “Company”) and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to
and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Restated Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles of Incorporation”) and Amended
and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”), each of which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-
K of which this Exhibit 4.2 is a part.
 
Authorized Common Stock
 
Our Articles of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 50,000,000 shares of Common Stock. Our authorized but unissued shares
of Common Stock are available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless such action is required by
applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded.
 
Voting
 
Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders and
do not have cumulative voting rights. An election of directors by our shareholders shall be determined by a plurality of the votes
cast by the shareholders entitled to vote on the election.
 
Dividends
 
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive proportionately any dividends as may be declared and paid by our board of
directors, subject to such funds being legally available for the payment of dividends and any preferential dividend rights of any
series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.
 
Rights and Preferences
 
Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and
privileges of holders of Common Stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of holders of shares of any
series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.
 
Liquidation
 
In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive proportionately
our net assets available for distribution to shareholders after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior
rights of any outstanding preferred stock.
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Preferred Stock
 
Under the terms of our Articles of Incorporation, our board of directors is authorized to provide for the issuance of shares of
preferred stock in one or more series without shareholder approval. Our board of directors has the discretion to determine the
preferences, limitations and relative rights, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock. The preferred stock may have voting or conversion rights that could
have the effect of restricting dividends on our Common Stock, diluting the voting power of our shares of Common Stock,
impairing the rights of our Common Stock in the event of our dissolution, liquidation or winding-up or otherwise adversely
affecting the rights of holders of our Common Stock. The holders of preferred stock are not entitled to vote at any meeting of
shareholders, except as otherwise provided in the rights and restrictions attached to the shares by our board of directors.

Anti-Takeover Provisions
 
Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that will make it more difficult for our existing shareholders to
replace our board of directors as well as for another party to obtain control of the Company by replacing our board of directors.
Since our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult
for existing shareholders or another party to effect a change in management or could otherwise impede the success of any attempt
to change the control of the Company.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its
policies and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of the Company.
These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and to discourage certain
tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, these provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making
tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control of the Company
or management. As a consequence, these provisions also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result
from actual or rumored takeover attempts.

Authorized but Unissued Stock. Our Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuance of a significant number of shares of common
stock and preferred stock. A large quantity of authorized but unissued shares may deter potential takeover attempts because of the
ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of some or all of these shares to a friendly party, or to the public, which
would make it more difficult for a potential acquirer to obtain control of the Company. This possibility may encourage persons
seeking to acquire control of the Company to negotiate first with our board of directors.

Our authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock could also have anti-takeover effects. Under certain circumstances, any or
all of the preferred stock could be used as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control or management
of the Company. For example, our board of directors could designate and issue a series of preferred stock in an amount that
sufficiently increases the number of outstanding shares to overcome a vote by the holders of common stock, or with rights and
preferences that include special voting rights to veto a change in control. The preferred stock could also be used in connection
with the issuance of a shareholder rights plan, sometimes referred to as a “poison pill.” Our board of directors is able to
implement a shareholder rights plan without further action by our shareholders.
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Use of our preferred stock in the foregoing manner could delay or frustrate a merger, tender offer or proxy contest, the removal of
incumbent directors or the assumption of control by shareholders, even if these actions would be beneficial to our shareholders.
In addition, the existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock could discourage bids for the Company even if
such bid represents a premium over our then-existing trading price.

No Cumulative Voting. Because our shareholders do not have cumulative voting rights, our shareholders holding a majority of the
voting power of our shares of common stock outstanding will be able to elect all of our directors.

Special Meetings of Shareholders. Our Bylaws provide that special meetings of shareholders may be called only by our president
or by our board of directors. Shareholders are not permitted to call a special meeting of shareholders or to require that our
president or our board of directors request the calling of a special meeting of shareholders. These provisions may make a change
in control of the Company more difficult by delaying shareholder actions to elect directors until the next annual shareholder
meeting.

Advance Notice Requirement. Shareholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our shareholders must comply
with advance notice procedures. These advance notice procedures require timely notice and apply in several situations, including
shareholder proposals relating to the nomination of persons for election to our board of directors. Generally, to be timely, notice
must be delivered to or mailed and received at our principal executive offices not less than 60 nor more than 90 days prior to the
first anniversary of the notice date in our proxy statement for the previous year’s annual meeting of shareholders. These
provisions may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not
followed. These provisions may also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.

Election and Removal of Directors; Filling Vacancies. Our Bylaws permit vacancies in our board of directors to be filled by our
board of directors, or in the event that the remaining directors in office constitute fewer than a quorum of the board of directors,
by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors or by a plurality of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders.
Given that a special shareholder meeting may only be called by our president or by our board of directors, effectively only the
board of directors may fill vacancies.

While we do not currently have a classified board, our Bylaws provide that at any time that we have nine or more directors, the
directors will be divided into three classes, as nearly equal in number as possible. As a result, if we have nine or more directors,
only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of shareholders, with the other classes continuing for the
remainder of their respective three-year terms. The classification of our board of directors and provisions described above may
have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in our control or management.
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Shareholder Approval of Certain Business Combinations. Our Articles of Incorporation contain a supermajority vote provision
requiring approval of two-thirds in interest of our issued and outstanding voting shares for certain business combinations
involving significant beneficial owners, or Interested Shareholders, such as a merger, unless (i) the business combination has
been approved by at least two-thirds of the directors serving on the date the supermajority provisions of the articles of
incorporation were adopted by our shareholders, or directors who have been nominated by us to directly succeed such a director
or to join the board of directors, or the Continuing Directors, and, if deemed advisable by a majority of the Continuing Directors,
the Board has obtained an opinion of a reputable investment banking firm stating that the financial terms of such business
combination are fair from a financial point of view to the holders of our voting shares, or (ii) all of the following conditions are
satisfied: (A) the consideration to be received by the shareholders is cash or in the same form as previously paid by or on behalf
of any Interested Shareholder in connection with its direct or indirect acquisition of beneficial ownership of any shares of
common stock, (B) the aggregate amount of the cash and the fair market value of consideration other than cash to be received per
share by holders of common stock in any business combination is at least equal to the greater of (1) the fair market value per
share of common stock on the date of the first public announcement of the proposal of a business combination, or the
Announcement Date, or on the date on which the Interested Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder, whichever is higher,
multiplied by the ratio of (a) the highest per share price paid by the Interested Shareholder for any shares of common stock
acquired by it within the two-year period immediately prior to the Announcement Date to (b) the fair market value per share of
common stock on the first day in such two-year period on which the Interested Shareholder acquired any shares of common
stock, or (2) the highest per share price paid by such Interested Shareholder in acquiring any of our common stock; and (C) after
becoming an Interested Shareholder and prior to the consummation of any business combination, (1) such Interested Shareholder
must not have acquired any newly issued shares of capital stock, directly or indirectly, from us (except upon conversion of
convertible securities acquired by it prior to becoming an Interested Shareholder or upon compliance with the supermajority
provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or as a result of a pro rata stock dividend or stock split) and (2) such Interested
Shareholder must not have received the benefit, directly or indirectly (except proportionately as a shareholder), of any loans,
advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial assistance or tax credits provided by us, or made any significant changes in our
business or equity capital structure.

Listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market
 
Shares of Common Stock are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market and are quoted under the symbol “CTHR.”
 
Transfer Agent
 
The transfer agent for Common Stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.



Portions of this exhibit marked as “[****]” have been excluded because they are both not material and would likely cause
competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed.

Exhibit 10.11

SOUTHPORT – CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.

LEASE OF SPACE IN A SECOND GENERATION OFFICE BUILDING

ARTICLE DESCRIPTION

1 BASIC PROVISIONS
2 ADDITIONAL RENT
3 LANDLORD'S  WORK
4 USE OF THE PROPERTY BY THE TENANT
5 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE BY THE TENANT
6 REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE, UTILITIES AND SERVICES BY THE LANDLORD
7 COMMON AREAS
8 INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
9 LANDLORD'S RESERVED RIGHTS
10 FINANCING AND REFINANCING
11 DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION
12 DEFAULT BY TENANT AND LANDLORD’S REMEDIES
13 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SIGNATURES
EXHIBITS
A. DEMISED PREMISES
B. LANDLORD'S WORK
C. SPECIAL PROVISIONS
D. TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
E. ATTORNMENT, SUBORDINATION AND NON-DISTURBANCE
F. MANUFACTURING AREA

09/03/10
10/17/13
11/11/13
11/19/13
11/25/13
11/27/13



LEASE AGREEMENT

SINGLE STORY OFFICE BUILDING
NORTH CAROLINA
WAKE COUNTY

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”), is made and entered into as of the

9th day of December, 2013
by and between

SOUTHPORT BUSINESS PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
a North Carolina limited partnership
hereinafter referred to as “Landlord”

AND

CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.

a North Carolina corporation
hereinafter referred to as “Tenant”

STATEMENT OF PURPOSES

Landlord is the owner of Southport Business Park, an office, research and development and distribution park located in the Town
of Morrisville, Wake County, North Carolina (“Property”). Landlord and Tenant have agreed that Landlord shall lease to Tenant
and Tenant shall lease from Landlord certain space located at 170 Southport Drive, Morrisville, North Carolina 27560 and have
agreed to enter into this Lease to evidence the terms and conditions of the leasing of the space by Landlord to Tenant.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained
and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are mutually acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant
hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
BASIC PROVISIONS

SECTION 1.01 - THE DEMISED PREMISES
Subject in all respects to the terms, conditions, agreements and limitations of this Lease, the Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and
Tenant hereby leases from Landlord the following described space, hereinafter referred to as the “Demised Premises”:

That area indicated as the Demised Premises on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, which
contains approximately Thirty Six Thousand Three Hundred Forty-four (36,344) rentable square feet, herein referred
to as the “Rentable Square Feet”, as measured by BOMA standard ANSI/BOMA Z65.1-1996 or later standard if a new
one has been issued, and which is designated as Suite 100.

The Demised Premises are located in Building 17 of Southport Business Park, herein referred to as the “Building”. The lot on
which the Building is located is referred to herein as the “Lot”.

SECTION 1.02 - TERM OF THE LEASE
Subject in all respects to the terms, limitations, conditions and agreements contained herein, the term of this Lease (herein
referred to as the “Term”) shall commence on the earlier of (i) the date that the Tenant takes possession of the Demised
Premises for the normal conduct of business or (ii) the date Landlord’s Work (as defined herein) is substantially completed and
Landlord has tendered possession of the Demised Premises to Tenant, subject to the terms of Section 3.05 below (the
“Commencement Date”), and shall terminate at 11:59 p.m. on August 31, 2021 (the “Expiration Date”), unless sooner terminated
as provided herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Commencement Date be earlier than the Target
Completion Date (as hereinafter defined).



Landlord estimates that Landlord’s Work will be substantially completed and that Landlord will tender occupancy of the Demised
Premises on or before April 1, 2014 (as the same may be adjusted pursuant to Article 3.04, the “Target Completion Date”).
Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to tender occupancy of the Demised Premises, with Landlord’s Work
substantially complete, no later than the Target Completion Date.

Tenant shall be permitted reasonable access to the Demised Premises prior to the Commencement Date for the purposes
of taking measurements, making plans, installing trade fixtures, furniture, and equipment, and doing such other work as
may be appropriate or desirable to enable Tenant to assume possession of and operate in the Demised Premises; provided,
however, that such access does not unreasonably interfere with or delay Landlord’s Work. Any such delay is subject to
Section 3.05. Prior to any such entry, Tenant shall comply with all insurance provisions of the Lease. All waiver and
indemnity provisions of the Lease shall apply upon Tenant’s entry onto the Demised Premises.

Landlord and Tenant agree to sign a statement confirming the actual Commencement Date as soon as it is determined (the
“Acceptance of Demised Premises Memorandum”). If no Acceptance of Demised Premises Memorandum is executed by both
Landlord and Tenant, the Commencement Date shall be the earlier of (i) the date on which Tenant takes possession of the
Demised Premises for the normal conduct of its business or (ii) the date Landlord reasonably determines that it would have
substantially completed the Landlord’s Work and tendered possession of the Demised Premises to Tenant, but for a Tenant Delay
(as defined in Section - 3.05); provided, however, that the actual Commencement Date will not be set earlier than the
Target Completion Date as the result of any alleged Tenant Delay.

SECTION 1.03 - USE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES
Subject to the general limitations of Section 4.01 and to the terms, limitations, conditions and agreements contained herein,
Tenant may use the Demised Premises for the following purposes but for none other without Landlord's prior written consent
(not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed): Offices, storage, and light manufacturing for a gem
manufacturing company.

In determining the reasonableness of the proposed use, Landlord may consider the character or reputation of the
proposed business. It: (i) may not be one which would be harmful to the image and reputation of the Property; (ii) must
reasonably be expected to perform the obligations of “Tenant” hereunder; (iii) will not use the Demised Premises in a
manner that would conflict with any exclusive use agreement or other similar agreement entered into by Landlord with
any other tenant of the Property; (iv) proposes to use the Demised Premises so as to not materially increase the pedestrian
or vehicular traffic to the Demised Premises or Property; and without limiting the foregoing, Landlord may withhold its
consent (and it shall not be deemed unreasonable), to any such change of use of the Demised Premises for any party (A)
which is a governmental entity (or subdivision or agency thereof); (B) which intends to use, store, or generate any
Hazardous Substances in, on, or about the Demised Premises other than amounts permitted under this Lease.

SECTION 1.04 - RENT AND ADJUSTMENTS TO RENT
Each Lease Year (as defined below) during the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall pay rent (“Annual Minimum Rent”) to the
Landlord in consecutive monthly installments (“Monthly Minimum Rent”) due on the first day of each calendar month, without
demand, deduction or setoff, payable to Landlord by U.S. Mail to Windsor Property Management Commercial Lockbox, P.O.
Box 403216, Atlanta, GA 30384-3216 or such other address as Landlord may specify in writing, all as shown on the following
table (the “Minimum Rent Chart”):



 
 

Lease Year  
Annual

Minimum Rent  
Monthly

Minimum Rent  

Annual Minimum
Rent Per Rentable

Square Foot  
Lease Year 1          
Commencement Date  $ 545,160.00  $ 45,430.00  $ 15.00 
through March 31, 2015             
             
Lease Year 2             
April 1, 2015 through  $ 560,151.90  $ 46,679.33  $ 15.41 
March 31, 2016             
             
Lease Year 3             
April 1, 2016 through  $ 575,556.08  $ 47,963.01  $ 15.84 
March 31, 2017             
             
Lease Year 4             
April 1, 2017 through  $ 591,383.87  $ 49,281.99  $ 16.27 
March 31, 2018             
             
Lease Year 5             
April 1, 2018 through  $ 607,646.93  $ 50,637.24  $ 16.72 
March 31, 2019             
             
Lease Year 6             
April 1, 2019 through  $ 624,357.22  $ 52,029.77  $ 17.18 
March 31, 2020             
             
Lease Year 7             
April 1, 2020 through  $ 641,527.04  $ 53,460.59  $ 17.65 
March 31, 2021             
             
Partial Year             
April 1, 2021  through   N/A  $ 54,930.75   N/A 
August 31, 2021             

*The Minimum Rent Chart assumes that the Commencement Date is April 1, 2014. The Minimum Rent Chart is subject to
Adjustment per Section 2.01. If the actual Commencement Date is later, then the dates set out in the Minimum Rent Chart shall
be adjusted accordingly taking into account the annual rate increase every Lease Year, except that the Expiration Date shall
remain unchanged and the Annual Minimum Rent amounts shall be adjusted, if necessary, because of any change in the actual
Lease Years. Note: In addition to the Monthly Minimum Rent shown on the rent table above, Tenant shall also pay Additional
Rent for Tenant’s proportionate share of increases in Direct Expenses as provided in Article 2 below.

Monthly Minimum Rent for the first full month of the Term in which rent is not abated is due and payable with Tenant’s
submission of the executed Lease to Landlord. If the Commencement Date is on a day other than the first day of a calendar
month, then (i) such initial partial month shall be added to the first Lease Year, and (ii) the Tenant shall also pay, on or before the
Commencement Date, rent to Landlord for the initial partial month (being the period from the Commencement Date through the
end of that month), equal to the Monthly Minimum Rent for the first Lease Year, divided by thirty (30) and multiplied by the
number of days remaining in the month, beginning with the Commencement Date and ending with the last day of the calendar
month in which the Commencement Date occurs.

For the purposes of this Lease, the term “Lease Year” shall mean each consecutive twelve (12) month period during the term of
this Lease starting on the Commencement Date except (i) if Commencement Date is not on the first day of the month, the first
Lease Year shall include any initial partial month and each subsequent Lease Year shall begin on the anniversary of the first day
of the first full month of the Lease Term and (ii) the last Lease Year may contain less than 12 months.



SECTION 1.05 - RENT ABATEMENT
Notwithstanding what is shown on the Minimum Rent Chart, no Monthly Minimum Rent shall be due for the following months
(the “Abatement Months”): the first seven (7) full months following the Commencement Date (currently projected to be
April, 2014 through October, 2014).

SECTION 1.06 – SECURITY DEPOSIT
Tenant hereby agrees to pay to Landlord when Tenant submits the executed Lease to Landlord, the sum of: Forty Five Thousand
Four Hundred Thirty Dollars ($45,430.00) and on or before the Commencement Date an additional Ninety Thousand Eight
Hundred Sixty Dollars ($90,860.00) for a total of One Hundred Thirty Six Thousand Two Hundred Ninety and 00/100
DOLLARS ($136,290.00), hereinafter referred to as (the “Security Deposit”), which sum Landlord shall retain as security for the
performance by Tenant of each of its obligations hereunder. At the end of the Twenty-eighth (28th) full month of the Term
(provided there is no uncured Event of Default), Landlord shall refund Ninety Thousand Eight Hundred Sixty Dollars
($90,860.00) leaving a balance of Forty Five Thousand Four Hundred Thirty Dollars ($45,430.00) as Security Deposit. The
Security Deposit shall be held, applied and refunded in the manner and subject to the conditions hereinafter provided.

SECTION 1.07 – PAYMENT OF RENTS, LATE PAYMENT, NON-PAID CHECK
The covenant of Tenant to pay rents is and shall be independent of any and all other covenants of this Lease and all rents shall be
payable in legal tender of the United States of America for the payment of public or private debts.

In addition to such remedies as may be provided under Article 12, “Default by Tenant and Landlord’s Remedies”, Landlord shall
be entitled to, as further Additional Rent, a late charge of two percent (2%) of any amount due hereunder, if not received within
ten (10) days of when due, and a charge of two percent (2%) of any amount due hereunder, for any check given by Tenant not
paid when first presented to the financial institution on which the check is drawn. In addition, in the event the Tenant fails to pay
any amount due hereunder including, but not limited to any Monthly Minimum Rent; Additional Rent, or other monetary
payment as and when provided in this Lease (which shall include a failure to pay by reason of the failure to honor any check), the
Tenant shall pay to the Landlord as Additional Rent, interest daily on the unpaid amount at the annual rate of the prime interest
rate from time to time in effect, by CitiBank N.A., New York, New York plus four percent (4%). If for any reason, the prime
interest rate of CitiBank N.A., New York, New York shall be no longer published or otherwise unavailable, then Landlord may
choose a substitute interest rate which Landlord reasonably believes is comparable to the CitiBank prime rate. Any payment by
Tenant or acceptance by Landlord of a lesser amount than shall be due from Tenant to Landlord shall be treated as a payment on
account. The acceptance by Landlord of a check for a lesser amount with or without an endorsement or statement thereon, or
upon any letter accompanying such check, that such lesser amount is payment in full shall be given no effect, and Landlord may
accept such check without prejudice to any other rights or remedies which Landlord may have against Tenant.

ARTICLE 2
ADDITIONAL RENT

SECTION 2.01 - SHARE OF DIRECT EXPENSES
The Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, each calendar year, Tenant's proportionate share of the amount by
which Direct Expenses (as hereinafter defined) incurred by or accrued as an expense of Landlord or its agents on account of the
operation or maintenance of the Building and Lot and all appurtenances thereto during each calendar year falling entirely or
partially in the Term exceed Direct Expenses so incurred during the 2014 calendar year (the “Base Year”). Direct Expenses
attributable to the Building and Lot shall include charges attributable to Common Areas, as hereinafter defined, serving the
Building and Lot, and an allocable portion of any and all other charges incurred by or accrued as an expense of Landlord in
connection with the operation or maintenance of the Building and Lot; provided, however in the cases of expenses which benefit
portions of Southport Business Park other than the Building and Lot, the portion allocated to the Building and Lot shall be based
upon sound accounting principles adopted by the Landlord for the purpose of making a reasonable allocation.

For purposes of determining the amount to be paid pursuant to this Section 2.01, Tenant's proportionate share shall mean a
fraction calculated by dividing the Rentable Square Feet of the Demised Premises stated at Section 1.01 hereof by an amount
which is equal to the rentable square feet of the Building. It is agreed that the rentable square feet of the Building is Thirty Four
Thousand Three Hundred Forty-four (36,344) SQUARE FEET.



Direct Expenses that vary with occupancy and that are attributable to any part of the term in which less than 100% of the rentable
area of the Building is occupied by tenants may be adjusted by Landlord to the amount Landlord reasonably believes such Direct
Expenses would have been if 100% of the rentable area of the Building had been so occupied. For the purpose of determining
the Base Year expenses for the Base Year of 2014, the Direct Expense for the same periods of 2013 shall be used as a
starting point to reasonably account for the portions of 2014 prior to the Commencement Date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the usage of any utility, equipment or other Direct Expense by Tenant shall be
reasonably determined by Landlord to be disproportionate to the amount of space leased by Tenant (standard office usage), the
Landlord reserves the right to make an allocation of such Direct Expense to Tenant based upon actual usage by Tenant, as
reasonably determined by Landlord. Tenant agrees to pay such specially allocated amount in the event Landlord determines such
usage is disproportionate and so advises Tenant. Landlord agrees to notify Tenant promptly in writing upon Landlord’s discovery
of any such disproportionate use. Landlord agrees that Tenant shall not be liable for any disproportionate use that occurs
more than one (1) year prior to Landlord’s delivery of notice of such disproportionate use to Tenant.

The term “Direct Expense” as used herein, shall include all direct costs of operation and maintenance as determined by Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) except where this Lease specifically provides that GAAP shall not apply. Direct
Expenses shall include without limitation the following: building supplies; ad valorem real and personal property taxes and other
governmental charges; utilities other than electric charges, including heat & air conditioning, janitorial except in the
Manufacturing Area shown in Exhibit F and maintenance services, including any utility, maintenance, repair and other service
charges attributable to Common Areas or paid by Landlord; property, liability and other insurance premiums; deductibles paid in
connection with any insurance policies; repairs (other than capital expenses according to GAAP), reserves for major repairs
(other than capital expenses according to GAAP), maintenance and service contracts for the Building, Lot, and Common
Areas and all related mechanical equipment; property management charges (not to exceed 4% of rental); grounds maintenance;
[****]; removal of snow and ice; parking maintenance and striping; landscaping; and all other similar costs and expenses.

Tenant shall pay for the cost of electricity for the Lot and Building (one meter) and Tenant will also provide and pay for
the janitorial services for the Manufacturing Area as shown on Exhibit F. Landlord will not provide janitorial service
within the Manufacturing Area or other similar high security areas as may be designated from time to time by Tenant.

If the State of North Carolina or any political subdivision thereof or any governmental or quasi-governmental authority having
jurisdiction over the Building and Lot should specifically impose a tax, assessment, charge or fee or specifically increase a then
existing tax, assessment, charge or fee, which Landlord shall be required to pay, either by way of substituting for said real estate
taxes or assessed against the Building or Lot, or in addition thereto, or impose an income or franchise tax or tax on rents in
substitution for a general tax levied against the Building or Lot, or an addition thereto, such taxes, assessments, charges or fees
shall be deemed to constitute a real property tax hereunder to the extent said taxes are in substitution therefor or in addition
thereto. A copy of tax bills or assessment bills submitted by Landlord to Tenant shall at all times be sufficient evidence of the
amount of taxes and/or assessments levied or assessed against the property to which such bill relates. Landlord's reasonable
expenditures for attorney's fees, appraiser's fees, consultant's fees and other costs incurred during the Term of this Lease without
regard to the tax year involved, in any efforts by Landlord to minimize ad valorem personal and real property taxes, and other
governmental charges, which rights are reserved to Landlord, shall be included in the definition of ad valorem real and personal
property taxes and other governmental charges for the purposes of this Section. If Landlord should receive a refund of any such
taxes or charges, the Tenant will share proportionately in same, after deduction for all of Landlord's expenses in obtaining any
such refund.

Landlord's and Tenant's obligations under this Section shall survive the expiration of the Term of this Lease.



The term “Direct Expense” shall not include any income tax of Landlord, any depreciation on the Building or any depreciation
on equipment therein, interest, any capital expense in accordance with GAAP (except for the amortized costs of such capital
expenses included in the definition of Direct Expenses above notwithstanding their classification as capital expenses under
GAAP for accounting purposes), any depreciation on the Building or any depreciation on equipment therein, costs of
correcting building code violations which violations were in existence on the Commencement Date, legal fees associated
with the preparation, interpretation and/or enforcement of any lease, repairs and replacements for which and to the
extent that Landlord has been reimbursed by insurance and/or paid pursuant to warranties, advertising and promotional
expenses, costs representing amounts paid to an affiliate of Landlord for services or materials which are in excess of the
amounts which would have been paid in the absence of such relationship or real estate broker's commission for any sale or
for securing the execution of any lease.

Beginning with the 2015 calendar year and through the initial term of this Lease, Tenant’s share of the components of
Direct Expenses that are controllable by the Landlord shall not increase by more than five percent (5%) on an aggregate
basis over the previous highest calendar year’s Direct Expenses. Direct Expenses that are not controllable by Landlord
shall include water charges, sewer charges, fire protection fees and expenses, snow removal fees and expenses,
management fees not to exceed four percent (4%) of rents, insurance premiums and taxes. For determining the
applicability of the five percent (5%) cap in 2015, the Direct Expense for 2014 will be grossed up using the procedures
listed in the third paragraph of this Section 2.01.

SECTION 2.02 - ADDITIONAL RENT - CERTAIN TAXES
Tenant shall further pay as Additional Rent any sales or use tax imposed on rents due from Tenant (other than City, State or
Federal Income Tax), and to the fullest extent lawful, any tax on rents in lieu of ad valorem taxes on the Building or Lot, even
though laws imposing such taxes attempt to require Landlord to pay the same.

SECTION 2.03 - NOTICE
Landlord shall from time to time (but no less frequently than annually) send to Tenant, in writing, a statement of the amount of
Tenant’s share of increases in Direct Expenses and any applicable taxes or rents payable by Tenant under Sections 2.01 and 2.02
hereof (along with reasonable supporting documentation thereof).

Landlord shall provide a reconciliation of the prior year’s Direct Expenses to Tenant prior to April first of each year (the
“Expense Reconciliation”). Provided that Tenant shall have first paid all amounts due and payable, including the amounts
shown on the Expense Reconciliation, Tenant may also, within sixty (60) days of receipt of the Expense Reconciliation, ask
to audit the backup information for the Expense Reconciliation. If Tenant asks to audit such backup information, the
audit shall be completed within ninety (90) days of the request and shall be conducted at Landlord’s on site offices during
normal business hours. Tenant may review the backup information for the immediately preceding year, but may not
dispute the Expense Reconciliation for any year not made in a timely manner. The audit shall be performed by a certified
public accountant, at Tenant’s sole expense, provided however, such accountant may not be employed on a commission
basis.

SECTION 2.04 - PAYMENT IN ADVANCE
Tenant shall pay to Landlord each month, due and collectible at the same time as Monthly Minimum Rent, one twelfth (1/12) of
the amounts, if any, reasonably computed by Landlord to be Tenant's anticipated annual charges for Direct Expenses, in
anticipation of Direct Expenses due for the then current calendar year and all such monthly payments shall be applied to Tenant's
Additional Rent for the then current calendar year. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year,
Landlord shall give written notice to Tenant specifying the actual Direct Expenses for the prior calendar year and Tenant’s
proportionate share of increases in Direct Expenses over the Base Year. Within thirty (30) days from the giving of Landlord’s
notice, Tenant shall pay such additional rent shown to be due Landlord, or alternately, Landlord shall adjust Tenant's next rent due
if any credit is shown to be due Tenant (or pay directly to Tenant if no further rent is due). The foregoing provisions providing
for adjustment of additional rent due based upon actual increases in Direct Expenses shall survive the expiration or termination of
this Lease and Tenant shall remain liable for, or be entitled to, as the case may be, any additional amounts owed by, or credit due
to, Tenant after the end of the term of this Lease.



SECTION 2.05 - OTHER CHARGES TO BE TREATED AS RENTS
All charges, costs and sums required to be paid by Tenant to Landlord hereunder other than Annual Minimum Rent, including
without limitation the charges, costs and sums set forth in this Article, shall be considered “Additional Rent”, which shall be due
and payable as set out herein, or if no time for payment is set, upon demand.

ARTICLE 3
LANDLORD'S WORK

SECTION 3.01 - TENANT'S ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES
The improvements that existed in the Demised Premises immediately prior to the execution of this Lease are shown on the plan
attached as Exhibit B-1. Tenant represents to the Landlord that it has examined and inspected the Demised Premises and finds
them to be as represented by the Landlord and satisfactory for Tenant's intended use. Tenant hereby accepts the Demised
Premises “as is” except for Landlord's Work, if any, listed in Exhibit B-2. During the first One Hundred Twenty (120) days of
the Term, Landlord will, at its own expense, repair any latent defects in the Demised Premises that were not readily
apparent through visual inspection on the Commencement Date.

SECTION 3.02 - SCOPE OF LANDLORD'S WORK
Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense using the process listed in Exhibit B-2, perform the additional work described as
“Landlord's Work” in Exhibit B-2 attached hereto and made a part hereof. Landlord shall construct the Landlord’s Work in a
good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. It is expressly
understood and agreed that Landlord's obligation with respect to construction of the Demised Premises shall be limited to the
scope of work described as Landlord's Work in Exhibit B-2 and shall in no event include any work not described on Exhibit B-2
and shall not include the performance, procurement and/or installation of any other work, fixtures or equipment. All Landlord's
Work, except for [****] as defined in Exhibit B-2, shall constitute improvements to the Demised Premises and remain the
property of the Landlord upon expiration of the Term of the Lease.

SECTION 3.03 - NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF LANDLORD'S WORK
Landlord shall notify Tenant upon substantial completion of Landlord's Work. The Demised Premises shall be deemed
“substantially complete” under the terms of this Lease if: (i) the Town of Morrisville has performed its final inspection and
issued the documentation necessary for Tenant to occupy the Demised Premises; and (ii) Landlord’s Work which can be
accomplished prior to and independently of any construction or installation required to be performed by Tenant has been
completed in accordance with Exhibit B-2 attached hereto to the extent that Tenant can use the Demised Premises for the use set
out in Section 4.01 with the only incomplete items being minor or insubstantial details of construction, mechanical adjustments,
or finishing touches like touch-up plastering or painting, which insubstantial details are of a type generally accepted as punchlist
items (“Punchlist Items”). The occupancy of the Demised Premises following substantial completion of Landlord’s Work
shall be deemed conclusive evidence that Landlord's Work has been substantially completed in accordance with Exhibit B-2 and
that Tenant has accepted the Demised Premises and the improvements “as-is” other than Punchlist Items. During the first One
Hundred Twenty (120) days of the Term, Landlord will, at its own expense, repair any latent defects in the Demised
Premises that were not readily apparent through visual inspection on the Commencement Date.

The failure by Tenant to give notice of any Punchlist Items within thirty (30) days of notice of Landlord’s substantial completion
of the Demised Premises specifying in detail those items of Landlord's Work which are not then complete shall be deemed
conclusive evidence that Tenant has accepted the Demised Premises as-is with all items of Landlord's Work deemed completed.



SECTION 3.04 - TARGET COMPLETION DATE
The Landlord shall exercise reasonable care to cause the Landlord's Work at the Demised Premises to be substantially complete
on or prior to the Target Completion Date. The failure of Landlord to complete the Landlord’s Work and deliver the Demised
Premises to Tenant on or before the Target Completion Date shall not make this Lease void or voidable, and Landlord shall not be
in default or liable to Tenant; provided however, in the event Landlord's Work is not completed and the Demised Premises
tendered to Tenant within NINETY (90) days following the Target Completion Date for any reason other than a Tenant Delay or
reasons within Landlord’s control, then this Lease shall automatically become null and void and neither party hereto shall have
any further rights or obligations hereunder. If the reason for Landlord’s Work not being completed within Ninety (90) days
following the Target Completion date is for reasons within Landlord’s control, Tenant shall have the option of terminating
this Lease by giving Landlord written notice within the following thirty (30) days and neither party shall have any further
rights or obligations hereunder. In the case of either type of termination, Landlord shall refund any prepaid rent and
Security Deposit to Tenant. This right to terminate if Landlord’s Work is not completed shall not supersede Landlord’s
obligation above to exercise reasonable care to cause Landlord’s Work to be substantially complete on or prior to the
Target Commencement Date. Under no circumstances shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any damages including, but not
limited to, direct, indirect, and consequential or incidental damages, which may be caused by any delay in commencing or
completing its construction of the Demised Premises or for a total failure to complete same. The parties confirm and agree that
the completion of Landlord's Work may be delayed for reasons beyond the Landlord's control, including those reasons commonly
known as Force Majeure, and hereby agree that the Target Completion Date shall automatically be extended if and to the extent
that any delays are encountered which are not within the control of the Landlord. For purposes of this Lease the term “Force
Majeure” shall mean acts of God, any weather that delays construction, strike, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, acts of
the public enemy, orders of any kind of the Government of the United States or of any state or any civil or military authority,
insurrections, riots, epidemics, landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, hurricanes, storms, floods, washouts, droughts, arrest,
restraining of government and people, civil disturbances, explosions, partial or entire failure of utilities, shortage of labor,
material supplies, transportation, or any other similar or different cause not reasonably in the control of the Landlord.

SECTION 3.05 – TENANT DELAYS
Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, if Tenant shall cause any delays in the completion of Landlord’s Work,
following two (2) days’ notice and opportunity to cure, including but not limited to (i) delay caused because Tenant’s
requirements for materials or installations are different from Landlord’s building standard (the basic improvement package
Landlord offers to tenants of the Property), (ii) delay in the payment of any sum due from Tenant pertaining to Landlord’s Work,
if any, (iii) delay in performance or completion by a party employed by Tenant, (iv) delay by reason of compliance with
applicable laws arising from Tenant’s design of the improvements set forth on Exhibit B-2, (v) delay by reason of changes in the
work ordered and approved by Tenant pursuant to Exhibit B-2, or (vi) delay by Tenant in providing or approving plans,
specifications or other items necessary for Landlord to perform Landlord’s Work (individually and collectively, a “Tenant
Delay”), then the Commencement Date shall be the date Landlord would have completed Landlord’s Work had it not been for the
Tenant Delay and Tenant’s obligations hereunder including the obligation to pay rent shall commence even though occupancy of
the Demised Premises has not been delivered to Tenant.

SECTION 3.06 – DELAY ARISING FROM HOLDOVER OF EXISTING TENANT
Intentionally deleted

ARTICLE 4
USE OF THE PROPERTY BY THE TENANT

SECTION 4.01 - USE GENERALLY
To the best of Landlord’s actual knowledge, the Demised Premises comply now and upon completion of Landlord’s Work
will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations and restrictive covenants. To the best of Landlord’s actual
knowledge, the use listed in Section 1.03 does not violate any restrictive covenants applicable to the Property. Tenant may
use the Demised Premises for the purposes stated in Section 1.03 hereof but for none other without Landlord's prior written
consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), provided, however, notwithstanding the generality of the
foregoing, in no event shall Tenant make any use of the Demised Premises, the Lot, the Building or the Common Areas which is
in violation of any applicable laws, ordinances, statutes, rules or regulations affecting the Demised Premises, the Lot, the
Building or the Common Areas, including without limitation general rules and regulations proscribed from time to time by
Landlord for the use of the Demised Premises, the Lot, the Building or the Common Areas and restrictions with respect to
employee parking in designated employee parking areas as may be developed from time to time by Landlord and delivered to
Tenant or posted on the Lot or Building insofar as they might relate to Tenant's use and occupancy of the Demised Premises, nor
may Tenant make any use of the Demised Premises not permitted by any present or future lawful restrictive covenants which
apply to the Demised Premises, or which is or might constitute a nuisance, or which increases the property, casualty or other
insurance premiums (or makes any such insurance unavailable to Landlord or other tenants) on the Lot and Building.



Tenant shall not permit its contractors, agents, employees, guests or invitees to place excessive loads on the parking lots and
drives.

Tenant shall not permit its contractors, agents, employees, guests or invitees to place excessive loads on the floors of the
Building. The maximum load shall not exceed Four Hundred (400) pounds per square foot, except in the Manufacturing Area,
which will be Eight Hundred (800) pounds per square foot.

Tenant shall not allow any animals in the Demised Premises, the Lot, the Building, or the Property other than “seeing eye” dogs
that are trained for and engaged in the assistance of one or more visually impaired individuals. Tenant shall not cause any
unreasonable odors, noise, vibration, or dust to emanate from the Demised Premises except for noises typically accompanying a
general office use (not taking into consideration Tenant’s specific business or operations), or de minimus odors or dust likely to
be encountered in any exterior setting; provided in no event shall Tenant allow any odors, noise, vibration or other substance to
emanate from the Demised Premises which is or would be harmful to a person’s health or safety or objectionable or offensive to
Landlord or any other tenants in Landlord’s reasonable determination. Tenant shall not allow cooking in the Demised Premises
other than by household type microwave.

Landlord shall be responsible for the Building being in full compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”)
at the Commencement Date. After the Commencement Date, Tenant shall be responsible for the Building being in full
compliance with ADA. After the Commencement Date, Landlord shall continue to be responsible for maintaining the
access to the Building in compliance with ADA. Landlord’s expense of complying with such laws may or may not be a
Direct Expense and thus reimbursed by Tenant based on Article 2.

SECTION 4.02 HAZARDOUS WASTE AND RELATED MATTERS
Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Materials, as defined below, or any substance for which a license or permit is
required by applicable North Carolina, federal or local laws, regulations or ordinances to be brought upon, stored, released,
disposed, generated or used in or about the Demised Premises or Property by Tenant or its employees, agents, servants,
contractors, assigns, representatives, licensees, permitted subtenants, guests, customers, visitors, and/or invitees (collectively
“Tenant’s Representatives”), without prior written notice to and the prior written consent of the Landlord, not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior notice and Landlord’s consent shall not
be required for small amounts of household cleaners and office machine supplies so long as the same are stored, maintained and
used in compliance with all Environmental Laws, as defined below. If Tenant wishes to use, generate, store or dispose of
Hazardous Materials in connection with its business, Tenant agrees to deliver to Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior to the date
Tenant wishes to start using, generating, storing or disposing of such Hazardous Materials, a list identifying each type of
Hazardous Materials to be brought upon, kept, used, stored, handled, generated on, or disposed of from, the Demised Premises.
Landlord’s consent to the use, generation or storage of Hazardous Materials shall not be construed as a representation or warranty
that such use, generation or storage complies with Environmental Laws, and notwithstanding Landlord’s consent, Tenant shall at
all times and in all respects comply with all Environmental Laws.

The term “Environmental Laws” shall mean all now existing or hereafter enacted or issued statutes, laws, rules, ordinances,
orders, permits and regulations of all state, federal, local and other governmental and regulatory authorities, agencies and bodies
applicable to the Demised Premises, pertaining to environmental matters or regulating, prohibiting or otherwise having to do with
asbestos and all other toxic, radioactive, biologically active or hazardous wastes or materials including, but not limited to, the
Federal Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, and the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as from time to time amended. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Materials” means
and includes any substance, material, waste, pollutant, or contaminant which is biologically active, or listed or defined as
hazardous or toxic, or regulated by reason of its impact or potential impact on humans, animals and/or the environment under any
Environmental Laws, including, without limitation, mold, asbestos and petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof,
natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, synthetic gas usable for fuel (or mixtures of natural gas and such synthetic gas), or
polychlorinated biphenyls.



Tenant shall indemnify, defend (by counsel acceptable to Landlord), protect, and hold harmless Landlord, and each of Landlord’s
partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, successors, and assigns, for, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities, penalties, fines, judgments, forfeitures, losses, damages for the loss or restriction of use of rentable or usable space or
of any amenity of the Demised Premises or the Building, costs or expenses (including attorney’s fees, consultant fees, and expert
fees) for the death of or injury to any person, damage to any property, or any fines, penalties or claims whatsoever, proximately
caused by, (a) by the presence in, on, under, or about the Demised Premises, or any discharge or release in or from the Demised
Premises of any Hazardous Materials by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Representatives, or Tenant’s use, analysis, storage,
transportation, disposal, release, threatened release, discharge, or generation of Hazardous Materials to, in, on, under, about, or
from the Demised Premises or the Property, or (b) Tenant’s failure to comply with any Environmental Laws. Tenant’s obligations
under this Section shall include, without limitation, any and all costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site
conditions, and any and all costs of any required or necessary repair, cleanup, detoxification, or decontamination of the Demised
Premises or the Property, and the preparation and implementation of any closure, remedial action, or other required plans in
connection therewith and the reasonable fees and expenses of Landlord’s attorneys, engineers, consultants and other professionals
incurred by Landlord in connection with the foregoing. Tenant’s obligations under this Section 4.02 shall survive the expiration
or earlier termination of the Term of the Lease. For purposes of this indemnity provision, any acts or omissions of Tenant, or by
Tenant’s Representatives or others acting for or on behalf of Tenant (whether or not they are negligent, intentional, willful, or
unlawful), shall be strictly attributable to Tenant. As defined in Environmental Laws, Tenant is and shall be deemed to be the
“operator” of Tenant’s “facility” and the “owner” of all Hazardous Materials brought on the Demised Premises by Tenant or any
of Tenant’s Representatives, and the wastes, by-products, or residues generated, resulting, or produced therefrom.

Landlord and its engineers, technicians, and consultants (collectively the "Auditors") may, from time to time as Landlord
reasonably deems appropriate, conduct periodic tests and examinations ("Audits") of the Demised Premises and Property to
confirm and monitor Tenant's compliance with this Section 4.02. Such Audits shall be conducted in such a manner as to minimize
the interference with Tenant's Permitted Use; however in all cases, the Audits shall be of such nature and scope as shall be
reasonably required by then existing technology to confirm Tenant's compliance with this Section 4.02. Tenant shall reasonably
cooperate with Landlord and its Auditors in the conduct of such Audits. The cost of such Audits shall be paid by Landlord unless
an Audit shall disclose a material failure of Tenant to comply with this Section 4.02, in which case, the cost of such Audit, and
the cost of all subsequent Audits made during the Term and within thirty (30) days thereafter (not to exceed one (1) such Audit
per calendar year), shall be paid for on demand by Tenant.

For the purposes of Tenant’s obligations under this Section 4.02, the term “Property” shall include the Demised Premises,
Building, all Common Areas, the Lot and all other real estate in the Southport Business Park; all personal property (including that
owned by Tenant); and the soil, ground water, and surface water of the Lot and other real estate within the Southport Business
Park.

Failure of Tenant to comply with any provision of this Section 4.02 of the Lease shall be an Event of Default under this Lease.
Notwithstanding this Section 4.02, Tenant shall not be responsible for or have any obligation to remediate or cleanup any
Hazardous Materials that existed at the Demised Premises prior to the Landlord’s delivery of possession of the Demised
Premises to Tenant, except to the extent that Tenant by its actions proximately causes the release or dispersal of such
Hazardous Materials into surrounding areas or the atmosphere or exacerbates the adverse effects of such Hazardous
Materials.

Landlord represents that, to Landlord’s actual knowledge, the Building shall be free of Hazardous Materials on the
Commencement Date.



SECTION 4.03 - PAYMENT FOR UTILITIES FOR DEMISED PREMISES
Tenant shall pay promptly and before any delinquency for nonpayment all charges for utilities serving the Demised Premises not
provided by Landlord, including without limitation, electric service, telephone service, data service and [****] (provided any
installations required for such service are subject to Landlord’s prior written approval). At Landlord’s option, Tenant's use of any
particular utility provided by Landlord (not to include electric) shall be determined by appropriate survey of Tenant's equipment
or other method fairly evaluating Tenant's use. If Landlord reasonably believes that Tenant’s use of any utilities provided by
Landlord exceed normal office use, then Tenant shall pay as Additional Rent, upon receipt of Landlord’s statement for the same,
the actual cost of such utilities used by Tenant less the amount paid for Tenant’s share of such utilities as Direct Expenses.

ARTICLE 5
REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE BY THE TENANT

SECTION 5.01 - REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE / NO ALTERATIONS
Tenant shall keep and maintain the Demised Premises and fixtures in as good order and condition as received (ordinary wear
and tear excepted) and shall not commit waste.

Tenant shall comply with all applicable laws with respect to all wires, cables and similar installations appurtenant thereto,
including but not limited to, power, telecommunications, [****] and data cabling installed by Tenant or Tenant’s agents or
contractors, whether installed in the Demised Premises or elsewhere in the Building, including, without limitation, the plenums or
risers of the Building (collectively “Wires”). On or before the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall remove
all Wires that are not contained within conduits (“Uncontained Wires”), unless otherwise agreed or instructed by Landlord in
writing as set forth in Section 12.03 below.

Tenant shall maintain and care for its personal property and fixtures on the Demised Premises, insure the same and shall neither
have nor make any claim against Landlord for any loss or damage to the same. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
Tenant shall maintain, repair and replace any special equipment or installations or decorative treatments above Landlord’s
building standard installed by or at Tenant’s request, including but not limited to any supplemental HVAC for a “server room”,
any Tenant installed [****], non standard light fixtures, Tenant’s equipment, such as photocopiers, computers, telephone systems
and fax machines. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such improvements or fixtures (such as supplemental HVAC or a [****])
added to the Demised Premises are subject to Landlord’s review and prior written consent as set forth in the next paragraph.

Tenant shall make no exterior or interior alterations, improvements or additions without Landlord's prior written consent (not to
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), and in any case, all work performed by Tenant shall be done in a good
and workmanlike manner, and so as not to unreasonably disturb or inconvenience other tenants in the Building or on the
Property. Upon termination or expiration of the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall remove any alterations, improvements and
additions to the Demised Premises performed by Tenant, Tenant’s agents and contractors except for such alterations,
improvements or additions as Landlord may specifically require, in writing, Tenant to leave and Tenant shall repair any damage
caused by such removal, all as set out in Section 12.03 below. Tenant shall not at any time permit any work to be performed on
the Demised Premises except by duly licensed contractors or artisans, each of whom must carry general public liability insurance,
in such amounts as are reasonably directed by Landlord and under which Landlord is an additional insured, certificates of which
shall be furnished to Landlord. At no time may Tenant or Tenant’s contractors, agents or employees do any work that results in a
claim of lien against the Demised Premises or any other property of the Landlord. If such a claim of lien is filed, Tenant shall
cause any such lien to be released of record by payment or bonding upon terms acceptable to Landlord within twenty (20) days
after the filing of the lien or ten (10) days if Landlord has started to refinance the Building. If requested by the Tenant at
the time Tenant requests Landlord’s consent to an alteration, Landlord will advise Tenant at that time whether Landlord
shall require the alteration to be restored at the termination of the Lease.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to make interior, non-structural alterations that do not involve
or affect the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, sprinkler or HVAC systems serving the Demised Premises (including
painting and carpeting) without the consent of Landlord, so long as (i) Tenant notifies Landlord in writing of its intention
to do such work at least ten (10) days prior to the initiation of such work; (ii) the costs of such alterations are less than
$20,000.00 and are consistent in quality with the finish of the Demised Premises at the time possession is delivered to
Tenant; (iii) such alterations do not cause excessive loads on the building and its systems and are not visible from the
exterior of the Demised Premises; (iv) Tenant obtains and furnishes to Landlord any required building permits; (v)
Tenant provides Landlord with the “as-built” plans and specifications of any such alterations upon completion of any
such alterations; (vi) no such alteration causes any warranties applicable to the Demised Premises or to any systems
serving the Demised Premises to lapse; and (vii) no such alteration causes any insurance premium to increase. Alterations
performed under this paragraph shall still be subject to Tenant’s restoration obligation.



ARTICLE 6
REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE, UTILITIES AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE LANDLORD

SECTION 6.01 - SERVICES TO THE DEMISED PREMISES
Landlord shall, subject to interruptions beyond Landlord’s reasonable control and to the scheduling of such services by providers,
cause to be furnished to the Demised Premises the following services: janitorial services (once per working day after normal
weekday working hours); water if available from city mains for drinking, lavatory and toilet purposes; electricity for general
office space use (including fluorescent lighting replacements); trash removal; and, during Standard Hours of Operation (as
defined below), Monday through Friday and Saturday (excluding holidays), heating and air conditioning for reasonably
comfortable use and occupancy of the Demised Premises (although providing heating and cooling conforming to any
governmental regulation prescribing limitations thereon shall be deemed to comply with this obligation). All additional costs
resulting from Tenant's extraordinary usage of heating, air conditioning, electricity, water or trash removal shall be paid by
Tenant, but Tenant shall not install equipment with unusual demands or conduct its business in a manner that requires
extraordinary usage (as reasonably documented by Landlord) of any of the foregoing without Landlord's prior written consent
which Landlord may withhold if it determines that in its opinion such equipment may not be safely used in the Demised Premises
or that electrical service or trash removal service is not adequate therefor. Landlord shall not be liable by reason of any of the
foregoing services not being continuously provided to Tenant, (provided that Landlord uses commercially reasonable
measures to promptly and diligently have such services restored following knowledge of any interruption), nor for any
damages resulting from defects in the provision of same. Landlord shall not repair or replace bulbs in non standard fixtures.

As used herein, “Standard Hours of Operation” shall mean and refer to those hours of operation at the Building which are 8:00
a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Monday through Friday and 8:00 a.m. through 1:00 p.m. on Saturday, except holidays. Holidays shall mean and
refer to each of the following days (on the day set aside for observance): New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day,
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day and any other holiday(s) generally recognized as such by landlords of office space
in the Triangle Area office market, as reasonably determined by Landlord. Landlord, at its option, may provide Saturday morning
heating and cooling by allowing Tenant, at no cost to tenant, to turn on the heating and cooling system in lieu of automatically
running it.

Landlord hereby consents to Tenant’s installation and use of gemstone manufacturing equipment outside of the Building,
and the installation and use of gemstone cutting and polishing equipment in the Manufacturing Area.

SECTION 6.02 – AFTER HOURS HVAC
Landlord agrees to provide heating and air conditioning after-hours (i.e., hours before or after the Standard Hours of Operation)
at Tenant's request after reasonable notice and if the area to be served is zoned for this purpose. The cost of after-hours service of
heating or air conditioning shall be additional rent payable monthly by Tenant at Five Dollars ($5.00) per hour per HVAC unit
which is activated to provide the requested air conditioning or heating service. If Tenant chooses to work on any of Landlord’s
designated holidays, Landlord will not charge Tenant the after-hours charge for HVAC for up to five of those days per
calendar year.



SECTION 6.03 - LANDLORD'S REPAIRS
Landlord will maintain the Building and Common Areas in good repair and condition. Maintenance in the Manufacturing
Area or any other high security area designated by Tenant will be done on request by Tenant and a representative of
Tenant shall accompany any employee or vendor of Landlord while performing such requested work. This maintenance
shall include the foundations, roof, exterior walls, interior structural walls, all structural components, and all building systems,
such as mechanical, electrical, HVAC and plumbing, and landscaping and paving on the Common Areas and utility lines crossing
the Common Areas to the Building under Landlord’s reasonable control. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, Tenant shall
pay the costs of any such repairs or replacements caused by the negligent acts or misconduct of Tenant, its employees, agents,
invitees, licensees, or contractors. Tenant shall promptly report to Landlord any defective condition in or about the Demised
Premises known to Tenant, and if such defect is not so reported and such failure proximately results in other damage, Tenant
shall be liable for the same. Tenant agrees to give Landlord written notice of the necessity for any repairs required to be made by
Landlord, and Landlord shall have a reasonable period of time thereafter to promptly and diligently make such repairs.
Landlord shall take commercially reasonable measures to ensure that repair activities undertaken by Landlord do not
materially interfere with Tenant's use of the Demised Premises. Nothing contained in this Section 6.03 shall be construed to
preclude or prevent such repairs or maintenance from being a part of the Direct Expenses, so long as the repairs are not capital
expenses according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles except as may be specifically allowed by the definition of
Direct Expenses.

ARTICLE 7
COMMON AREAS

SECTION 7.01 - DEFINITION OF COMMON AREAS
For purpose of this Lease, the term “Common Areas” shall mean all areas, improvements, space, equipment and special services
in, adjacent to, or serving the Building or Lot provided by Landlord for the common or joint use and benefit of tenants,
customers, and other invitees, including without limitation any existing or future entrance ways, exits, roads, parking lots,
walkways and other common spaces in the Property from time to time designated as Common Areas by the Landlord.

SECTION 7.02 - USE OF COMMON AREAS
Provided there is no uncured Event of Default by Tenant under this Lease, Tenant shall be entitled to use, in common with others
entitled thereto, so much of the Common Areas as may be designated for common use from time to time by the Landlord,
subject, however to the terms and conditions of this Lease and to such rules and regulations for the use thereof as may be
proscribed from time to time by Landlord; provided that (a) in the event of any conflict between said rules and regulations
and the express terms of this Lease, the Lease terms shall control; (b) such rules and regulations do not unreasonably and
materially interfere with Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Demised Premises; (c) such rules and regulations do not
require payment of additional monies; (d) Tenant receives at least thirty (30) days’ advance written notice thereof; and (e)
such rules and regulations are uniformly enforced in a non-discriminatory manner. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord may
(to the extent reasonably required), deny, limit or condition access to or use of certain Common Areas, including, but not
limited to, Building plenums and risers, wiring conduits, fire lanes and dock areas.

SECTION 7.03 - CHANGES AND ALTERATIONS OF COMMON AREAS
The Landlord reserves the rights, at any time and from time to time to increase or decrease the size of and to alter the
configuration of the Common Areas. In the event of any such change or alteration, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant therefor,
and Tenant shall not be entitled to any compensation or diminution or abatement of Monthly Minimum Rent, nor shall such
diminution or alteration of the Common Areas be considered a constructive or actual eviction.

ARTICLE 8
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

SECTION 8.01 - INSURANCE ON THE BUILDING AND CERTAIN IMPROVEMENTS
During the Term of this Lease and any extensions or renewals thereof, the Landlord shall maintain property insurance on the
Building and on so much of the upfit and additional real and personal property improvements and appurtenances thereto as shall
be installed by or at the expense of Landlord and constitute the property of Landlord. Such insurance shall provide, at a
minimum, coverage provided by the Insurance Services Office (“ISO”) cause of loss – special form and coverage against such
further and additional perils as Landlord shall from time to time determine in its sole discretion to be appropriate.



The amount of any insurance premiums incurred by or accrued as an expense of Landlord in securing such coverage shall
constitute a Direct Expense and the Tenant shall pay its allocable portion of such cost as a part of the Tenant’s share of Direct
Expenses.

SECTION 8.02 - TENANT'S COMMERCIAL LIABILITY INSURANCE
Tenant shall, at all times during the Term hereof, at its sole cost and expense, procure and maintain in force and effect a valid and
enforceable policy or policies of commercial general liability insurance issued by a company or companies from time to time
approved by Landlord which companies must be authorized to issue insurance policies in North Carolina. Such policy or policies
shall insure against loss, damage or liability for injury to or death of persons and loss or damage to property occurring from any
cause whatsoever in, upon or about the Demised Premises including any adjoining sidewalks, passageways, parking areas,
driveways and other Common Areas. Such policies of liability insurance shall name Landlord and its designated property
manager as an additional insured and shall be in amounts and afford coverage against perils all as is reasonably required from
time to time by Landlord. Coverage shall initially be in the combined single limit amount of at least TWO MILLION DOLLARS
($2,000,000.00) per occurrence and a combined annual aggregate limit of at least FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00);
provided if Tenant has other locations that it owns or leases, the general aggregate limit shall apply on a per location basis and the
policy shall include an aggregate limit per location endorsement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s current $1,000,000
per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate with a $10,000,000 umbrella coverage satisfies the above coverage requirement.

SECTION 8.03 - INSURANCE OF TENANT'S PROPERTY
Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that it will secure and maintain insurance upon its fixtures, trade fixtures, personal
property and any and all other property of the Tenant or of any third parties which may from time to time be stored or maintained
in, on or around the Demised Premises and Building for, at a minimum, perils covered by the ISO cause of loss—special form
together with coverage for flood, earthquake and boiler and machinery (if applicable). Such insurance shall be maintained in such
amounts as shall be necessary to cover the replacement cost thereof. Such insurance shall be issued by a company or companies
satisfactory to Landlord and authorized to issue insurance policies in North Carolina.

SECTION 8.04 – OTHER TENANT INSURANCE
Tenant shall secure and maintain (i) worker’s compensation insurance insuring against and satisfying Tenant’s obligations and
liabilities under the worker’s compensation laws of the state where the Demised Premises are located, including employer’s
liability insurance in the limits required by the state of North Carolina (ii) if Tenant operates owned, hired or non-owned vehicles
on the Property, comprehensive automobile liability at a limit of liability not less than $500,000.00 combined bodily injury and
property damage per occurrence and (iii) such other insurance as Landlord may reasonably request. All such insurance shall be
issued by a company or companies satisfactory to Landlord and authorized to issue insurance policies in North Carolina.

SECTION 8.05 - INSURANCE RATING
Tenant will not conduct, or permit to be conducted, any activity, will not place any equipment or materials in or about the
Demised Premises, Building, Lot, or Property, and will not take nor allow its contractors, employees, agents, guests or invitees to
take any action which will, in any way, violate any requirement of Landlord's insurance policies or which will increase the rate of
property, casualty, liability or other insurance on the Demised Premises or on the Building or their operation, or which makes any
property, liability or other insurance on the Demised Premises, Building, Lot or Common Areas unavailable to Landlord from
companies acceptable to the Landlord. However, in the event the Tenant shall take any such action then, in addition to and not in
limitation of any other rights pursuant to this Lease, the Landlord may require the Tenant, upon demand, to separately pay or
reimburse to Landlord the amount of any increased insurance premiums attributable to such action which are in excess of those
charged at the Commencement Date, resulting from such activity.

SECTION 8.06 - POLICIES OR CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE
Tenant will furnish the Landlord prior to the delivery of the Demised Premises to Tenant, and thereafter not fewer than thirty (30)
days prior to the expiration date of any expiring policies, certified copies of policies or certificates of insurance bearing notations
evidencing the payment of premiums and evidencing the insurance coverage required to be carried by Tenant. Each policy and
certificate shall contain an endorsement or provision requiring not fewer than thirty (30) days written notice to Landlord prior to
the cancellation, diminution in the perils insured against or reduction of the amount of coverage of the particular policy in
question.



SECTION 8.07 – INSURANCE POLICY REQUIREMENTS
Tenant’s insurance policies required by this Lease shall (i) be primary policies, (ii) provide that any loss shall be payable
notwithstanding any gross negligence of Landlord or Tenant which might result in a forfeiture thereunder of such insurance or the
amount of proceeds payable; (iii) have no deductible exceeding TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($20,000.00) unless
specifically approved in writing by Landlord, and (iv) be maintained during the entire Term and any extensions or renewals
hereof. Not more frequently than once every three (3) years, Landlord may require the limits of any of the insurance required to
be maintained by Tenant hereunder to be increased if in its reasonable judgment (or that of its mortgagee) the coverage is
insufficient. In no event shall the limits of Tenant’s insurance be considered as limiting the liability of Tenant under this Lease.

SECTION 8.08 – WAIVER OF SUBROGATION
All policies of insurance carried or maintained by Tenant shall include a waiver of subrogation of any and all claims against the
Landlord. The Tenant hereby agrees that it will look solely to its insurance policies for recovery of any loss insured or required to
be insured by Tenant hereunder and further confirms and agrees that in no event will it make any claim against the Landlord for
any loss insured or required to be insured by Tenant hereunder. For the purposes of this waiver of subrogation, Tenant shall be
deemed to have waived any claim for amounts that Tenant has self-insured, provided this shall not be considered consent for
Tenant to self-insure.

SECTION 8.09 - RELEASE
Landlord hereby releases Tenant, but only to the extent of Landlord's insurance coverage, from any liability for loss or damage
caused by fire or any of the other perils included in and covered by Landlord's insurance policies covering the Demised Premises
and Building even if the insured peril shall be brought about by the default, negligence or other action of the Tenant, its agents,
employees; provided, this release shall be in effect only with respect to an insured loss and only so long as Landlord's policy
applicable to such loss shall contain a clause to the effect that this release shall not affect the right of Landlord to recover under
such policy. Landlord does not waive and hereby reserves the right to secure compensation from Tenant for any uninsured loss,
any amounts not paid because of deductibles and other amounts not paid for any reason whatsoever.

Tenant hereby releases Landlord and Landlord’s agents and employees, but only to the extent of Tenant's insurance coverage,
including any deductible, from any liability for loss or damage caused by fire or any of the other perils included in and covered
by Tenant's insurance policies covering any property of Tenant stored at the Demised Premises and Building even if the insured
peril shall be brought about by the default, negligence or other action of the Landlord, its agents, employees or any of them;
provided, this release shall be in effect only with respect to an insured loss and only so long as Tenant's policy applicable to such
loss shall contain a clause to the effect that this release shall not affect the right of Tenant to recover under such policy. Landlord
shall not be responsible for reimbursing Tenant for the cost of Tenant’s deductible in excess of $10,000.00.

SECTION 8.10 - INDEMNIFICATION
Intentionally deleted

SECTION 8.11 - NOTIFICATION
Tenant agrees to give Landlord prompt notice of any accidents or occurrences which are subject to the provisions of this Article
8. Landlord agrees to give Tenant prompt written notice of any accident or occurrence that is subject to this Article 8 and
in Landlord’s reasonable judgment directly affects Tenant.

ARTICLE 9
LANDLORD'S RESERVED RIGHTS

SECTION 9.01 - ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS TO BUILDINGS AND LOT
Landlord hereby reserves the right at any time and from time to time to make alterations or additions to the Building and Lot and
to install, maintain, use, repair and replace pipes, ducts, conduits and wires located in the Demised Premises but serving other
parts of the Building or Property; provided that such activities undertaken by Landlord do not materially interfere with Tenant's
use of the Demised Premises. Landlord’s right to make such alterations or additions shall include without limitation the rights to
build additional stories onto the Building, to construct such parking facilities as may be necessary or desirable, and to comply
with applicable laws. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable measures to minimize interference with Tenant’s use of
the Demised Premises. If Landlord’s additions of stories to the Building causes Tenant to incur [****] related costs such
as moving [****], Landlord will reimburse any such costs that are reasonably documented by Tenant.



It is understood and agreed that the description of the Demised Premises as set forth in Exhibit A hereof and the location of the
Demised Premises in the Building shall be subject to such changes as may be certified by Landlord's architect as necessary for
engineering or architectural purposes for the construction of the improvements to be constructed thereon, so long as such changes
do not materially change the Demised Premises or adversely affect access to the Demised Premises. Any such changes so
certified shall not invalidate this Lease and the description and location of the Demised Premises shall be deemed to have been
expressly modified and amended herein in accordance with such changes.

SECTION 9.02 - RELOCATION OF TENANT
Intentionally deleted

SECTION 9.03 - ACCESS TO DEMISED PREMISES
Except for emergencies or in an Event of Default, Landlord will not prevent Tenant, its employees, agents, and invitees
from having access to the Demised Premises twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week. Landlord shall have
the right, either itself or through its authorized agents, to enter the Demised Premises at all reasonable times (subject to Tenant’s
reasonable security measures and, except in events of emergency, upon reasonable advance verbal notice to on-site
employees of Tenant) to examine the same, to show them to prospective tenants for other spaces in the Building or for the
Demised Premises (during the last nine (9) months of the Term of this Lease), to allow inspection by mortgagees, and to make
such repairs, alterations, changes and inspections as Landlord deems necessary. In case of emergency, Landlord or Landlord's
authorized agent may access the Demised Premises at any time without any liability to the Tenant. Tenant, its agents, employees,
invitees, and guests, shall have the right of ingress and egress to Common Areas, provided Landlord by reasonable regulation
may control such access for the comfort, convenience and protection of all tenants in the Building.

Tenant agrees to provide Landlord with two (2) keys (including “key cards”) and any access codes or cards to each exterior lock
in the Demised Premises.

SECTION 9.04 - LANDLORD'S RULES AND REGULATIONS
Landlord reserves the right to establish (and change from time to time) regulations it deems appropriate for the common use and
benefit of all tenants, with which regulations Tenant shall comply; provided that (a) in the event of any conflict between said
rules and regulations and the express terms of this Lease, the Lease terms shall control; (b) such rules and regulations do
not unreasonably and materially interfere with Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Demised Premises; (c) such rules and
regulations do not require payment of additional monies; (d) Tenant receives at least thirty (30) days’ advance written
notice thereof; and (e) such rules and regulations are uniformly enforced in a non-discriminatory manner..

SECTION 9.05 - WINDOW TREATMENTS, SIGNS, AND EXTERIOR APPEARANCE
Tenant may not erect, install, or display any sign, advertising material, or window treatment on any wall or window surface of the
Demised Premises visible from the exterior or on the Building, without the prior written consent of the Landlord. Landlord will
not approve any signs, advertising material or window treatments which, in the sole discretion of the Landlord, are detrimental to
the external appearance of the Building, Property or the Common Area. Landlord reserves the right, at any time, to change the
name by which the Property is designated.

SECTION 9.06 - LANDLORD'S PERFORMANCE OF TENANT'S OBLIGATIONS
In the event the Tenant shall fail to discharge any duties and obligations hereunder imposed upon Tenant after receipt of written
notice by Landlord to the local manager and three (3) business days to cure, the Landlord shall have the right, but not the
obligation, at Landlord’s sole discretion, to perform such duties or obligations and, in such event, the Landlord and its agents
shall be entitled to receive as reimbursement from the Tenant, upon demand after the Tenant fails to cure within three (3)
business days after having received written notice to the local manager of Tenant’s failure to discharge any duties and
obligations, an amount equal to One Hundred Twenty Percent (120%) of the total of all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord
in performing such duties or obligations. Any such reimbursement and charge shall constitute Additional Rent hereunder. The
total cost to Tenant of any individual incident may not exceed One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) under this Section.



ARTICLE 10
FINANCING AND REFINANCING

SECTION 10.01 - ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
Tenant will furnish to Landlord and/or to the holder or prospective holder of any mortgage or deed of trust from time to time
encumbering the Demised Premises, a statement of the status of any matter pertaining to this Lease, including, without limitation,
acknowledgment that (or the extent to which) the Lease is in full force and effect, that, to Tenant’s knowledge, Landlord is in
compliance with its respective obligations thereunder, and that Tenant has no offsets or claims against Landlord. Tenant agrees to
execute and deliver, within ten (10) business days after receipt thereof, an instrument of estoppel in the form or substantially in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit D. If Tenant does not execute and deliver to Landlord an estoppel certificate within ten
(10) business days after receipt thereof, Tenant shall be deemed to have affirmed each of the matters in the Estoppel
Certificate.

SECTION 10.02 - SUBORDINATION - ATTORNMENT
This Lease shall be deemed subject and subordinate to any mortgage or deed of trust which may heretofore or hereafter be
executed by Landlord encumbering the Demised Premises and to all renewals, modifications or extensions thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, it shall be a condition precedent to any future subordination that Tenant be provided with
a written non-disturbance agreement (in a commercially reasonable form) providing that, if the holder of any future
Mortgage shall take title to the Demised Premises through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure, Tenant shall be
allowed to continue in possession of the Demised Premises as provided for in this Lease so long as Tenant is not in Default,
beyond any applicable notice and cure period. The Landlord's interest in this Lease may be assigned as security for any
financing now or hereafter obtained by Landlord. In the event any proceedings are brought for foreclosure of any mortgage or
deed of trust on the Demised Premises or for the exercise of any rights pursuant to any mortgage or deed of trust, upon demand,
Tenant will attorn to the mortgagee, assignee or purchaser at a foreclosure sale as the case may be and will recognize such
assignee, mortgagee or purchaser as Landlord, providing such assignee, mortgagee or purchaser agrees not to disturb Tenant's
possession so long as there is no Event of Default by Tenant under the terms of this Lease. Tenant agrees to execute and deliver to
Landlord an Attornment, Subordination and Non-Disturbance Agreement in the form or substantially in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit E and incorporated herein by reference, for the purpose of evidencing the Tenant’s agreement to subordinate its interest
as a tenant to the deed of trust lien of the holder of any deed of trust encumbering the Building. In the event that Tenant refuses to
or does not respond to Landlord’s written request to execute any documents required by any deed of trust beneficiary, mortgagee,
assignee or purchaser as aforesaid within ten business days, then Tenant shall be deemed to have approved and entered into
such requested documentation.

SECTION 10.03 - CERTAIN CHANGES FOR FINANCING
If Landlord seeks a loan on the Demised Premises, Lot, Building or Property and the proposed mortgagee requires as a condition
of making the loan that this Lease be modified, Tenant agrees to enter into such modification agreement providing that the same
does not increase the charges to Tenant, does not vary the areas demised, does not change the Term of Tenant's Lease and does
not materially increase Tenant's obligations, duties or covenants under this Lease.



ARTICLE 11
DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION

SECTION 11.01 - DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES
If the Demised Premises are totally destroyed by fire or other casualty, Landlord or, so long as such fire or other casualty does not
result from the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, Tenant may by written notice, given not later than thirty (30) days
after the date of such total destruction, terminate this Lease, in which event rent paid for the period beyond the date of destruction
shall be refunded to Tenant. If there is not total destruction and Tenant reasonably is required to close operation during repairs,
Monthly Minimum Rent and monthly installments of Tenant’s estimated share of increases in Direct Expenses shall abate while
so closed, but if Tenant is able to continue its operations during repairs, Monthly Minimum Rent and monthly installments of
Tenant’s estimated share of increases in Direct Expenses shall be adjusted and abated in the proportion which the area of
unusable leased space in the Demised Premises bears to the total Demised Premises, providing that Landlord shall not in such
case have any liability for losses claimed by Tenant. However, if: (i) the damages are such that Landlord reasonably concludes
that restoration cannot be completed within one hundred and fifty (150) days; or (ii) less than ten percent (10%) of the Lease
Term remains; or (iii) in Landlord's judgment, the cost of restoration will exceed the amount of the cumulative Monthly
Minimum Rent due from the Tenant for the next twelve calendar months succeeding the date of the casualty; or (iv) insurance
carried by Landlord is insufficient to restore the Demised Premises, Landlord may at its option terminate this Lease. If less than
ten percent (10%) of the Term remains, Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving Landlord notice of such termination
within thirty (30) days of the partial destruction. If all or any part of the Demised Premises is damaged by cause due to gross
negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, its agents, employees, invitees, or licensees, there shall be no apportionment or
abatement of any rent nor any right to terminate. Landlord shall not be required to restore fixtures or improvements made or
owned by Tenant that were not part of Landlord's Work or subsequently constructed in the Demised Premises by Landlord as part
of the Landlord’s work or other Lease terms. Landlord acknowledges and agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to
find temporary substitute premises within the Property for Tenant (at commercially reasonable terms) in the event of any
temporary closure due to casualty.

SECTION 11.02 - CONDEMNATION
If the whole or more than twenty per cent (20%) of the Demised Premises is taken by any governmental agency or corporation
vested with the right of exercise of eminent domain, whether such taking be effected by Court action or by settlement with the
agency exercising or threatening to exercise such power and if the property so taken renders the remainder of the Demised
Premises unfit for the use thereof by Tenant, then Tenant shall have the option to terminate this Lease, which option must be
exercised by notice in writing, received by Landlord within sixty (60) days of such taking. If the Tenant shall not elect to
terminate, or if the taking does not interfere with Tenant's use of the Demised Premises to the extent Tenant does not have an
option to terminate, there shall be an adjustment of all rents reflecting on a pro-rata basis any reduction in the Demised Premises.

If the whole of the Demised Premises shall be acquired or condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or
purpose, then the Term of the Lease shall cease and terminate as of the date of title vesting in such public or quasi public entity
and all rents shall be paid up to that date and Tenant shall have no claim against (Landlord nor the condemning authority unless
such claim does not diminish the value of Landlord’s claim) for the value of any unexpired Term of this Lease. In the event of
a partial taking or condemnation which is not extensive enough to render the Demised Premises unsuitable for the business of the
Tenant, the Landlord shall promptly restore the Demised Premises to a condition comparable to its condition at the time of such
condemnation less the portion lost in the taking, and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect with the rents proportionally
adjusted.

If the whole, or a substantial part, as determined by Landlord in its sole discretion, of the common parking areas shall be acquired
or condemned as aforesaid, then the term of this Lease shall cease and terminate as of the date of title vesting in such public or
quasi public entity unless Landlord shall take immediate steps to provide other suitable parking facilities. In the event that
Landlord shall provide such other parking facilities, then this Lease shall continue in full force and effect without any reduction
or abatement of rent.

In the event of any condemnation or taking as aforesaid, whether whole or partial, the Tenant shall not be entitled to any part of
the award paid for such condemnation and Landlord is to receive the full amount of such award, the Tenant hereby expressly
waiving any right or claim to any part thereof. Although all damages in the event of any condemnation are to belong to the
Landlord, whether such damages are awarded as compensation for diminution in value of the leasehold or to the fee of the
Demised Premises, Tenant shall have the right to claim and recover from the condemning authority, but not from Landlord, such
compensation as may be separately awarded or recoverable by Tenant in Tenant's own right on account of any and all damage to
Tenant's business by reason of the condemnation and for or on account of any cost or loss to which Tenant might be put in
removing Tenant's merchandise, furniture, fixtures, leasehold improvements and equipment, provided such award to Tenant does
not reduce the Landlord’s award.



ARTICLE 12
DEFAULT BY TENANT AND LANDLORD'S REMEDIES

SECTION 12.01 - EVENTS OF DEFAULT
For purposes of this Lease, the occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” hereunder:

(a) Tenant fails to pay any Monthly Minimum Rent, Additional Rent or other monetary payments as and when provided in
this Lease and such failure continues for five (5) business days after Landlord gives written notice (provided that
Landlord shall not be required to send more than two (2) such notices during any consecutive twelve (12)-month
period);

(b) Tenant breaches any other covenant, term, condition, agreement or obligation herein set forth and shall fail to cure
such breach within ten (10) business days after written notice or if such breach cannot be cured within ten (10)
business days and Tenant commences the cure within such ten (10) business days and thereafter diligently
continues to effect such cure;

(c) The assignment by Tenant of all or any part of its property for the benefit of creditors;

(d) The levy or execution, attachment, or taking of property, assets, or the leasehold interest of Tenant by process of law
or otherwise in satisfaction of any judgment, debt, or claim;

(e) The filing by Tenant of any petition or action for relief under any creditor's law (including bankruptcy, reorganization,
or similar actions), either in state or federal court; or

(f) The filing against Tenant of any petition or action for relief under any creditor's law (including bankruptcy,
reorganization, or similar actions), either in state or federal court; which is not dismissed within sixty (60) days.

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, Landlord shall be entitled by written notice to the Tenant to either (i) terminate the
Term hereof or (ii) to terminate Tenant's right to possession or occupancy only, without terminating the Term of this Lease.
Unless the Term is specifically terminated by notice in writing, it shall be assumed that the Landlord has elected to terminate
possession only, without terminating the Term.

The remedies of terminating the Term and of terminating possession shall be in addition to and not in limitation of any rights
otherwise available to the Landlord and the exercise by Landlord of any such rights shall not preclude the exercise of any other
rights available to the Landlord at law or in equity.

SECTION 12.02 - LANDLORD'S RIGHTS ON TERMINATION OF TERM OR POSSESSION
Upon any termination of the Term hereof, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon any termination of Tenant's right to
possession or occupancy only, without terminating the Term hereof, Tenant shall surrender possession and vacate the Demised
Premises and shall deliver possession thereof to the Landlord; and Tenant hereby grants to Landlord full and free license to enter
into and upon the Demised Premises in such event and with process of law (or without process of law if Tenant has abandoned
the Demised Premises) to repossess the Demised Premises and to expel or remove Tenant and any others who may be occupying
the Demised Premises and to remove therefrom any and all property, without being guilty of or liable for trespass, eviction or
forcible entry or detainer and without relinquishing Landlord's right to rent or any other right given to Landlord hereunder or by
operation of law. If Tenant has abandoned the Demised Premises, Landlord is expressly authorized to change the locks to the
Demised Premises to prohibit access by Tenant, and thereafter, in Landlord’s sole discretion, to arrange removal of all property of
any kind from the Demised Premises. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, Tenant hereby expressly waives any
right to service and demand for payment of rent or for possession of the Demised Premises or to re-enter the Demised Premises,
including any and every form of demand and notice prescribed by any statute or any other law.



If Landlord elects to terminate Tenant's right to possession only as above provided, without terminating the Term hereof,
Landlord at its option may enter into the Demised Premises, remove Tenant's property and other evidences of tenancy and take
and hold possession thereof without such entry and possession terminating the Term hereof and without releasing Tenant from its
obligation to pay rents herein reserved for the full Term hereof. Landlord is expressly authorized to change the locks to the
Demised Premises to prohibit access by Tenant, and thereafter, in Landlord’s sole discretion, to arrange removal of all property of
any kind from the Demised Premises. Upon and after entry into possession without terminating such obligations, Landlord may,
but shall not be obligated to, relet the Demised Premises, or any part for the account of Tenant to any person, firm or corporation
for such rent, for such time, and upon such terms as Landlord in its sole discretion shall determine. If any rent collected by
Landlord upon any such reletting for Tenant's account is not sufficient to pay monthly the full amount of the rent herein reserved,
(including Monthly Minimum Rent, Additional Rent, and other charges), and not theretofore paid by Tenant, together with the
costs of any brokerage fees, repairs, alterations, or redecoration necessary for such reletting, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the
amount of each deficiency upon demand, and if the rent so collected from such reletting is more than enough to pay the full
amount of the rents reserved hereunder and all of the aforementioned costs, Landlord shall be entitled to retain such excess.
Notwithstanding any termination of the right to possession without termination of the Term, the Landlord expressly reserves the
right, at any time after the termination of possession, to terminate the Term of this Lease by notice of such termination to Tenant.

Tenant acknowledges that Landlord shall have no duty to mitigate damages.

SECTION 12.03 – SURRENDER OF DEMISED PREMISES
Upon termination or expiration of the Term of this Lease, the termination of Tenant’s right to possession, or the vacation of the
Demised Premises by Tenant, Tenant shall restore the Demised Premises at Tenant's sole expense to the same condition and
configuration as existed at the Commencement Date (unless otherwise agreed to by Landlord, in writing), ordinary wear and
tear only excepted, leaving the Demised Premises broom-clean; provided, however, that Landlord may elect to require Tenant to
leave all or any (i) fixtures other than Tenant’s trade fixtures (“Fixtures”), and (ii) alterations, improvements or additions
performed by Tenant, Tenant’s agents or contractors (“Alterations”).

At least thirty (30) days prior to the termination or expiration of this Lease or Tenant’s vacation of the Demised Premises, Tenant
shall submit to Landlord a plan or other reasonable description of the current type, quantity, points of commencement and
termination, and routes of the Wires to allow Landlord to determine if Landlord desires to retain same. Upon the expiration or
earlier termination of the Lease, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s cost remove all Uncontained Wires except for Uncontained Wires which
Landlord notifies in writing that Landlord wishes to remain, and Tenant shall restore the Demised Premises or Building, as the
case may be, to their condition existing prior to the installation of such Uncontained Wires, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
Wires within conduits and Uncontained Wires that Landlord has notified Tenant that Landlord is retaining are sometimes referred
to herein as “Retained Wires”. As to any Fixtures, Alterations and Retained Wires which Landlord notifies Tenant that Landlord
is retaining, Tenant covenants that (i) immediately prior to the transfer of Tenant’s interest in such Fixtures, Alterations or
Retained Wires to Landlord, Tenant shall be the sole owner of such Fixtures, Alterations and Retained Wires with the sole right to
surrender the same, and such Fixtures, Alterations and Retained Wires shall be free of all liens and encumbrances, (ii) all retained
Fixtures, Alterations and Retained Wires shall be left in good condition and in working order, and (iii) all Retained Wires shall
remain connected and be properly labeled and capped or sealed at each end and in each telecommunications/electrical closet and
junction box, and in safe condition. Upon termination of this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession, Landlord shall have the right
to reenter and resume possession of the Demised Premises. Tenant’s obligations under this Section 12.03 shall survive the
expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.

Tenant may remove its trade fixtures provided that the same may be removed without adversely affecting or injuring the Demised
Premises, the Building or the Lot and that Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost, repair any damage done by such removal.

Upon termination or expiration of the Term of this Lease, the termination of Tenant’s right to possession, or the vacation of the
Demised Premises by Tenant, Tenant shall immediately return to Landlord all keys to all or any portion of the Demised Premises
or Property furnished to or otherwise procured by Tenant. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole expense, shall remove all [****], if any,
installed by or for Tenant or by Tenant’s agents or contractors and shall repair any damage to the Demised Premises caused by
such removal, unless Landlord agrees in writing that such [****] can remain.



If Tenant does not remove its property of every kind and description from the Premises prior to the expiration or termination of
the Lease, or Tenant’s right to possession, however ended, or the vacation of the Demised Premises by Tenant, then, Tenant at
Landlord’s election to be evidenced by written notice to Tenant within 30 days after the termination of the Term, but not
otherwise shall be conclusively presumed to have conveyed the same to Landlord under this Lease as a bill of sale without further
payment or credit by Landlord to Tenant and Landlord may remove the same and Tenant shall pay the cost of such removal to
Landlord upon demand. In the event Landlord does not so elect to compel conveyance of such property, Landlord may dispose of
such property in any manner whatsoever to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, without limitation, the sale, scrapping,
and/or destruction thereof without further obligation to Tenant and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, promptly on demand, the
reasonable expenses of such disposal. Tenant’s obligation to observe or perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or other
termination of the term of this Lease.

SECTION 12.04 – HOLDING OVER
In the event Tenant shall fail to leave the Demised Premises upon expiration or termination of this Lease, then Tenant
shall be a tenant-at-will and Landlord, in addition to all other remedies available to it hereunder, shall have the right to
receive monthly, as rents for all the time Tenant shall so retain possession of the Demised Premises, or any part thereof, an
amount equal to One Hundred Fifty Percent (150%) of the Monthly Minimum Rent and Additional Rent due and payable
during the last full calendar month of the Term. Tenant shall be deemed to be occupying the Demised Premises as a tenant
from month-to-month only, but otherwise subject to all the covenants, conditions, and agreements of this Lease.

If Tenant gives Landlord written notice at least One Hundred Twenty (120) days prior to the Expiration Date that it will
extend the Term for up to three (3) months, then the Monthly Minimum Rent and Additional Rent during that up to three
(3) month period shall be One Hundred Twenty Five Percent (125%) of the Monthly Minimum Rent and Additional Rent
due and payable during the last full calendar month of the Term, but otherwise subject to all the covenants, conditions,
and agreements of this Lease. At the time of Tenant’s notice, Tenant will select how long the Term will be extended (one,
two, or three months).

ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 13.01 - ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE - SUBLEASE
Tenant may not assign or encumber this Lease, and may not sublet any part or all of the Demised Premises without the
written consent of Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Landlord agrees not to
unreasonably withhold its consent to a proposed assignment of this Lease or subletting of the Demised Premises to a party
which (i) is, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, of a character or reputation or is engaged in a business which would
not be harmful to the image and reputation of the Property or can reasonably be expected to perform the obligations of
“Tenant” hereunder; (ii) will not use the Demised Premises in a manner that would conflict with any exclusive use
agreement or other similar agreement entered into by Landlord with any other tenant of the Property; (iii) proposes to
use the Demised Premises so as to not materially increase the pedestrian or vehicular traffic to the Demised Premises or
Property; and without limiting the foregoing, Landlord may withhold its consent (and it shall not be deemed
unreasonable), to any such assignment or subletting of the Demised Premises to any party (A) which is a governmental
entity (or subdivision or agency thereof); (B) which is a prospective tenant that has delivered to or received from
Landlord (within the prior four (4) months) a written proposal to lease comparable and competing space in the Property
before Tenant or its agent contacts such party and said space remains vacant; or (C) which intends to use, store, or
generate any Hazardous Materials in, on, or about the Demised Premises other than amounts permitted under this
Lease.  Any assignment or sublease to which Landlord may consent (one consent not being any basis to contend that
Landlord should consent to a further assignment or subletting) shall not relieve Tenant of any of its obligations
hereunder.  In the event of a request for assignment or sublease, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for all of its reasonable,
actual, out-of-pocket expenses in connection therewith, including legal expenses (not to exceed a total of $1,000 per
request).  In no event shall this Lease be assignable by operation of any law, and Tenant's rights hereunder may not
become, and shall not be listed by Tenant as an asset under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization proceedings.
Tenant is not, may not become, and shall never represent itself to be an agent of Landlord, and Tenant expressly
recognizes that Landlord's title is paramount, and that it can do nothing to affect or impair Landlord's title.  Except for
Permitted Assignments and the subleasing of different portions of the Demised Premises to subtenants, Landlord’s
consent to assignment or subleasing shall be conditioned upon no further assignment of the Lease or subleasing of the
Demised Premises, without Landlord’s consent, which Landlord may grant or withhold in its sole discretion. Tenant may
not sublease the Demised Premises to more than five subtenants at the same time and the dividing line between those
subtenants must occur along dividing lines reasonably agreeable to Landlord. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Section 13.01, provided Tenant is not in default hereunder (beyond any applicable notice of cure period),
Tenant may assign this Lease or sublet the Demised Premises without Landlord’s consent (provided that Tenant shall
provide written notice thereof to the Landlord within thirty (30) days of such transfer) to: (a) any entity resulting from a
merger or consolidation to which Tenant is a party; or (b) any entity which purchases all or substantially all of Tenant’s
assets or business; or (c) any affiliate or parent company of Tenant; provided the same remains an affiliate or parent
company of Tenant and the permitted use hereunder remains unchanged (all “Permitted Assignments”).  Tenant shall not
be released from any of its obligations hereunder by any such assignment or subletting.



SECTION 13.02 - QUIET ENJOYMENT
If Tenant complies with each of its obligations hereunder, it shall peacefully have and enjoy the possession of the Demised
Premises during the Term hereof, providing that no action of Landlord in work in other space in the Building, on other areas of
the Lot or Property, or in repairing or restoring the Demised Premises, shall be deemed a breach of this covenant, or give Tenant
any right to modify this Lease either as to Term, rent payable, or other obligations to perform. However, Landlord shall not be
responsible or liable to Tenant for injury or damage resulting from acts or omissions of persons occupying property adjacent to
the Demised Premises or any part of the Building in which the Demised Premises are a part, or for injury or damage resulting to
Tenant or its property from bursting, stoppage or leaking of water, gas, sewer, sprinkler or steam pipes, except to the extent such
loss or damage arises from the willful misconduct of Landlord.

SECTION 13.03 - SECURITY DEPOSIT
Landlord shall retain the Security Deposit as additional security for the performance by Tenant of each of its obligations
hereunder. If Tenant fails at any time to perform its obligations, Landlord may at its option apply said deposit or so much thereof
as is required, to cure Tenant's failure to perform, but if prior to the termination of this Lease, Landlord depletes said deposit in
whole or in part, Tenant shall promptly restore the amount so used by Landlord, the obligation to so restore to be regarded as an
obligation to pay Additional Rent. This deposit shall not bear interest, and unless the Landlord uses the same to cure an Event of
Default of Tenant, or to restore the Demised Premises to the condition that Tenant is required to leave them at the conclusion of
the Term, Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days of the termination of the Lease, refund to Tenant, so much of the deposit as it
continues to hold. If Landlord transfers its interest in the Demised Premises during the Term, Landlord may assign the Security
Deposit to the transferee and thereafter shall have no further liability for the return of such Security Deposit.

SECTION 13.04 - NOTICES
Any notices which Landlord or Tenant is required or desires to give to the other shall be deemed sufficiently given or rendered if,
in writing, delivered personally, sent by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, or deposited with a nationally recognized
overnight courier service for overnight delivery to the address listed after the respective signatures on the last page of this Lease.

Any notice given herein shall be deemed delivered when delivered personally, when the return receipt therefore is signed or
refusal to accept the mailing by the addressee is noted thereon by the postal authorities or by the overnight delivery company, as
applicable.

SECTION 13.05 - LIABILITY OF LANDLORD
In the event Landlord shall fail to perform any covenant, term or condition of this Lease upon Landlord's part to be performed,
Tenant covenants and agrees to look solely to Landlord's estate and interest (including rental income and
insurance/condemnation proceeds) in the Demised Premises and the Lot on which the Demised Premises are located for any
recovery of money judgment from Landlord from and after the date of this Lease. In no event is Landlord, its officers or
employees or an individual member, shareholder, general or limited partner of Landlord, or any successor in interest thereof, ever
to be personally liable for any such judgment.



SECTION 13.06 - SALE BY LANDLORD
The Landlord may at any time assign or transfer its interest as Landlord or may sell or transfer its interest in all or part of the
Property of which the Demised Premises is a part without affecting any obligations of Tenant hereunder. The term Landlord as
used in this Lease so far as the covenants and obligations on the part of the Landlord are concerned, shall be limited to mean and
include only the owner or owners of the Demised Premises at the time in question and in the event of any transfer or conveyance
of the Landlord's title to such property, other than by an assignment for security only. In the event of any such transfer or
conveyance, if the grantee has assumed the Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, the grantee shall automatically be
substituted and the grantor shall automatically be released from any and all liability arising with respect to the performance of
any covenants or obligations after the effective date of any such sale.

SECTION 13.07 - BROKERAGE
Tenant warrants that it has had no dealings with any broker or agent in connection with this Lease, other than Aldene “Dee”
Creech Osborne, SIOR of NAI Carolantic Realty and Matthew Cooke of Jones Lang LaSalle Brokerage, Inc., and
covenants to pay, hold harmless and indemnify Landlord from and against, any and all cost, expense or liability for any
compensation, commissions and charges claimed by any other broker or agent with respect to this Lease or the negotiation
thereof.

SECTION 13.08 – PARKING
Landlord shall provide Tenant with One Hundred Fifty Eight (158) unassigned parking spaces at no additional charge, for the
nonexclusive use of Tenant and its employees and visitors. Tenant and its visitors may not use more than the above designated
number of parking spaces at any one time. If Landlord incurs additional expenses in monitoring the parking of Tenant’s
employees and visitors, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord as additional rent the amount of such additional expenses upon
Landlord’s written demand therefor.

SECTION 13.09 - ROOF AND WALLS
Landlord shall have the exclusive right to use all or any part of the roof of the Building for any purpose; to erect other structures
over all of any part of the Building; and to erect in connection with the construction thereof temporary scaffolds and other aids to
construction on the exterior of the Demised Premises, provided that (i) access to the Demised Premises shall not be denied;
and (ii) such actions shall not materially interfere with Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises as permitted in this Lease.

Landlord will allow [****] provided [****] is reasonably approved by Landlord in advance. [****] upon termination by
Tenant and at Tenant’s expense. Landlord’s approval is subject to Tenant’s compliance with [****].

SECTION 13.10 - SPECIAL PROVISIONS - EXHIBIT C
Notwithstanding any contrary provisions hereof, the provisions, if any contained within Exhibit C constitute special provisions
and agreements of the parties which shall supersede any provisions of this Lease which are inconsistent with the provisions stated
within Exhibit C.

SECTION 13.11 - GENERAL RULES FOR INTERPRETING THIS LEASE Headings of paragraphs are for convenience only
and shall not be considered in construing the meaning of the contents of such paragraph.

The acceptance of rentals and other payments by Landlord for any period or periods after an Event of Default shall not be
deemed a waiver of any rights on the part of the Landlord, including without limitation the right to terminate this Lease for any
Event of Default. No waiver by Landlord or Tenant of any of the terms or conditions of this Lease shall be construed as a waiver
by Landlord or Tenant of any subsequent Event of Default.

The invalidity of any provision of this Lease shall not have any effect on the balance hereof.

Should Landlord or Tenant institute any legal proceedings against the other for breach of any provision herein contained, and
prevail in such action, the non-prevailing party shall in addition be liable for the reasonable costs and expenses of the prevailing
party, including its reasonable attorney's fees.



Each person signing on behalf of Landlord or Tenant warrants and represents that she or he is authorized to execute and deliver
this Lease and to make it a binding obligation of Landlord or Tenant. This Lease shall be binding upon the respective parties
hereto, and upon their heirs, executors, successors and assigns.

This Lease is executed with the express intent and understanding that it shall supersede any and all prior discussions and or
agreements between the parties hereto, it being understood and agreed that the Lease contains the entire understanding and
agreement concerning the lease of the Demised Premises described herein.

Changes and amendments to this Lease shall be in writing signed by the party affected by such change or amendment.

This Lease may not be recorded without Landlord's prior written consent. The parties agree that either party may request (at
said requesting party’s sole cost and expense) that the other execute a Memorandum of Lease (describing the Demised
Premises, the Term, and any other information which the parties agree to include) which may be recorded. In the event of
an early termination as a result of Tenant’s default and vacation of the Demised Premises, Tenant agrees that Landlord
can unilaterally remove the Memorandum of Lease of record.

The singular shall include the plural, and the masculine or neuter includes the other.

This Lease shall be construed under the laws of the State of North Carolina.

SECTION 13.12 - LANDLORD'S SECURITY INTEREST
Landlord hereby agrees and affirms that it has no lien on, or security interest in, or claim to any of Tenant's personal
property located in the Demised Premises to secure Tenant's obligations hereunder, and Landlord hereby waives any such
presumptive interest, statutory or otherwise, in any such personal property of Tenant. Upon reasonable request, so long as
Tenant is not in default under this Lease, Landlord further agrees to execute, within twenty (20) days following written
request, any commercially reasonable document reflecting the subordination of any such Landlord's interest to Tenant's
lender(s) and in such event Tenant shall pay Landlord's reasonable and actual "out-of-pocket" costs therefor.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease in duplicate originals, all as of the day and year first
above written.

LANDLORD:
 
Southport Business Park Limited Partnership,
a North Carolina limited partnership
 
BY: Southport Business Park Investors Corporation,
 a North Carolina corporation, its general partner
  

/s/ Richard G. Sullivan
Richard G. Sullivan
Vice President

ADDRESS FOR LANDLORD FOR NOTICES UNDER LEASE:

SOUTHPORT BUSINESS PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
101 Southcenter Court, Suite 1100

Morrisville, NC 27560
ATTN: General Manager

and

GENERAL COUNSEL
GID Investment Advisors LLC

High Street Tower
125 High Street, 27th floor

Boston, MA 02110

****************************************************************

 TENANT:
  
 CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.
 a North Carolina corporation
   
 BY: /s/ Randy McCullough
  Randy McCullough
  President & CEO

ADDRESS FOR TENANT FOR NOTICES UNDER THIS LEASE:

170 Southport Drive
Morrisville, North Carolina 27560
Attention: Kyle Macemore, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Before Commencement Date:

300 Perimeter Park Drive, Suite A
Morrisville, North Carolina 27560

With a copy to:

Smith, Anderson, Blount, Dorsett, Mitchell & Jernigan, LLP
P. O. Box 2611
Raleigh, North Carolina 27602-2611
Attention: Brad J. Daves, Esq.

Overnight delivery address:
2300 Wells Fargo Capitol Center
150 Fayetteville Street
Raleigh, North Carolina 27601

****************************************************************



EXHIBIT A - DEMISED PREMISES

Exhibit A is a drawing showing the Demised Premises and its location within the Building.

[****]

/s/ RGS Initials

/s/ RNM Initials



EXHIBIT B - DESCRIPTION OF LANDLORD'S WORK

B-1 Prior Improvements to the Demised Premises

The improvements that existed in the Demised Premises immediately prior to the execution of this Lease are shown on the
attached plan Exhibit B-1.

[****]

/s/ RGS Initials

/s/ RNM Initials



B-2 Additional Improvements to the Demised Premises

Landlord's Work shall consist of upfitting the space in accordance with plans approved by Landlord and Tenant, the space plan
being attached below (the “Approved Space Plan”). The Demised Premises have been accepted in “as is” condition.

Allowance
Landlord shall provide Tenant an improvement allowance (the “Allowance”) in the amount of $15.00 per square foot (that being
Five Hundred Forty-Five Thousand One Hundred and Sixty and 00/100 Dollars ($545,160)) to perform improvements to the
Demised Premises (“Landlord’s Work”). The Allowance is to be used for improvements to the Demised Premises such as
electrical, HVAC, plumbing and wall changes, paint, fire alarm system changes, floor coverings, etc. The Allowance may also be
used for architectural and engineering work related to the Landlord’s Work. Any unused Improvement Allowance may be used
for the construction of the Tenant’s [****], generator, and related improvements and any other moving expense of Tenant.
Tenant’s [****] shall be considered trade fixtures and removed by Tenant upon the expiration or termination of this Lease.

All costs of the Landlord’s Work in excess of the Allowance shall be paid by Tenant, no matter what the reason for the Allowance
being exceeded, including, but is not limited to, changes made by officials such as the building inspector or fire marshal, quick
shipping items, etc.

Tenant’s access
Upon full execution of the Lease and upon providing Landlord with the certificate of insurance covering the Demised Premises
that is required by Article 8 of the Lease, Tenant may, with Landlord’s approval and coordination, access the Demised Premises
for the purposes of performing work in the Demised Premises such as installing trade fixtures, equipment, telephone and data
wiring, and furniture, and for the specialty construction of the [****] and any special electrical work. Such work by Tenant may
not interfere or delay Landlord’s Work. Landlord and Tenant shall use good faith efforts to coordinate access for Tenant and its
contractors in connection with such work.

Construction Drawings
Upon full execution of this Lease, Landlord shall hire an architect and engineer, reasonably acceptable to Tenant to perform the
drawings of Landlord’s Work (the ”Construction Drawings”). Landlord’s Work will be based on the Approved Space Plan and
shall be performed in accordance to Landlord’s Tenant Improvement Standards. The Construction Documents are subject to the
approval of Landlord and Tenant. Tenant hereby authorizes Buddy Langston to act on its behalf for approvals and decisions
required in the performance of Landlord’s Work. Tenant shall have five business days from their receipt in which to approve the
Construction Drawings in writing to Landlord (or approve with corrections). If Tenant fails to respond within five business days,
the Construction Drawings will be deemed to be approved. Upon approval, Landlord will apply for a building permit and bid
Landlord’s Work to at least three (3) general contractors with at least one contractor chosen by Landlord and one contractor
chosen by Tenant. Tenant may provide up to two additional general contractors to bid on the construction of Landlord’s Work, so
long as they are, in Landlord’s reasonable discretion, qualified to construct Landlord’s Work and Tenant provides Landlord with
the contractor’s contact information within three days of Landlord’s request. Upon receipt of the bids, Landlord will evaluate the
bids with Tenant and they will jointly select the low bidder who is qualified to construct Landlord’s Work (the “Contractor”).
Landlord will also obtain proposals from vendors (the “Ancillary Vendors”) for performing other ancillary work required to
complete Landlord’s Work such as ADT for the fire alarm system and the architect and engineers for the Construction Drawings.
Contracts for Landlord’s Work including Contractor, architects, engineers, Ancillary Vendors, etc. will be in Landlord’s name. All
of Landlord’s Work including the cost of the Contractor, Construction Drawings, permit, and Ancillary Vendors (“Landlord’s
Work Costs”) shall be paid out of the Allowance, Additional Allowance, or by Tenant. Promptly following the selection of the
Contractor, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement of the cost to construct and install all of the Landlord’s Work (the "Cost
Statement"), showing anticipated distribution of the Allowance and Additional Allowance. Within three (3) business days of
Tenant’s receipt of the Cost Statement, Tenant shall accept the Cost Statement in writing or request revisions to the extent such
Cost Statement is inconsistent with the bid of the Contractor or this Agreement. Landlord shall have three (3) business days after
receipt of Tenant’s comments in which to give to Tenant a revised Cost Statement. This process shall continue until such time that
Tenant approves the Cost Statement in accordance with this paragraph. If Tenant does not respond within three (3) business days
to any of Landlord’s submissions of Cost Statements, the Cost Statement shall be deemed approved by Tenant. Landlord shall not
charge a management fee for overseeing Landlord’s Work. Upon receipt of the building permit for Landlord’s Work, Landlord
will sign the construction contract with the Contractor and authorize the construction of Landlord’s Work on a commercially
reasonable schedule.



Landlord’s Work Costs shall be paid for by Landlord using the Allowance. If Landlord’s Work costs more than the Allowance,
Tenant will pay Landlord the difference within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s invoice and/or agree in writing to use the Additional
Allowance to pay for the difference. If Landlord’s Work does not utilize all of the Allowance, Tenant may submit an invoice to
Landlord for the balance of the Allowance (the “Unused Allowance”). Such invoice shall be accompanied by back up
information showing costs paid by Tenant for work such as the construction of [****], data and telecommunications wiring, and
other moving expenses. So long as the total of such backup information exceeds the remaining Unused Allowance, Landlord
shall pay Tenant the Unused Allowance within thirty (30) days.

Additional Allowance: Tenant may obtain an additional allowance of up to One Hundred Eighty One Thousand Seven Hundred
and Twenty Dollars ($181,720) (the “Additional Allowance”) from Landlord, to be used to pay for the cost of Landlord’s Work
that is in excess of the Allowance. The Additional Allowance may be used to pay for (1) Landlord’s Work that, in Landlord’s
reasonable opinion, will add value to the Building and will remain at the end of the Term, (2) Tenant’s generator. If Tenant desires
to use the Additional Allowance, Tenant will make such request to Landlord in writing. Tenant will repay Landlord for the
portion of the Additional Allowance that is used by making amortized monthly payments which will be added to the Monthly
Minimum Rent. The first payment will be due on the first day of the full month following Abatement Months and will be
amortized over the number of months remaining till July 31, 2021 at eight percent (8%) annual interest. By way of example, if
the first month in which rent is not abated is October 2014 (leaving 84 months till July 31, 2021) and the amount of the
Additional Allowance used is $100,000, the first payment of $1,558.62 would be added to the Monthly Minimum Rent due on
October, 2014. If the Additional Allowance is used, Landlord will reissue a revised Minimum Rent Chart reflecting the addition
of such rent payments for the Additional Allowance. No Additional Allowance may be used by Tenant for improvements
authorized by Tenant after the Commencement Date.

Changes to Landlord’s Work
Changes to Landlord’s Work may (1) be requested by Tenant or (2) made by Landlord if such change is necessary for Landlord’s
Work to pass inspections by the Town of Morrisville.

Tenant shall have the right to request changes to the Construction Drawings at any time following the date of their approval by
way of written change order (each, a "Change Order", and collectively, "Change Orders"). Provided such Change Order is
reasonably acceptable to Landlord, Landlord shall prepare and submit promptly to Tenant a memorandum setting forth the impact
on cost and schedule resulting from said Change Order (the "Change Order Memorandum of Agreement"). Landlord shall not
withhold its approval of a requested Change Order if it is generally consistent with the Construction Drawings. Tenant shall,
within three (3) business days following Tenant's receipt of the Change Order Memorandum of Agreement, either (a) execute and
return the approved Change Order Memorandum of Agreement to Landlord, or (b) retract its request for the Change Order. If
Tenant does not respond to Landlord within three (3) business days, The Change Order Memorandum of Agreement shall be
deemed disapproved.

Approved Change Order Memoranda of Agreement to Landlord’s Work by Tenant are subject to being considered Tenant Delay
pursuant to the terms of Article 3.

Audit Rights
The Landlord shall keep (and cause the Contractor to keep) full and detailed records and accounts related to the construction
costs and exercise such controls as may be necessary for proper financial management under this Exhibit and to substantiate all
costs incurred.  The Tenant and the Tenant's auditors shall, upon reasonable notice and during regular business hours, be afforded
access to, and shall be permitted to audit and copy, the Landlord's and/or Contractor’s records and accounts, including complete
documentation supporting accounting entries, books, correspondence, instructions, drawings, receipts, contracts, subcontracts,
contractor's proposals, purchase orders, vouchers, memoranda and other data relating to the Landlord’s Work.  The Landlord and
Contractor shall preserve these records for a period of three years after final payment, or for such longer period as may be
required by law.



Warranty
Landlord shall cause the Landlord’s Work to be (1) designed in accordance with the professional care and skill ordinarily
provided by design professionals practicing in the same or similar locality under the same or similar circumstances and (2)
constructed in a good and workmanlike manner, in compliance with the Construction Documents, and (3) in compliance with all
applicable laws, codes, ordinances, and regulations. Landlord shall cause the repair or replacement of any defects in design,
material or workmanship in the Landlord’s Work for a period of one (1) year after the date of substantial completion of the
Landlord’s Work, or the duration of any manufacturer’s warranty, whichever is longer, provided Tenant notifies Landlord of such
defect as soon as reasonably practicable after the date Tenant discovers such defect.

The Approved Space Plan

The Approved Space Plan below also includes some of Tenant’s trade fixtures and furniture, fixtures and equipment.

[****]

/s/ RGS Initials

/s/ RNM Initials



EXHIBIT C - SPECIAL PROVISIONS

In the event the Landlord and Tenant agree to any special provisions, the special provisions shall be listed on this Exhibit C.

Signage: Landlord shall provide Tenant with a Five Thousand Dollar ($5,000) allowance to be used toward the
installation of two (2) exterior building fascia signs and monument style signage to be installed on the
dedicated wall at the parking entrance to the Building’s exclusive parking area – as shown on Exhibit A.
Such signage shall conform to Landlord’s sign standards and with Town of Morrisville laws. The
Landlord, at Landlord’s expense will also provide one 4” listing on the Building’s directory ground
monument sign and shall provide standard dock area signage.

Moving Allowance: Landlord will provide Tenant with a moving allowance (the “Moving Allowance”) of One Dollar ($1.00)
per square foot which is Thirty Six Thousand Three Hundred Forty-four Dollars ($36,344.00) Landlord
will pay Tenant the Moving Allowance within thirty (30) days of the Commencement Date.

Termination Incentive: Landlord agrees to provide Tenant with a Thirty Six Thousand ($36,000) incentive to help offset the
Tenant’s estimated termination penalty at its current location (the “Termination Incentive”). Landlord
will pay Tenant the Termination Incentive within thirty (30) days of the Commencement Date.

Option to Extend: Provided that there is no then outstanding uncured Event of Default by Tenant, Tenant shall have two (2)
options to extend the Term, for a period of five (5) years each. The option to extend the Term must be
exercised in writing on or before two hundred seventy (270) days prior to expiration of the then-current
Term (failure to give notice being an absolute bar to any rights on the part of Tenant to so extend). The
Monthly Minimum Rent for each of the extended Terms will be adjusted to the then prevailing fair
market rate to similar office buildings (the “Fair Market Rate”) The Fair Market Rate will consider any
market rate concession and be based on comparable space in the Research Triangle Park area taking into
account such factors as the condition of the premises, location, age, amenities and interior improvements.
If Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon the Fair Market Rate within forty-five (45) days after
Landlord’s receipt of written notice of Tenant’s election to exercise its option to extend the Term, then the
Fair Market Rate shall be determined by an appraiser mutually agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant, or
if they cannot mutually agree on one appraiser then by three (3) appraisers holding the earned
designation “MAI” and having at least five (5) years experience in appraising commercial real estate in
the Wake County, North Carolina area, one appraiser to be selected by Tenant, one appraiser to be
selected by Landlord, and the third appraiser to be selected by the other two appraisers. If the three
appraisers are unable to agree upon the Fair Market Rate, then each shall submit its written
determination within thirty (30) days after the appraiser’s appointment and the Fair Market Rate shall
be the average of the three appraisers’ determinations. Provided, however, if the appraisals of two of the
three appraisers vary from one another by less than ten percent (10%) then the third appraisal shall be
disregarded and the Fair Market Rate shall be the average of the other two appraisals. Tenant and
Landlord each shall pay the cost of the appraiser it selects and the cost of the third appraiser shall be split
equally between Landlord and Tenant. If Landlord and Tenant mutually agree on one appraiser, then
Landlord and Tenant shall split equally the cost of the appraiser.



If Tenant fails to exercise the first option to extend the Term in a timely manner, both options shall
become null and void and Tenant shall have no further rights to extend the Term except those listed in
Section 12.04.

Existing Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment:

Furniture and a reception desk has been left in the Demised Premises by the prior tenant (“Abandoned
Furniture”). Landlord will provide Tenant a list of the Abandoned Furniture prior to December 1, 2013. If
Tenant does not want all or portions of the Abandoned Furniture, it must tell Landlord so prior to January 1,
2014 and Landlord will remove it prior to the Commencement Date. After the Commencement Date, any
Abandoned Furniture will belong to Tenant and must be removed by Tenant at Tenant’s expense at the end of
the Term. The Abandoned Furniture is being given to Tenant, as is, with no warranty by Landlord. If any repair
or maintenance is required, it will be Tenant’s responsibility to do so at Tenant’s expense.

Encumbrances: Landlord warrants that there are no expansion rights or renewal rights held by third parties that affect
the Building.

Landlord Default: Landlord’s failure to perform or observe any of its Lease obligations after a period of thirty (30) days or
the additional time, if any, that is reasonably necessary to promptly and diligently cure the failure after
receiving notice from Tenant is a Landlord Default. The notice shall give reasonable detail the nature and
extent of the failure and identify the Lease provision(s) containing the obligation(s). If Landlord commits
a Landlord Default, Tenant may pursue any remedies given in this Lease or under applicable law, except
as may be limited by this Lease.

Force Majeure: Except in Article 3, if for any reason either Landlord or Tenant is prevented from performing any non-
monetary obligation set forth in this Lease for any reason of Force Majeure, then the period for such
party fulfilling the obligation shall be extended for the period of time during which the party is prevented
from performing the obligation. For purposes of this Lease, the term Force Majeure shall mean acts of
God, weather delays, strikes or war, orders of the governments of the United States, North Carolina or
any state, civil or military authority, riots, epidemics, lightning, fires, and other similar or different causes
not reasonably in the control of the party affected.

Fitness Center: Tenant shall have, at no separate cost not shared by other tenants, the nonexclusive right to use the fitness
facility (“Fitness Facility”) located within the Property. The rights under this paragraph shall be subject
to temporary interruption due to maintenance, repairs and casualty, which interruption shall all be
reasonable under the applicable circumstances and which interruption Landlord shall minimize to the
extent feasible. Landlord shall have the right to relocate the Fitness Facility, during which time the
Fitness Facility will not be available to Tenant. Such relocation period shall not exceed six (6) months.

/s/ RGS Initials

/s/ RNM Initials



EXHIBIT D - TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

Loan No: 100005894

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE - TENANT

Lender: Unum Life Insurance Company of America
2211 Congress Street, C474
Portland, Maine 04122-0590
Attn: Mortgage and Real Estate Dept.

Property Address:

Tenant:

Landlord:

Lease dated _____________________, 20__
 
Amendments and/or Letter Agreements dated _______________________ (the “Lease”)
 
Lease Term:  Commenced __________________ and will expire on ________________
 
Monthly fixed rent:  $_____________________ paid through ____________
Demised Premises:  Suite ____________     _____________________ s.f. _____________
$____________ has been paid to Landlord as Prepaid Rent
$____________ has been paid to Landlord as Security Deposit

Dear Lender:

We understand and acknowledge the receipt of notice that the above referenced Lease was or will be assigned to you by
the Landlord, in an Assignment of Rents, Leases, and Other Benefits (the “Assignment”), in consideration of a loan made or to be
made by you to Landlord, all as more fully described in the Assignment. Except as defined herein, all capitalized terms used
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.

We hereby certify and represent to you the following:

1. The Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties to it and has not been modified or amended.

2. The Lease, as of the date hereof, is in full force and effect, binding and enforceable against Tenant in accordance with its terms,
and, except as specifically set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, there are no other agreements, whether
oral or written, or understandings of any nature between Landlord and Tenant which modify or amend the Lease in any respect
whatsoever. The Lease constitutes the complete agreement between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the use or occupancy of
the Premises, and Tenant acknowledges that it has no right to use the Premises other than pursuant to the Lease.

3. We have no "right of first refusal," "option to purchase" or any other right to purchase all, or any portion of, the Demised
Premises.

4. We have accepted and are in possession of the Demised Premises, which have been satisfactorily completed in all respects, and
we are currently open for business.

5. The Lease is in full force and effect and the Landlord has fulfilled all of its obligations, covenants, and warranties under the
Lease and, to our knowledge, is not in default in any manner. No additional improvements to the Premises or the Property are
required pursuant to the terms of the Lease or any other agreement with Landlord.



6. No advance rental more than one (1) month in advance, or other payment has been made in connection with the Lease, there
is no "free rent" or other concession under the remaining term of the Lease. [NOTE: This will have to be revised if requested
prior to expiration of Abatement Period.]

7. Anything in the Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, Tenant agrees that it will not terminate the Lease or withhold any rents
due thereunder, because of Landlord’s default in the performance thereof until Tenant has first given written notice to Landlord
and to Lender specifying the nature of any such default by Landlord, and allowed Landlord and Lender, or either of them, to cure
such default as provided in the Lease.

8. We shall not look to you, your successors or assigns, for the return or credit of the security deposit or prepaid rent, if any,
unless said monies have been transferred to you.

9. Tenant acknowledges that all notices to be given to Lender under the terms of this Estoppel Certificate shall be delivered to
Lender by personal delivery, overnight mail service or United States mail at the address at the top of page 1.

10. The person executing this Certificate is duly authorized and empowered in all respects to do so on behalf of the undersigned
Tenant.

Very truly yours,

[TENANT]

BY:
Name:
Title:
Date:



If the Lease is guaranteed, the following must be completed by all lease guarantors:

JOINDER

I am the Guarantor or an authorized representative of the Guarantor of the Lease and I hereby join in this Tenant Estoppel
Letter to confirm that the Guaranty of the Lease described in the attached Estoppel Letter (which may be amended by that certain
Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement to be executed by and between Tenant, Landlord and Lender)
remains in full force and effect. I further confirm that the Lease Guarantor has no claim of offset, defense or counterclaim to its
obligations under the Lease Guaranty and has no defenses to enforcement of the Lease Guaranty in accordance with its terms.

I have full power and authority to enter into this instrument confirming the obligations of the Lease Guarantor.

Dated ________________, 20__.

GUARANTOR

BY:
Name:
Title:

, Individually

, Individually



EXHIBIT E - ATTORNMENT, SUBORDINATION AND NON-DISTURBANCE AGREEMENT

-After recording, please return to: Loan No.: 100005894
Legal-C474
Investments, Mortgages and Real Estate Department
Unum Group
2211 Congress Street
Portland, Maine 04122-0590

SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made this ______ day of ________,2009, by and among Southport Business Park Limited
Partnership (“Borrower/Landlord”), ___________________________ (“Tenant”), and Unum Life Insurance Company of
America, (“Lender”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, Landlord is the owner and holder of fee simple title in and to certain real property (the “Premises”) situated
in Morrisville, North Carolina and described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof; and

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into an Agreement of Lease dated __________________________ and
an amendment thereto dated _______________________ (collectively, the “Lease”) demising a part of the Premises (the “Leased
Premises”); and

WHEREAS, Lender has conditionally agreed to make [has made] a loan to Landlord, in the principal amount of Eight
Million Five Hundred Thousand and No Dollars ($8,500,000.00) to be secured by a Deed of Trust and Security Agreement (the
“Security Instrument”) anticipated to be dated _______________, placing a first lien on the Premises (the “Loan”); and

WHEREAS, the Lease was [will be] assigned by Landlord to Lender by an Assignment of Rents, Lease and Other
Benefits (the “Assignment”).

WHEREAS, Lender is not willing to make the Loan to Landlord unless Tenant enters into this Agreement; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency whereof are hereby acknowledged, Tenant, Landlord, and Lender, intending to be
legally bound, covenant and agree as follows:

1. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Lease and Tenant’s leasehold estate created thereby, including all rights
and options to purchase the Leased Premises, shall be and are subject and subordinate to the lien of the Security Instrument and
to all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof, to all advances made or to be made thereunder, and to any renewals,
extensions, modifications or replacements thereof, provided, however, that at anytime hereafter, at the election of the Lender,
Lender shall have the right to declare the Lease superior to the lien, provisions, operation and effect of the Security Instrument.

2. If Lender obtains title to the Leased Premises through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure under the Security
Instrument and provided that Tenant is not in default under any provision to the Lease and is then in possession of the Leased
Premises, then (a) the right of possession of Tenant to the Leased Premises shall not be affected or disturbed, (b) the Lease shall
remain in full force and effect according to its terms, and (c) Tenant shall recognize and attorn to the Lender, its successors and
assigns, to the same extent and with the same force as if Lender were the Landlord under the Lease. Tenant further agrees to
recognize and attorn to: (i) Lender when in possession of the Premises pursuant to Lender’s rights under the Security Instrument
or the Assignment; and (ii) any receiver appointed in an action or proceedings to foreclose the Security Instrument or otherwise
pursuant to Lender’s rights under the Security Instrument or the Assignment.



3. By virtue of the Assignment, Lender shall be entitled, but not obligated, to exercise the claims, rights, powers,
privileges, options and remedies of the Landlord under the Lease and shall be further entitled to the benefits of, and to receive
and enforce performance of, all of the covenants to be performed by Tenant under the Lease as though Lender were named
therein as the Landlord.

4. Lender shall not, by virtue of the Assignment or this Agreement, be or become subject to any liability or obligation to
Tenant under the Lease or otherwise, until Lender shall have obtained title to the Leased Premises, by foreclosure or otherwise,
and then only to the extent of liabilities or obligations accruing subsequent to the date that Lender has obtained title to the Leased
Premises. Furthermore, Lender shall not be liable for: (a) any reason, any amount in excess of the value of Lender’s interest in the
Premises (including rental income and insurance/condemnation proceeds); or (b) security deposits or other refundable fees
unless paid over to Lender.

7. Tenant shall not agree to an early buyout of its lease obligations without the prior written consent of Lender. In the
event such consent is given, Tenant agrees to deliver the buyout monies in full to Lender.

8. To the extent permitted by law, Tenant and Landlord agree that Lender shall be entitled to all payments made by Tenant
under the federal Bankruptcy Code (and/or similar state creditor’s rights law) as the result of Tenant rejecting the Lease. Such
lease rejection payments shall be made by Tenant directly to Lender, who shall deposit the payments into an escrow account to be
used for the operation and benefit of the Property.

9. After notice is given to Tenant by Lender, pursuant to the Assignment, that the rentals under the Lease should be paid
to Lender, Tenant shall pay to Lender, or in accordance with the directions of Lender, all rentals and other monies due and to
become due to the Landlord under the Lease, and Landlord hereby irrevocably authorizes Tenant to make such payment to
Lender and hereby releases and discharges Tenant of, and from any liability to Landlord on account of any such payments.

10. Each notice, demand, election or request provided for or permitted to be given pursuant to this Agreement must be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been properly given or served by personal delivery or by sending the same by overnight
courier or by depositing the same in the United States Mail, postpaid and certified, return receipt requested, to the address set
forth in the preamble of this Agreement for the party to whom such notice, demand, election or request is intended.

11. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon Tenant, Landlord and Lender, and their
respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns. In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this
Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability shall, at the option of Lender, not affect any other provisions of this Agreement, but this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. This Agreement shall be
governed by and construed according to the laws of the State of North Carolina.

13. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instruments.

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed the day and year first
above written.

WITNESS: TENANT:

 
By:

Name: Name:
Title:



WITNESS: LANDLORD:

Southport Business Park Limited Partnership
 
By:

Name: Name:
Title:

WITNESS: LENDER:

Unum Life Insurance Company of America

By:
Name: Name:

Title:

STATE OF __________________  _________________, 20____
COUNTY OF ________________, ss  

Then personally appeared the above-named __________________ and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be
his/her free act and deed, in his/her said capacity, and the free act and deed of said __________________.

 
Notary Public

STATE OF __________________ _________________, 20____
COUNTY OF ________________, ss

Then personally appeared the above-named __________________ and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be
his/her free act and deed, in his/her said capacity, and the free act and deed of said __________________.

 
Notary Public

STATE OF __________________ _________________, 20____
COUNTY OF ________________, ss

Then personally appeared the above-named __________________ and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be
his/her free act and deed, in his/her said capacity, and the free act and deed of said __________________.

 
Notary Public



EXHIBIT “A”
 

FOR

SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT F – MANUFACTURING AREA

The area outlined below is the “Manufacturing Area”

[****]



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF CHARLES & COLVARD, LTD.

Company Name Jurisdiction

charlesandcolvard.com, LLC North Carolina



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
Charles & Colvard, Ltd.
Morrisville, North Carolina
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-256495) and Form S-
8 (No. 333-151255, No. 333-204496, No. 333-212265, and No. 333-228329) of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. of our report dated
September 2, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements which appears in this Form 10-K.
 
/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
September 2, 2021

BDO USA, LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company
limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.

BDO is the brand name for the BDO network and for each of the BDO Member Firms.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
RULE 13a-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Don O’Connell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Don O’Connell
September 2, 2021 Don O’Connell

President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
RULE 13a-14(a) AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Clint J. Pete, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of Charles & Colvard, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 By: /s/ Clint J. Pete
September 2, 2021  Clint J. Pete
  Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Don O’Connell, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Don O’Connell
 Don O’Connell
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 September 2, 2021

This Certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after
the date of this Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Charles & Colvard, Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Clint J. Pete, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Clint J. Pete  
 Clint J. Pete  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 September 2, 2021  

This Certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after
the date of this Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.


